Roles of sex phenotype and sex chromosome dosage in sex-biased DNA methylation

Najla Alogayil Department of Human Genetics Faculty of Medicine McGill University, Montreal, Canada February 2021

A thesis submitted to McGill University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Master of Science (M.Sc.)

© Najla Alogayil 2021

Abstract

Females and males have different sets of sex chromosomes and produce different levels of gonadal sex hormones. They also differ in many aspects of their anatomy and physiology, susceptibility to disease, drug metabolism, gene expression levels, and DNA methylation patterns. The liver is a sexually dimorphic organ showing major sex differences in steroid and drug metabolism profiles, as well as sex differences in gene expression and DNA methylation.

We have recently generated a catalogue of sex-biased differentially methylated regions (sDMRs) for mouse liver and demonstrated that sex-chromosome complement and the sex phenotype influence autosomal DNA methylation. The mechanisms by which the Y chromosome and the sex phenotype influenced DNA methylation remained unclear. In this project, we had two aims: first, to understand how the Y chromosome influences DNA methylation, and second, how the sex phenotypes influence DNA methylation.

For our first aim, we hypothesized that Y-chromosome dependent sDMRs were specific for the B6.TIR strain, and genetic variation in the Y chromosome between B6.TIR and C57BL/6J (B6) influenced DNA methylation. To test this hypothesis, we compared the methylation levels of two Y-chromosome dependent sDMRs in B6 and B6.TIR animals. We also compared the expression of Y-linked genes that are expressed in the liver between the two strains.

For our second aim, we hypothesized that androgen (testosterone) and estrogen (estradiol) signaling influenced DNA methylation through their receptors (androgen and estrogen receptors, respectively). To test this hypothesis, we examined the age dynamics of sex-biased methylation in B6 male and female mice, true hermaphrodites, and sex-reversed XY females. We also tested sex-biased methylation in the liver of androgen receptor knockout (ARKO) and estrogen receptor 1 knockout (ESR1KO) mice.

Liver DNA samples were extracted from (1) B6 female and male mice at three different ages: embryonic day 14.5 (E14.5), 4 weeks, and 8 weeks after birth; (2) B6.TIR mice: XY males, hermaphrodites, and sex-reversed females, as well as XX females at 8 and 16 weeks of age; (3) XY ARKO and wild type littermates at 10-11 weeks of age; (4) homozygous and heterozygous ESR1KO mice and wild type littermates at 8 weeks of age. We examined DNA methylation levels using targeted pyrosequencing methylation assays at six sex-phenotype dependent sDMRs that were selected for their association with sex-biased expression: three with higher expression and lower methylation in male livers (male-biased sDMRs) and three

with higher expression and lower methylation in female livers (female-biased sDMRs). To test if the timing of sex-biased methylation coincides with sex-biased gene expression, we performed RT-qPCR for two male-biased and two female-biased genes.

We show that Y-chromosome dependent sDMRs are specific to the B6.TIR strain and Y-linked genes may contribute to the TIR-specific sex-biased methylation. We show that sex bias in DNA methylation and gene expression varies with age. At eight weeks, hermaphrodites showed either intermediate or female-like methylation levels, and they established a male-like methylation level at 16 weeks. Our results suggest that the presence of an ovary and a testis in the same mouse affects DNA methylation in an age-dependent manner. AR loss in male mice leads to the feminization of DNA methylation at sDMRs. Loss of ESR1 changes methylation levels of both females and males at male-biased sDMRs, and only females at female-biased sDMRs.

In summary, we demonstrate that signaling of both estrogen and testosterone through their receptors contributes to sex-biased methylation in the mouse liver.

Résumé

Les mâles et les femelles ont des chromosomes sexuels différents et produisent des niveaux différents d'hormones sexuelles. Ils diffèrent aussi au niveau de l'anatomie, la physiologie, le métabolisme des médicaments, l'expression des gènes et aussi les patrons de méthylation d'ADN.

Nous avons récemment généré un catalogue de régions du génome dont les patrons de méthylation diffèrent entre mâles et femelles (sDMRs) chez le foie de souris et nous avons démontré que les chromosomes sexuels ainsi que le phénotype sexuel influencent la méthylation de l'ADN autosomique. Le mécanisme par lequel le chromosome Y et le phénotype sexuel impactent la méthylation de l'ADN demeure peu connu. Ce projet comportait deux objectifs : le premier, comprendre comment la méthylation de l'ADN est influencée par le chromosome Y et le deuxième, comment elle est affectée par le phénotype sexuel.

Pour le premier objectif, nous avons posé l'hypothèse que les sDMRs dépendants du chromosome Y étaient spécifiques à la souche de souris B6.TIR et que la variation génétique du chromosome Y entre les souches B6.TIR and C57BL/6J (B6) influençait la méthylation de l'ADN. Pour tester cette hypothèse, nous avons comparé les niveaux de méthylation de deux sDMRs dépendants du chromosome Y chez les souches B6 et B6.TIR. Nous avons aussi comparé l'expression de deux gènes liés au chromosome Y dans le foie des deux souches de souris.

Pour le deuxième objectif, nous avons posé l'hypothèse que les voies de signalisation des androgènes (testostérone) et des œstrogènes (estradiol) influencent la méthylation de l'ADN via les récepteurs des androgènes et des œstrogènes, respectivement. Cette hypothèse fut testée en examinant la dynamique de la méthylation spécifique au sexe en fonction de l'âge des souris de souche B6 males, femelles, hermaphrodites et avec réversion du sexe XY. Nous avons aussi étudié la méthylation spécifique au sexe chez le foie de la souris knock-out pour le récepteur des androgènes (ARKO) et pour le récepteur des œstrogènes (ESR1KO).

L'ADN fut extrait du foie des souches de souris suivantes: (1) B6 mâle et femelle au jour embryonnaire 14.5, à 4 semaines et à 8 semaines; (2) B6.TIR males, femelles, hermaphrodites, avec réversion du sexe XY, âgées de 8 et 16 semaines; (3) knockout ARKO XY et les types sauvages de la même portée, âgées de 10-11 semaines et (4) ESR1KO homozygotes, hétérozygotes et les types sauvages de la même portée, âgées de 8 semaines. Nous avons utilisé le pyroséquencage ciblé pour examiner les niveaux de méthylation d'ADN

de six sDMRs sélectionnés : trois faiblement méthylés et fortement exprimés dans le foie du mâle (spécifiques au male) et trois faiblement méthylés and fortement exprimés dans le foie de la femelle (spécifiques à la femelle). Nous avons ensuite vérifié si les patrons de méthylation coïncidaient avec ceux de l'expression pour deux gènes spécifiques à la femelle et deux spécifiques au mâle, par PCR quantitatif en temps réel (RT-PCR).

Nous avons démontré que les sDMRs dépendants du chromosome Y sont spécifiques à la souche B6.TIR et que les gènes lies au chromosome Y peuvent contribuer à cette spécificité. Nous avons montré que les patrons de méthylation et d'expression des gènes étudiés varient en fonction de l'âge des souris. A huit semaines, les hermaphrodites ont un niveau de méthylation intermédiaire, similaire aux femelles, qui devient ensuite semblable au niveau des mâles, à 16 semaines. Ces résultats suggèrent que la présence d'un ovaire et d'un testicule chez la même souris affecte la méthylation de l'ADN différemment en fonction de l'âge, la perte du récepteur AR chez le mâle entraînant la féminisation du patron de méthylation aux sDMRs. La perte du récepteur ESR1 semble aussi modifier les niveaux de méthylation aux sDMRs spécifiques aux mâles chez les deux sexes, alors que les sDMRs spécifiques aux femelles sont affectés seulement chez les femelles.

En résumé, nous avons démontré que les voies de signalisation des androgènes et des œstrogènes, de par leur récepteur respectif, contribuent aux patrons de méthylation spécifiques à chaque sexe.

Table of Contents

Abstract	1
Résumé	3
List of Abbreviations	8
List of Figures	14
List of Tables	15
Acknowledgments	16
Format of the thesis	
Contribution of Authors	19
Chapter I: Introduction	20
1.1. Sexual dimorphism	21
1.1.1. Sex determination and gonadal formation	21
1.1.2. Sex-related hormone signaling	22
1.1.2.1. Androgens	22
1.1.2.2. Androgen receptor (AR)	24
1.1.2.2.1. Androgen receptor knockout mouse model	24
1.1.2.3. Estrogen	25
1.1.2.4. Estrogen receptor	26
1.1.2.4.1. Estrogen receptor 1 knockout mouse model	26
1.1.2.5. Peripheral androgen and estrogen synthesis	27
1.1.2.6. Hypothalamic-pituitary-gonadal axis	27
1.1.3. Sexual dimorphism in disease	28
1.1.4. Sexual dimorphism in liver metabolism	29
1.1.5. Sexual dimorphism in gene expression	31
1.2. DNA methylation	32
1.2.1. CpG methylation	32
1.2.2. CpG methylation outside CGIs; in enhancers	33
1.2.3. Non-CpG methylation	

1.2.4. DNA methyltransferases	34
1.2.5. DNA demethylation	35
1.2.6. Roles of DNA methylation during development	36
1.2.7. Sex bias in DNA methylation	37
1.2.7.1. Sex-biased DNA methylation in mouse liver	38
Hypotheses and Objectives	40
Figures:	41
Chapter II: Materials and Methods	45
Ethics statement	46
2.1. Mouse strains and crosses	46
2.2. DNA extraction	47
2.3. Sodium Bisulfite Treatment and Pyrosequencing	47
2.3.1. Assay and primer design for pyrosequencing methylation analysis	48
2.4. Expression analysis by RT-qPCR	48
2.4.1. Expression primer design	48
2.5. Statistical analyses	49
Tables:	49
Figures:	54
Chapter III: Results	55
3.1. SDMR validation and selection of reporter sDMRs for further studies	56
3.2. SDMRs that depend on the presence of the Y-chromosome are specific to the B6.7	ГIR cross
	56
3.3. Sex bias in DNA methylation and gene expression varies with age	58
3.4. Presence of ovaries and testes in hermaphrodites affects DNA methylation of sDM age-dependent manner	/IRs in an 59
3.5. Dynamic expression of TFs during development in the mouse liver	61
3.6. Loss of DNA binding of androgen receptor results in feminization of DNA methyl	ation at
sDMRs in XY animals	62

3.7. ESR1 depletion changes methylation levels of both females and males at male-biased	
sDMRs, and only females at female-biased sDMRs	62
Tables:	64
Figures:	65
Chapter IV: Discussion	76
Chapter V: Conclusions and Future Directions	81
Chapter VI: References	84
References:	85
Appendix	135

List of Abbreviations

5caC: 5-carboxycytosine 5fC: 5-formylcytosine 5hmC: 5-hydroxymethylcytosine 5mC: 5-methylcytosine A4: androstenedione ACTH: adrenocorticotrophic hormone AIS: androgen insensitivity syndrome Aldh3b3: aldehyde dehydrogenase 3 family, member B3 ANOVA: analysis of variance *AR*/*Ar*: androgen receptor gene AR: androgen receptor protein ARE: androgen receptor response elements ARKO: androgen receptor knockout B6: C57BL/6J Bcl6: B cell leukemia/lymphoma 6 bp: base pair Caprin1: cell cycle associated protein 1 cDNA: complementary DNA CGIs: CpG islands COMT/*Comt*: catechol O-methyl transferase CpG: 5' – cytosine – phosphate – guanine – 3' CTD: carboxyl-terminal domain *Cux2:* cut like homeobox 2 gene

CUX2: cut like homeobox 2 protein

CYP: cytochromes P450

Cyp2b9: cytochrome P450, family 2, subfamily b, polypeptide 9

Cyp7b1: cytochrome P450, family 7, subfamily b, polypeptide 1

DBD: DNA-binding domain

Ddx3y: DEAD box helicase 3, Y-linked

DHEA: dehydroepiandrosterone

DHEA-S: dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate

DHT: dihydrotestosterone

DME: drug metabolizing enzymes

DMR: differentially methylated region

DNA: deoxyribonucleic acid

DNMT1: DNA methyltransferase 1

Dnmt1: DNA methyltransferase 1 gene

DNMT3A: DNA methyltransferase 3A

Dnmt3a: DNA methyltransferase 3A gene

DNMT3B: DNA methyltransferase 3B

Dnmt3b: DNA methyltransferase 3B gene

DNMT3L: DNA methyltransferase 3L

DNMTs: DNA methyltransferase enzymes

E: embryonic day

E1: estrone

E₂: 17β-estradiol

E₃: estriol

E₄: estetrol

- ERE: estrogen receptor response elements
- Ergic1: endoplasmic reticulum-Golgi intermediate compartment
- ESC: embryonic stem cell
- ESR: estrogen receptor proteins
- *ESR1/Esr1*: estrogen receptor 1 (alpha) gene
- ESR1: estrogen receptor 1 (alpha) protein
- ESR1KO: estrogen receptor knockout
- ESR2/Esr2: estrogen receptor 2 (beta)
- Fez2: fasciculation and elongation protein zeta 2
- FMO: flavin-containing monooxygenases
- *Foxa1:* forkhead box A1 gene
- FOXA1: forkhead box A1 protein
- Foxl2: forkhead box L2
- FSH: follicle-stimulating hormone
- GH: growth hormone
- GnRH: gonadotropin-releasing hormone
- GPR30: membrane-bound receptor G protein-coupled receptor 30
- GST: glutathione S-transferases
- Gstp1: glutathione S-transferase, pi 1
- H: hinge region
- H3K3me3: trimethylation of histone H3 at lysine 4
- HPA: hypothalamic-pituitary-gonadal
- Hsd3b5: hydroxy-delta-5-steroid dehydrogenase, 3 beta- and steroid delta-isomerase 5

Kdm5d: lysine (K)-specific demethylase 5D KF: klinefelter syndrome LBD: ligand-binding domain LH: luteinizing hormone MBP: Methyl-CpG-binding proteins mRNA: messenger RNA NAFLD: non-alcoholic fatty liver disease NR: nuclear receptor NTD: amino-terminal domain P: postnatal day *Paf*: patchy fur PCR: polymerase chain reaction PGC: primordial germ cell *Pgk1*: phosphoglycerate kinase 1 PRL: prolactin RNA: ribonucleic acid RNA-seq: RNA sequencing *Rpl19*: ribosomal protein L19 Rspo1: R-spondin 1 gene RSPO1: R-spondin 1protein RT-qPCR: quantitative reverse transcription PCR SAM: s-adenosyl methionine sDEG: sex-biased differentially expressed gene sDMR: sex-biased differentially methylated region *Shbg*: sex-hormone binding globulin gene SHBG: sex-hormone binding globulin protein Snrpn: small nuclear ribonucleoprotein N Sox9: Sry-box transcription factor 9 Sry: sex determining region of Chr Y SULT: sulfotransferases *Tet*: ten-eleven translocation TET1: tet methylcytosine dioxygenase 1 TET2: tet methylcytosine dioxygenase 2 TET3: tet methylcytosine dioxygenase 3 TF: transcription factor TIR: Tirano TS: Turner syndrome TSH: thyroid-stimulating hormone TSS: transcription start site UGT: uridine diphosphate glucuronosyltransferases Uty: ubiquitously transcribed tetratricopeptide repeat containing, Y-linked WGBS: whole-genome bisulfite sequencing Wnt4: wingless-type MMTV integration site family, member 4 gene WNT4: wingless-type MMTV integration site family, member 4 protein XCI: X-chromosome inactivation *Xist*: inactive X specific transcripts XO.F: female with monosomy X XX.FT: XX female from the Tirano cross

XX^{Paf}F: XX^{Paf} female

XY.FT: XY^{TIR} sex-reversed female

XY.HT OV+T: XY^{TIR} hermaphrodite with one testis and one ovary

XY.HT S+T: XY^{TIR} hermaphrodite with one testis and a streak gonad

XY.HT: true XY^{TIR} hermaphrodite

XY.MT: XY^{TIR} male

Zfy1: zinc finger protein 1, Y-linked

List of Figures

Chapter I	
Figure 1.1: Plasma hormones level during mouse development	
Figure 1.2: Structure of androgen and estrogen receptors	
Figure 1.3: Hypothalamic-pituitary-gonadal axis43	
Figure 1.4: Distribution of sDMRs in each comparison and their overlap with XX.FT vs.	
XY.MT from WGBS44	

Chapter II

Figure 2.1: Mouse crosses	
---------------------------	--

Chapter III

Figure 3.1: Validation of sDMRs using pyrosequencing methylation assays65
Figure 3.2: Characterization of sDMRs associated with the presence of Y chromosome66
Figure 3.3: Developmental profile of sDMRs in mouse liver
Figure 3.4: Developmental profile of sex-biased differentially expressed genes in mouse
liver
Figure 3.5: Characterizing the methylation of selected sDMRs in hermaphrodites
Figure 3.6: Expression levels of sDEGs in the liver of 8-week old B6.TIR mice71
Figure 3.7: Expression profiles of TFs in the liver of B6 and B6.TIR mice72
Figure 3.8: Methylation levels in livers of ARKO and WT littermates at six sDMRs73
Figure 3.9: Expression levels of sDEGs and TFs in the liver of ESR1KO and WT littermates74
Figure 3.10: Methylation levels in livers of ESR1KO and WT littermates at six sDMRs75

Appendix

Figure S1: SDRMs associated with sDEGs	.136
--	------

List of Tables

Chapter II	
Table 2.1: List of genotyping primers	.50
Table 2.2: List of sDMRs and their pyrosequencing methylation assay primers	.51
Table 2.3: List of gene expression primers	.53

Chapter III

Table 3.1: Distribution of genotypes and sex phenotypes among the offspring of XY ^{TIR}	
males	64

Acknowledgments

I would like to express my profound gratitude and thankfulness for my supervisor **Dr**. **Anna Naumova** for her remarkable guidance and relentless efforts to educate, support, and encourage me in every step of the research journey. I will be forever grateful for her mentorship and for providing me with a once in a lifetime opportunity to pursue my master's degree in the field of genetics.

I would also like to thank my supervisory committee members **Dr. Teruko Taketo** and **Dr. Rima Slim**, for their continuous support, encouraging guidance, and constructive feedback.

I am also very thankful to all the Naumova lab members, **Matthew Chang**, **Klara**, and **Angie**, for the mind-opening scientific discussions, the technical lab skills training, and most importantly, for their kindness throughout the course of this research.

I also would like to give a special thank you to **Dr. Guillaume Bourque** and his team **José Héctor Gálvez** and **Qinwei Zhuang**, for their collaboration and for their contribution to this research. I am also grateful to all our collaborators for their contribution to this research.

I would like to extend my special thanks to the Trasler lab, especially **Josée Martel**, thank you for all the pyrosequencing tips and all your support. A special thanks to everyone at the RI-MUHC who helped me learn a new technique or provided help, the Taketo lab, **Fatima**, **Parinaz** and **Wataru**, and the Ryan lab members.

Very special appreciation and gratitude go to the academic and the administrative staff of the Human Genetic Department for their continuous support throughout the program.

Thank you to my great friends **Aeshah**, **Dareen**, **Taghreed**, and **Wedad**, who made Montreal feels like home. Thank you for your heartwarming support and sincere friendship that started two years back in Montreal and will definitely remain eternally. I will forever treasure our memories together.

Most especially, I would like to heartfully thank my family for the constant support they provided to me emotionally and otherwise during the challenging years of my master's program. To my father I say, thank you for believing in me and encouraging me to take on this challenging journey from the start. To my mother I say, thank you for the warmth and the love you always provided me with; it was the fuel that kept me going. To my sisters and brothers, this great experience would have never been possible without you. Finally, to my friends in Saudi Arabia. Whom even despite distances, have been so close and incredibly supportive, to **YOLO** and **LMN**.

Format of the thesis

This is a traditional format thesis that follows the traditional format thesis guidelines of the Department of Human Genetics at McGill University. This thesis is composed of six chapters. **Chapter I** is an introduction of the relative background for the thesis and contains the hypotheses and objectives of my project. **Chapter II** contains the materials and methods used in the project. **Chapter III** describes the results. **Chapter IV** provides a discussion of the main findings presented. **Chapter V** contains the conclusions and discusses future directions. **Chapter VI** has a list of references in the entire thesis.

Contribution of Authors

All the experiments presented in this thesis were performed and written by the candidate, except for the following contributions:

The abstract for this thesis was translated into French by Josée Martel.

The B6.TIR and *Paf* mice were provided by Dr. Teruko Taketo (Department of Surgery, McGill University, Canada).

The liver DNA samples of androgen receptor knockout mice and wild type littermates were provided by Dr. Rachel Davey (Department of Medicine, University of Melbourne, Australia).

RNA samples from the liver of estrogen receptor knockout mice and wild type littermates were extracted by another member of the Naumova lab, Klara Bauermeister. RTqPCR for *Elovl3* in the liver of B6.TIR mice in **Figure 3.6A** was performed by Klara Bauermeister as well.

Chapter I: Introduction

1.1. Sexual dimorphism

Sexual dimorphism historically was understood as the morphological differences between females and males of the same species. Currently, the term sexual dimorphism refers to all sex differences on both molecular and phenotypic levels. Sex is the biological characteristics of females and males. The concept of 3G sex consists of genetic, gonadal, and genital sex. In normal development, mammalian females have XX as their genetic sex, ovaries as their gonadal sex, and female external genitalia. Mammalian males have XY genetic sex, testes as their gonadal sex, and male external genitalia.

1.1.1. Sex determination and gonadal formation

The mammalian sex determination and development start at fertilization, where the genetic sex of the zygote is established as XX or XY (Ford et al., 1959). This genetic sex leads to the differentiation of primitive gonads (bipotential) into ovaries or testes. The commitment of XY gonads toward the male pathway depends on activation of the testis pathway and repression of the ovary pathway, while in the XX gonads, the ovarian fate is mostly driven by activation of the ovary pathway and female-promoting genes (Munger et al., 2013). Finally, the sex phenotype of the fetus develops mainly due to gonadal hormones (Gardiner & Swain, 2015).

The sex-determining region of chromosome Y (*Sry*) gene residing on the Y chromosome is responsible for the initiation of testes determining mechanisms in mammals (Koopman et al., 1991; Pannetier et al., 2006; Sinclair et al., 1990). SRY is a transcription factor that binds to downstream target regions and genes, thus regulating sex determination (Goodfellow & Lovell-Badge, 1993; Harley et al., 1992). In mice, *Sry* is expressed in the XY gonads around embryonic day (E) 11, peaks at E12, and starts declining at E13 (Gubbay et al., 1990; Hacker et al., 1995; Jeske et al., 1995; Koopman et al., 1990; Stévant, Neirijnck, et al., 2018). This is in line with the testicular growth rate, as it increases around E12 (Palmer & Burgoyne, 1991a). SRY activates the expression of Sry-related HMG box-containing gene 9 (*Sox9*) that leads to the differentiation of Sertoli cells (Sekido et al., 2004; Sekido & Lovell-Badge, 2008). Activation of *Sox9* is sufficient for testicular development in the absence of *Sry* (Qin & Bishop, 2005; Vidal et al., 2001). Sertoli cells then regulate the differentiation of other male-specific cell lineages in the gonad (Palmer & Burgoyne, 1991b; Swain & Lovell-Badge, 1999).

The fetal testis produces anti-Müllerian hormone that prevents the formation of female genitalia, and insulin-like factor 3 and testosterone that induce the differentiation of the male phenotype (external and internal gonads) (Giuili et al., 1997; Mahendroo et al., 2001; Zimmermann et al., 1999).

Female sex determination is less well understood. There are few identified genes required for the initiation of ovary development, such as wingless-type MMTV integration site family, member 4 (Wnt4), R-spondin 1 (Rspo1), and forkhead box L2 (Foxl2) (Loffler et al., 2003; Smith et al., 2008). WNT4 and RSPO1 are signaling molecules involved in the canonical β-catenin signaling pathway that is required for ovarian development (Chassot et al., 2008; Liu et al., 2009; Maatouk et al., 2008; Smith et al., 2008). Wnt4 is expressed in the bipotential gonad before it becomes female-specific around E12.5 (Vainio et al., 1999). Disruption of Wnt4 expression in the XX gonad partially initiates testis development and does not completely block ovarian development (Jeays-Ward et al., 2003; Kim et al., 2006; Yao et al., 2004). A similar mouse phenotype is seen when Rspol expression is disrupted (Chassot et al., 2008; Tomizuka et al., 2008). Female-specific genes are upregulated in pregranulosa cells between E12.5 and E16.5 (Stévant, Kühne, et al., 2018). The differentiation of granulosa cells of the ovary is then completed postnatally (Pepling et al., 2010). The fetal ovary does not produce estrogen in culture (Weniger, 1993). However, recent observations show possible estrogen synthesis in the fetal ovaries and the possibility that both maternal and fetal estrogen regulate ovary development (Dutta et al., 2014).

1.1.2. Sex-related hormone signaling

1.1.2.1. Androgens

Androgens are lipophilic steroid hormones synthesized from cholesterol, mainly in the gonads (testes and ovaries) and adrenal gland (Henley et al., 2005). The main androgens are testosterone, dihydrotestosterone (DHT), and androstenedione (Hall, 2010). Testosterone is synthesized in the Leydig cells of the testes (Lipsett et al., 1966). Testosterone is converted to the more potent androgen, dihydrotestosterone, by the enzyme 5α -reductase (Andersson et al., 1989). This conversion occurs in the prostate, liver, skin, and brain. During embryogenesis, both testosterone and DHT stimulate the formation of internal and external male genitalia (Jansson et al., 1985). Testosterone directs the differentiation of Wolffian ducts into the epididymis, seminal vesicles, and vas deferens (Morohashi et al., 2013). DHT is involved in urogenital sinus and urogenital tubercle differentiation into the penis and prostate (Morohashi

et al., 2013). In addition, testosterone can be aromatized to estrogen and act through the estrogen receptor (Bulun et al., 2004). The aromatase enzyme is active in the testes, ovaries, brain, adipose tissue, and bone in humans and is restricted to the brain and gonads in rodents (Rommerts et al., 1982; Simpson, 2004; Stocco, 2008). In humans, almost 98% of testosterone found in plasma is bound to albumin or sex-hormone binding globulin (SHBG) that is mainly secreted from the liver (Baker, 2002; Laurent et al., 2016; Rosner et al., 1991; Södergard et al., 1982). In rodents, *Shbg* is expressed in the testes, but hepatic *Shbg* expression and SHGB secretion are lacking (Gunsalus et al., 1978; Sullivan et al., 1991). This is thought to be the reason for low and fluctuating plasma testosterone in rodents (Jänne et al., 1998; Laurent et al., 2016).

In humans, during the first trimester of gestation, androgens are important for the formation of fetal male genitalia (Kuiri-Hänninen et al., 2014). The placenta secretes chorionic gonadotropin hormone that stimulates testosterone production by the fetal testes (Abdallah et al., 2004). The fetal and neonatal exposure to testosterone is essential for male brain masculinization (Breedlove et al., 1982; Döhler et al., 1984; Simerly et al., 1985). After birth, testosterone level remains high in the infant plasma for a few weeks before it decreases and remains low until puberty (Andersson et al., 1998; Forest et al., 1974, 1976). During puberty, the pituitary gland secrets gonadotropic hormone that stimulates tissue development and maturation of testes to produce androgens and sperm (for more details, please refer to section 1.1.2.6).

In mice, the Leydig cells secret testosterone shortly after their differentiation around E13. The plasma testosterone surges to higher levels at three time points (Clarkson & Herbison, 2016; Pointis et al., 1979, 1980) (**Figure 1.1**). The first testosterone surge occurs around E16-17 and gradually decreases until birth (**Figure 1.1**). The second testosterone surge occurs soon after birth, and as mentioned before, it's important for brain masculinization (Corbier et al., 1992). Finally, the largest surge is at puberty, and it continues through adulthood (Pointis et al., 1979, 1980) (**Figure 1.1**).

The above data show that androgens have roles in males' sexual differentiation and are important throughout their development. Androgen has two modes of action to exert its phenotypic effect, genomic and non-genomic. In the non-genomic action, androgens bind to androgen receptor protein and initiate cellular events (e.g., protein phosphorylation) by rapid induction of 2nd messenger pathways without binding to DNA (Foradori et al., 2008; Gill et al., 2004). The genomic action of androgen occurs by binding to androgen receptor protein that

binds to DNA and modulates gene transcription (Beato, 1989; Brinkmann, 2011; De Vos et al., 1991; Rennie et al., 1993; Roy et al., 1998).

1.1.2.2. Androgen receptor (AR)

The androgen receptor (AR) gene is located on the X chromosome (in humans in chromosomal region Xq11-12), and it is highly conserved across mammals (Spencer et al., 1991). *AR* is widely expressed in a variety of organs, both reproductive and non-reproductive (Fagerberg et al., 2014; Yue et al., 2014).

The AR shares the common structure of steroid nuclear receptors (NR) that consist of five major domains: a variable amino-terminal domain (NTD), a highly conserved DNAbinding domain (DBD) that contains two zinc fingers, a less conserved ligand-binding domain (LBD), a hinge region (H) that connects the DBD to the LBD, and a carboxyl-terminal domain (CTD) that varies in length between different members of the nuclear receptors (Kumar & Thompson, 1999) (**Figure 1.2**). The two zinc fingers recognize specific DNA sequences, termed androgen response elements (ARE) (5'-AGAACAnnnTGTTCT-3'), and facilitate the binding of AR to its target genes (Nelson et al., 2002). Cytoplasmic AR binds to testosterone or DHT, and a conformational change occurs, allowing the receptor to translocate from the cytoplasm to the nucleus, where it binds to AREs and regulates transcription (MacLean et al., 1997; Shang et al., 2002; van Royen et al., 2012; Wang et al., 2005). DHT has a higher activation potential of AR than testosterone (Grino et al., 1990).

Mutations in *AR* cause a wide range of sexual differentiation impairments in genetic males, clinically known as androgen insensitivity syndrome (AIS) (Brinkmann, 2001; Lobaccaro et al., 1995; McPhaul et al., 1991, 1993). Individuals with complete androgen insensitivity syndrome have XY genotype and develop external female genitalia (Brinkmann, 2001).

1.1.2.2.1. Androgen receptor knockout mouse model

To better understand AIS and the roles of AR, global and tissue- or time- specific androgen receptor knockout (ARKO) mouse models have been developed. These mice have a female phenotype (external genitalia), and they don't develop male organs (vas deferens, epididymis, seminal vesicle, and prostate gland) (Yeh et al., 2002). In these mice, the testis develops, but it is hypoplastic. Models with frameshift mutations produced AR-null mice that do not express AR (De Gendt et al., 2004; Sato et al., 2004; Yeh et al., 2002). In our study described in this thesis, we focus on a mouse model that carries an in-frame deletion of exon 3 of the *Ar* that encodes the second zinc finger of the DNA binding domain, resulting in loss of DNA binding activity of the AR. The model was generated on a C57BL/6J (B6) background, and the ARKO mice develop a complete androgen insensitivity phenotype (female external genitalia, intra-abdominal small testes, and lower testosterone levels) (Notini et al., 2005).

1.1.2.3. Estrogen

There are four main estrogens: estrone (E₁), 17β -estradiol (E₂), estriol (E₃), and estetrol (E₄). E₂ is the most biologically active estrogen, and it is produced by the granulosa cells of the ovary.

Estrogens are the predominant sex steroid hormones in females. Although they are considered female sex hormones due to their role in developing the female reproductive system and establishing female secondary sexual characteristics, they have other physiological functions in both females and males. Estrogens have a role in regulating lipid homeostasis and carbohydrate, bone mineralization, and cardiovascular functions in both sexes (Gennari et al., 2004; Heine et al., 2000; Jones et al., 2000; Öz et al., 2000; Smith et al., 1994). In males, estrogens are also involved in the reproduction system, specifically germ cell development and maintenance, sexual behavior, and brain masculinization (Pentikäinen et al., 2000; Robertson et al., 1999; Sharpe, 1998).

In humans, ovaries are the main source of estrogen production in premenopausal women. In men, testes synthesize estrogens (Hess et al., 1997). Estrogen is also produced by extragonadal tissues in both sexes, such as adipose tissue, adrenal gland, smooth muscle cells, bone, vascular endothelium, and different parts of the brain (Bruch et al., 1992; Naftolin et al., 1975; Sasano et al., 1999). Like testosterone, most of the plasma estrogen in humans is bound to SHBG or serum albumin (Knochenhauer et al., 1998).

Estrogen levels vary during development. In female mice, plasma estrogen concentration increases around E17.5, declines after birth, and remains low until postnatal day (P) 26 to 30 (Ahima et al., 1997; Bell, 2018; Dutta et al., 2014). After puberty, the level of plasma estrogen fluctuates with the phases of the estrous cycle (Nilsson et al., 2015) (**Figure 1.1**).

1.1.2.4. Estrogen receptor

Most estrogens' actions are mediated through their binding to estrogen receptors (Beato, 1993). There are three estrogen receptors (ESRs): the estrogen receptor alpha 'ERa' (ESR1), estrogen receptor beta 'ER β ' (ESR2), and the membrane-bound receptor G proteincoupled receptor 30 'GPER' (GPR30) (Koike et al., 1987; Kuiper et al., 1996). The ESR1 and ESR2 are encoded by two different genes located on the 6th and 14th chromosomes in humans, respectively (the 10th and 12th chromosomes in mice) (Enmark et al., 1997; Menasce et al., 1993). ESR1 and ESR2 have the five main NR domains (Kumar & Thompson, 1999) (**Figure 1.2**). Estrogen binds to ESR1 and ESR2, and they form homo- or heterodimers and bind to estrogen receptor response elements (EREs) (the consensus: 5'-GGTCAnnnTGACCT-3'). This is known as the genomic signaling of ESRs (Klein-Hitpaß et al., 1986; Klinge, 2000). ESRs also have non-genomic signaling 'tethering' where ESRs bind to other transcription factors and stabilize their DNA binding. In this mechanism, ESRs do not bind to DNA (Paech et al., 1997; Scholz et al., 1998; Webb et al., 1995). GPER is a seven-transmembrane domain G protein-coupled receptor and is structurally unrelated to ESR1 and ESR2. GPER is located at the cell membrane and endoplasmic reticulum membrane (Zimmerman et al., 2016).

The distribution of ESR1 and ESR2 is different in different tissues and cells. ESR1 is the predominant ESR in the pituitary gland, skeletal muscles, adipose tissue, liver, mammary gland, and uterus (Hamilton et al., 2014; Hewitt et al., 2016; Yue et al., 2014), while ESR2 is the predominant ESR in the ovary, prostate, lung, and cardiovascular system (Harris, 2007; Yue et al., 2014).

1.1.2.4.1. Estrogen receptor 1 knockout mouse model

Mouse models with global deletion of ESR1 were developed in order to understand the physiological and biological influence of ESR1 (Dupont et al., 2000; Hewitt et al., 2010; Lubahn et al., 1993). A mouse model with a deletion in exon 3 of *Esr1* generated *Esr1* knockout (ESR1KO) mice with complete depletion of ESR1 (Hewitt et al., 2010). Female homozygous ESR1KO mice have abnormal ovarian stimulation due to the dysregulation of the hypothalamic-pituitary-ovarian axis, and the homozygous mutant female and male mice are infertile (Couse et al., 2003; Hewitt et al., 2010). They have higher levels of plasma estrogen and testosterone than wild-type females (Hewitt et al., 2010).

1.1.2.5. Peripheral androgen and estrogen synthesis

The adrenal gland in humans secretes inactive C_{19} steroids; dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA), dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate (DHEA-S), and androstenedione (A4) that are converted to potent estrogen or androgen in peripheral target tissues (Labrie et al., 1997). DHEA and DHEA-S secretion increase between the age of 6 and 8 years in humans, and their elevated circulating levels are maintained through adulthood (Kushnir et al., 2010; Remer et al., 2005). The estrogen and androgen levels in each peripheral tissue depend on the expression levels of the enzymes needed to convert the precursor steroids to estrogen or androgen (e.g., aromatase and hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase, respectively). Rodents' adrenal gland lacks the enzymes necessary to synthesize C_{19} steroids. Thus the main source of sex hormones in rodents is their gonads (van Weerden et al., 1992).

1.1.2.6. Hypothalamic-pituitary-gonadal axis

Development and maintenance of sexual characteristics and the secretion of sex hormones from gonads are regulated by the hypothalamic-pituitary-gonadal (HPA) axis (**Figure 1.3**). In humans, the HPA axis is activated in three periods of life: the midgestational fetus, newborn, and at puberty (Lanciotti et al., 2018).

The hypothalamus produces growth hormone-releasing and growth hormone inhibitory hormones that regulate the release of growth hormones from the pituitary gland (Hall, 2010). It also produces gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH) that regulates luteinizing hormone and follicle-stimulating hormone secretion from the pituitary (Amar & Weiss, 2003).

The pituitary gland secretes peptide hormones, namely, thyroid-stimulating hormone (TSH), corticotropin or adrenocorticotrophic hormone (ACTH), follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH), luteinizing hormone (LH), growth hormone (GH), and prolactin (PRL) (Amar & Weiss, 2003). PRL acts on the breast tissue to stimulates milk production (Hall, 2010). All the other five hormones act on other glands and regulate their secretions (Hall, 2010). The release of GH stimulates protein synthesis, and it's responsible for the growth of cells and tissues. FSH stimulates granulosa cells in ovaries to produce estrogen, and promotes sperm maturation and the proliferation of the Sertoli cells of testes (Abel et al., 2008; Goodman, 2009; O'Shaughnessy et al., 2012; Oduwole et al., 2018). In females, LH stimulates theca cells to produce A4 and progesterone in ovaries and ovulation (Goodman, 2009). In males, LH stimulates testosterone release by the Leydig cells (Ramaswamy & Weinbauer, 2014).

The secretion of gonadal hormones is regulated by a negative feedback mechanism where the hormone itself prevents its over-secretion (Couse et al., 2003; McCormick et al., 2002) (**Figure 1.3**).

1.1.3. Sexual dimorphism in disease

Females and males show differences in the prevalence, severity, and pathophysiology of many diseases. Men are at higher risk of infectious diseases and arteriosclerosis, while women have higher risk of autoimmune disorders, such as multiple sclerosis and rheumatoid arthritis (Beeson, 1994; Kalin & Zumoff, 1990; Klein, 2000; Klein & Flanagan, 2016; McBride et al., 2005; Muenchhoff & Goulder, 2014; Whitacre et al., 1999). Many neuropsychiatric disorders, such as anxiety and depression, are influenced by sex and gonadal hormones. Women show higher incidence of stress-related physiological complaints like chronic pain and fibromyalgia (Verhaak et al., 1998; Wolfe et al., 1995). Women are more responsive than men to acute stressors, such as CO2 exposure or construction noise, and have higher cortisol levels after exposure (Paris et al., 2010). Changes in estrogen levels during the estrous cycle in rodents and menstrual cycle in humans alter stress response, as higher estrogen levels associate with increased stress response (Carey et al., 1995; McCormick & Teillon, 2001; Shors et al., 1998). On the other hand, the risk of autoimmune diseases such as lupus erythematosus is influenced by X chromosome dosage (Chitnis et al., 2000). Men with Klinefelter syndrome (XXY) have high risk similar to that seen in women (Scofield et al., 2008; Souyris et al., 2018). Sex-reversed female mice (XY) have less severe lupus compared to XX females (Sasidhar et al., 2012).

The prevalence of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) is greater in white men compared to white women (42% and 24%, respectively) (Browning et al., 2004). It's worth noting that NAFLD is twice as common in postmenopausal women as in premenopausal women, suggesting that sex hormones, most likely estrogen, have a protective role (Lazo & Clark, 2008; Polyzos et al., 2013). This estrogen protective effect is further supported by NAFLD development in women treated with tamoxifen, and the better liver enzyme profiles in postmenopausal women taking estrogen replacement treatment (Bruno et al., 2005; Florentino et al., 2013).

Females and males also show differences in their responses to pharmacological treatment (Alomar, 2014; de Vries et al., 2019; Ekhart et al., 2018; Fattinger et al., 2000; Yu et al., 2016; Zopf et al., 2008). They show differences in both drug pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics (Anderson, 2005, 2008). Pharmacokinetics is the absorption, distribution,

metabolism, and excretion of drugs. The sex differences in the drug pharmacokinetics include differences in renal and gastrointestinal blood flow, gastric acid secretion, and percentage of body fat and muscles (Chen et al., 2000; Wahl et al., 2003).

Pharmacodynamics refers to the effects and side effects of drugs. Female sex is considered a risk factor for adverse drug reactions and side effects (Fattinger et al., 2000; Nakagawa & Kajiwara, 2015). Endogenous and exogenous sex hormones can affect pharmacodynamics and pharmacokinetics directly and indirectly, and some drugs modify hormonal signaling pathways (Franconi et al., 2007; Spoletini et al., 2012).

The sex differences in drug metabolism are the primary reason behind sexual dimorphism in pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of the drugs.

1.1.4. Sexual dimorphism in liver metabolism

The liver has many essential functions, including metabolism and breakdown of endogenous substances and xenobiotics and synthesis of blood clotting factors and lipids (cholesterol and triglyceride). The liver is involved in maintaining lipid, glucose, and protein homeostasis (Cherrington, 1999; Ekberg et al., 1999; Klover & Mooney, 2004; Zammit, 2002). The term xenobiotics refers to all extrinsic chemicals found in the organism that are not naturally produced or present in that organism, such as drugs, plant-derived secondary metabolites, pesticides, and environmental pollutants (Juchau & Chen, 1998; Testa & Krämer, 2006).

Drug metabolism is catalyzed by different reactions classified into two phases (Nelson & Gordon, 1983). Phase I includes oxidation, reduction, and hydrolysis, and phase II includes conjugation reactions such as acetylation, sulfation, glucuronidation, methylation, and glutathione conjugation (Brunton et al., 2008). Phase I and II do not necessarily occur in this order. The common families of phase I hepatic enzymes are the cytochromes P450 (CYPs) and flavin-containing monooxygenases (FMOs), whereas N-acetyltransferases (NATs), sulfotransferases (SULTs), uridine diphosphate glucuronosyltransferases (UGTs), catechol O-methyl transferase (COMT), and glutathione S-transferases (GSTs) are phase II enzymes (Brunton et al., 2008; Jancova et al., 2010). Hepatic drug-metabolizing enzymes (DMEs) have a critical role in drug bioavailability and elimination, and the metabolism of endogenous compounds. In humans, sex, age, hormones, genetic polymorphisms, and epigenetic variation, as well as environmental factors, play important roles in shaping interindividual differences in

DME expression and activity (Cotreau et al., 2005; Court et al., 2002, 2004; Daly et al., 1991; Kennedy, 2008; Moon et al., 2006; Murray, 2007; Szyf, 2007).

CYPs are heme proteins that oxidase their substrates and include three major families CYP1, CYP2, and CYP3. The CYPs are involved in metabolism of pharmaceuticals and exogenous chemicals, endogenous bile acid and cholesterol biosynthesis, and steroids and vitamin D3 synthesis and catabolism (Nebert & Russell, 2002). In mice, the hepatic expression of CYP family members differs between females and males, partly reflecting sexual dimorphism in metabolism (Waxman, 1988; Waxman & O'Connor, 2006). There are wellcharacterized examples of male and female predominant liver CYPs, such as the female-biased Cyp2b9, and the male-biased Cyp7b1 (Jarukamjorn et al., 2002). In humans, sex differences in CYPs are documented but are less pronounced than in rodents (Scandlyn et al., 2008; Yang & Li, 2012). Here, I'll give a couple of examples of documented sex differences in CYP enzyme activity that causes a sex difference in therapeutic effects. CYP3A4 is a predominant enzyme for phase I metabolism (Soldin et al., 2011; Waxman & Holloway, 2009; Zanger & Schwab, 2013). Women have higher level of hepatic CYP3A4 protein activity compared to men (Wolbold et al., 2003). The clearance of CYP3A4 substrates (e.g., cortisol) is 20-30% greater in women compared to men (Greenblatt & Von Moltke, 2008; Wolbold et al., 2003). CYP1A2 is the primary enzyme that metabolizes antipsychotic drugs (Pirmohamed et al., 1995). CYP1A2 shows higher activity in men, and they have higher clearance of antipsychotic drugs (Bigos et al., 2008).

The contribution of glucuronidation to drug metabolism is the highest among other phase II reactions (Brunton et al., 2008). There are 22 different UGT enzymes in humans with two main families UGT1A and UGT2B (Mackenzie et al., 2005; Miners et al., 2004). Men have higher rates of glucuronidation compared to women (Court et al., 2004). They also have a higher clearance rate of a widely used analgesic 'acetaminophen' compared to women, which is mainly metabolized by glucuronidation (Cummings et al., 1967; Lowenthal et al., 1976; Miners et al., 1983). The activity of UGT2B15 is 67% higher in the male liver, and the clearance of its substrate oxazepam is 40% higher in males than females (Court, 2010; Court et al., 2002, 2004; Greenblatt et al., 1980; Walkenstein et al., 1964).

COMT catalyzes the transfer of methyl group from S-adenosylmethionine to catecholamines, including the neurotransmitters norepinephrine, epinephrine, and dopamine, and catechol drugs such as Levodopa in treating Parkinson's disease (Guldberg & Marsden,

1975). The hepatic activity of COMT is 30% higher in men compared to women (Boudíková et al., 1990). A polymorphism in *COMT* that results in an amino acid change (valine to methionine) is linked to a decrease in COMT activity by around four fold (Boudíková et al., 1990; Dawling et al., 2001). One major pathway of estrogen metabolism is through the hydroxylation of estrogen to catecholestrogens, which are inactivated by COMT. COMT genotype is significantly correlated with the serum level of estrogen in postmenopausal women receiving hormonal replacement therapy (Worda et al., 2003).

In conclusion, sex differences in the expression and/or the activity of metabolizing enzymes in the liver could lead to the sex difference in metabolic phenotype.

1.1.5. Sexual dimorphism in gene expression

Somatic non-gonadal tissues including peripheral blood, heart, liver, brain, kidney, pancreas, and muscle show sex bias in gene expression (Davegårdh et al., 2019; Hall et al., 2014; Jansen et al., 2014; Kang et al., 2011; Mayne et al., 2016; Melé et al., 2015; Naqvi et al., 2019; Trabzuni et al., 2013; Tullis et al., 2003; Vawter et al., 2004; Waxman & Celenza, 2003; Weickert et al., 2009; Zhang et al., 2011).

The sex-biased gene expression is tissue specific, and the number of genes that are differentially expressed between the sexes differs from one tissue to the other (Yang et al., 2006). Seventy two percent of liver genes and around 14% of brain genes show sex bias in expression (Yang et al., 2006). Genes with sex-biased expression are involved in important biological pathways specific for the organ expressing those genes, such as lipid metabolism in the liver and ATPase activity in the brain (Yang et al., 2006). The sex phenotype and testosterone influence sex-biased gene expression in adult mouse liver (Delić et al., 2010; Gatti et al., 2010; Reizel et al., 2015; Van Nas et al., 2009). On the other hand, the differential gene expression in adult thymus and heart depends on the sex-chromosome complement (Deegan et al., 2019; Wijchers et al., 2010). Sex hormones regulate gene expression in the mesenteric arteries, suggesting that the cardiovascular system is influenced by both sex genotype and sex hormones (Deegan et al., 2019; Eyster et al., 2007). Autosome and sex-chromosome linked genes are differentially expressed between sexes in early development before the influence of hormones based on data from mouse embryonic stem cells and early embryo (8-cell stage) (Lowe et al., 2015; Werner et al., 2017). The effect of sex-chromosome complement on blood gene transcription is seen in humans. Individuals with Turner syndrome (TS) (45,X) and Klinefelter syndrome (KF) (47,XXY) have abnormal sex chromosome numbers. The

transcriptional profile of blood from those individuals is different from karyotypically normal females and males (46, XX, and 46, XY, respectively) (Huang et al., 2015; Manotas et al., 2020; Skakkebæk et al., 2018; Trolle et al., 2016; Zitzmann et al., 2015). The majority of differentially expressed genes between TS vs. females, and KF vs. males are autosomal (Zhang et al., 2020).

DNA methylation and histone modification are important in the regulation of gene transcription (Berger et al., 2009). Therefore, sex bias in gene expression may reflect sex bias in DNA methylation and/or histone modifications. In this work, we focus on the sex bias in DNA methylation and factors that may modify it.

1.2. DNA methylation

The hypothesis that DNA methylation plays a role in the regulation of gene expression was first proposed by (Holliday & Pugh, 1975; Riggs, 1975). They suggested that DNA methylation influenced gene expression by altering the binding of transcription factors to DNA. It is now well established that DNA methylation, along with other epigenetic factors, has a major role in gene regulation. Thus, DNA methylation serves as a non-genetic chemical modification regulating transcription and gene activity (Holliday & Pugh, 1975; Jones, 2012). Since 1975, the study of DNA methylation changed as more technologies evolved to investigate DNA methylation across the genome and its relation to gene transcription.

1.2.1. CpG methylation

DNA methylation is a mitotically heritable epigenetic modification that consists of a covalent addition of a methyl group to the carbon at position five of the cytosine ring of DNA (Hotchkiss, 1948; Wigler et al., 1981). In most mammalian cells, methylation takes place at a cytosine followed by guanine (CpG dinucleotide) (Doskočil & Šorm, 1962; Lister et al., 2009; Zemach et al., 2010). The mammalian genome has less CpG dinucleotides than expected, and they occur at only 25% of the expected frequency in DNA (Josse et al., 1961; Smallwood et al., 2011). The CpG dinucleotides are not evenly distributed throughout the genome. CpG rich genomic regions are termed CpG islands (CGIs), the regions adjacent to CGIs are termed CGI shores (0 to 2 kb up/downstream of CGIs), whereas regions 2 to 4 kb up/downstream of CGIs are termed CGI shelves (Gardiner-Garden & Frommer, 1987). In the mammalian genome, about half of CGIs are not associated with gene promoters and found in intergenic or intragenic regions, and they are termed orphan CGIs (Illingworth et al., 2010). Transposon sequences

(SINE, LINE, and LTR) are abundant in the mammalian genome, and they are densely methylated (Edwards et al., 2017; Lister et al., 2009).

In vertebrates, almost 75% of the annotated gene promoters contain CGIs that are generally low in methylation in somatic cells (Antequera & Bird, 1993; Bird et al., 1985; Deaton & Bird, 2011; Edwards et al., 2010; Lister et al., 2009; Saxonov et al., 2006). The majority of housekeeping genes have CGIs at their promoter regions, as well as a proportion of developmental regulator genes and tissue-specific genes (Cooper & Gerber-Huber, 1985; Larsen et al., 1992; McKeon et al., 1982; Stein et al., 1983; Zhu et al., 2008). Transcription start sites are flanked by nucleosomes marked with trimethylation of histone H3 at lysine 4 (H3K4me3), a histone mark, and the histone variant antagonistic to methyltransferases (H2A.Z). The unmethylated CGIs are substrates for activating transcriptional factors, and they are associated with transcriptional activity (Deaton & Bird, 2011; Weber et al., 2007; Weinmann et al., 2002). On the other hand, methylated CGIs usually associate with long-term stable repression of gene expression, such as in X-chromosome inactivation, cell-specific gene expression, and genomic imprinting (Larsen et al., 1992).

DNA methylation levels in CGI shores and shelves are dynamic (Irizarry et al., 2009; Wang et al., 2013). CGI shores act as enhancers, and they are involved in tissue-specific methylation associated with gene expression (Ehrlich et al., 1982; Li & Zhang, 2014).

Recent evidence suggests that DNA methylation in gene bodies is involved in transcriptional elongation and can impact splicing (reviewed in (Jones, 2012)). Methylation in gene bodies positively correlates with gene expression, as shown by studying genes on the active X-chromosome (Hellman & Chess, 2007).

1.2.2. CpG methylation outside CGIs; in enhancers

DNA methylation can alter the activity of regulatory elements such as enhancers and insulators. The methylation patterns at enhancers vary depending on cell type and the developmental time. Several observations suggest the association of DNA methylation and enhancer activity (Saluz et al., 1986; Wiench et al., 2011). Worth noting, DNA methylation of enhancer regions shows a stronger association with gene regulation than DNA methylation of promoters in cancer cells (Aran et al., 2013). It has been shown that regions with low methylation (30%) in mouse embryonic stem cells (ESCs) are usually distal regulatory regions (Stadler et al., 2011). Those regions undergo demethylation by binding to transcription factors (TFs) (Stadler et al., 2011). However, the relationship between methylation and transcription

factor binding is complicated. DNA methylation inhibits gene expression by preventing activator TFs from binding to their target sequences and/or recruiting repressor proteins, such as Methyl-CpG-binding proteins (MBPs), leading to gene-silencing (Campanero et al., 2000; Iguchi-Ariga & Schaffner, 1989; Watt & Molloy, 1988).

1.2.3. Non-CpG methylation

In mammals, non-CpG (CpH; H is A, C, or T) methylation is found in adult glia and neurons, ESCs, pluripotent stem cells generated by induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSC) and somatic cell nuclear transfer stem cells, and oocytes (Guo et al., 2014; Lister et al., 2009, 2011, 2013; Ma et al., 2014; Tachibana et al., 2013; Tomizawa et al., 2011). CpH methylation is found to a lesser extent in adipose tissue, skeletal muscle tissue, adrenal gland, gastric system, and the heart (Barres et al., 2013; Barrès et al., 2009; Schultz et al., 2015; Varley et al., 2013). Upon differentiation of ESCs, methylation at CpH decreases dramatically, and it can be restored by stem cell reprogramming (Ziller et al., 2011). In neurons, CpH methylation accumulates with age as synaptogenesis progresses (Lister et al., 2013). Thus, CpH methylation has a cell-specific regulation that does not depend on CpG methylation.

Because the project studies DNA methylation in the liver where CpH methylation is uncommon, the following sections focus on CpG methylation.

1.2.4. DNA methyltransferases

DNA methylation is established and maintained by DNA methyltransferases (DNMTs). There are five DNMTs in humans: DNMT1, DNMT2, DNMT3A, DNMT3B, and DNMT3L. DNMT1, DNMT3A, and DNMT3B are canonical methyltransferases that catalyze DNA methylation by transferring methyl groups from S-adenosyl methionine (SAM) to the fifth carbon of the cytosine ring (Fatemi et al., 2002; Wu & Santi, 1985, 1987). DNMT2 and DNMT3L are non-canonical methyltransferases, and they do not possess catalytic DNMT activity.

DNMT2 has a weak DNA methyltransferase activity in vitro (Hermann et al., 2003). However, deletion of *DNMT2* in ESC did not affect global DNA methylation, suggesting that DNMT2 has little involvement in establishing DNA methylation patterns (Masaki Okano et al., 1998). DNMT2 has a methyltransferase activity toward cytosine of RNA (Goll et al., 2006; Schaefer et al., 2010). DNMT3A and DNMT3B function in *de novo* DNA methylation (*de novo* methyltransferases) (Okano et al., 1998). *Dnmt3a* and *Dnmt3b* are expressed at high levels during embryonic development and in mouse embryonic stem cells (Chen et al., 2003; Masaki Okano et al., 1999). *Dnmt3a* knockout mice appear normal at birth but die at four weeks (Masaki Okano et al., 1999). In contrast, there are no viable *Dnmt3b* knockout mice at birth (Masaki Okano et al., 1999). The double knockout of *Dnmt3a/Dnmt3b* in ESCs completely lacked *de novo* methylation, and the embryos died before E11.5 (Masaki Okano et al., 1999).

DNMT1 acts as a maintenance methyltransferase for hemi-methylated DNA (Bestor, 1992) and also has *de novo* methyltransferase activity (Gowher et al., 2005; Liang et al., 2002). *Dnmt1* expression is activated by cell-cycle dependent regulators and is present at high levels in proliferating cells (Kishikawa et al., 2003). DNMT1 is found in the developing embryo cells and the nuclei of the postimplantation embryo's cells (Trasler et al., 1996). The homozygous mutation of *Dnmt1* causes a reduction in DNA methylation in embryonic stem cells and embryo lethality before midgestation (Li et al., 1992). *Dnmt1* null embryos show reduced global DNA methylation, loss of imprinting, defects in X inactivation, and activation of retrotransposons (Beard et al., 1995; Dahlet et al., 2020; Min et al., 2020; Panning & Jaenisch, 1996; Sado et al., 2000; Walsh et al., 1998). DNMT10 is an oocyte-specific DNMT1 isoform that lacks 118 amino acids of the N-terminal domain of somatic DNMT1 and is found in the cytoplasm of mature oocytes and preimplantation embryos, and the nuclei of 8-cell embryos (Carlson et al., 1992; Mertineit et al., 1998; Ratnam et al., 2002). DNMT10 acts to maintain CpG methylation of imprinted genes in the early embryo (8-cell stage) (Cirio et al., 2008).

DNMT3L is physically associated with DNMT3A and DNMT3B and guides their *de novo* DNA methylation activity (Suetake et al., 2004). *Dnmt3l* is expressed in high levels in developing germ cells, early embryo, and embryonic stem cells (Hata et al., 2002). DNMT3L regulates the establishment of maternal imprinting during gametogenesis (Bourc'his et al., 2001). DNMT3L recognizes unmethylated histone H3 at lysine 4 and recruits DNMT3A2, which will catalyze DNA methylation (Ooi et al., 2007). Female mice deficient in DNMT3L produce non-viable embryos due to aberrant acquisition of DNA methylation during oogenesis, while males are infertile (Bourc'his et al., 2001).

1.2.5. DNA demethylation

The ten-eleven translocation proteins (TET) catalyze the oxidation of 5-methylcytosine (5mC) to 5-hydroxymethylcytosine (5hmC), and oxidize 5hmC to the unstable 5-
formylcytosine (5fC) and 5-carboxycytosine (5caC) (He et al., 2011; Tahiliani et al., 2009). The oxidized form of cytosine can be further removed passively through DNA replication or by DNA repair mechanisms. TET proteins in mammalian cells include TET1, TET2, and TET3. The three TET enzymes share a similar catalytic function, but they differ in their expression and activity in different tissues (Zhu et al., 2020). The expression of *Tet1* and *Tet2* is shown during pre-implantation development (blastocyst) and in ESC, whereas *Tet3* is expressed in the oocyte and zygote, but decreases in the blastocyst (Gu et al., 2011; Iqbal et al., 2011; Wossidlo et al., 2011). *Tet2* and *Tet3* expression increases during differentiation of the germ layer (Rasmussen & Helin, 2016). *Tet2* and *Tet3* are expressed in a wide range of adult organs, including the liver and the central nervous system (Dawlaty et al., 2013; Yue et al., 2014).

TET proteins have diverse roles in biological processes such as embryonic development by regulating DNA methylation reprogramming (discussed in section 1.2.6.).

1.2.6. Roles of DNA methylation during development

DNA methylation has a key role in different processes, including X-chromosome inactivation, genomic imprinting, and transcriptional repression of retrotransposons (Hackett et al., 2012; Reik, 2007).

X-chromosome inactivation (XCI) in mammals is a process where one X chromosome is silenced in female somatic cells during early embryonic development (Lyon, 1961). XCI balances X-linked gene dosage between female (two X-chromosomes) and male (one X-chromosome) cells. In humans, 15-25% of X-linked genes escape XCI, while in mice, only 3-7% escape XCI (Balaton et al., 2015; Berletch et al., 2010, 2015; Peeters et al., 2018).

In both mice and humans, the primary regulator of XCI is the long non-coding RNA Xinactive specific transcript (*Xist/XIST*) expressed by the inactive X chromosome (Brockdorff et al., 1991; Brown et al., 1991; Penny et al., 1996). XCI is associated with specific DNA methylation patterns (Mohandas et al., 1981). Chromatin modifications and DNA methylation contribute to the maintenance of XCI and repression (Blewitt et al., 2008; Csankovszki et al., 2001; Hernández-Muñoz et al., 2005).

Genomic imprinting is a phenomenon where imprinted genes are expressed from only one parental allele, either the maternal or paternal (Morison et al., 2005). DNA methylation is associated with the establishment and maintenance of genomic imprinting (Bourc'his et al., 2001; Caspary et al., 1998; Hata et al., 2002; Hirasawa et al., 2008; Kaneda et al., 2004). Loss of DNMT1 leads to silencing or biallelic expression of imprinted genes (Li et al., 1993).

The epigenome undergoes reprogramming in primordial germ cells (PGCs) and early embryos (Smith et al., 2012). This includes erasure of DNA methylation and reprogramming of histone modifications (Guibert et al., 2012; Hajkova et al., 2002, 2008; Monk et al., 1987; Rougier et al., 1998; Seki et al., 2005; Sekl et al., 2007).

PGCs undergo genome-wide DNA demethylation from E8 to E13.5 (Guibert et al., 2012; Seisenberger et al., 2012). After PGCs reprogramming, the establishment of DNA methylation in germ cells is sex-specific. The process of remethylation of imprinted regions in female oocytes occurs during the oocyte growth phase after birth (Gahurova et al., 2017; Hiura et al., 2006; Kono et al., 1996; Lucifero et al., 2002, 2004; Seisenberger et al., 2012; Walsh et al., 1998). In contrast, in male germ cells, methylation of imprinted regions is initiated in prospermatogonia (E15 to E16) and maintained through many mitotic division cycles (Coffigny et al., 1999; Davis et al., 2000; Kafri et al., 1992; Lees-Murdock et al., 2003; Seisenberger et al., 2012; Ueda et al., 2000).

The second wave of DNA methylation reprogramming occurs during early embryogenesis after zygote formation (Santos et al., 2002). The somatic cells of embryos undergo demethylation that is completed by the blastocyst stage (Howlett & Reik, 1991; Santos et al., 2002; Smith et al., 2012). Demethylation of the paternal genome occurs a few hours after fertilization via an active and rapid process, whereas the maternal genome undergoes passive demethylation through a replication-dependent dilution process (Mayer et al., 2000; Rougier et al., 1998). Unlike demethylation in PGCs, somatic cell demethylation does not affect the DNA methylation of imprinted genes. TET3 mediated oxidation is involved in the demethylation of the paternal genome and, to a lesser degree, the maternal genome (Iqbal et al., 2011; Peat et al., 2014; Tsukada et al., 2015).

1.2.7. Sex bias in DNA methylation

Since DNA methylation affects gene expression that regulates cellular phenotype, sex differences in DNA methylation may result in sexually dimorphic phenotypes. The contribution of DNA methylation and other epigenetic marks to sex differences in gene regulation is relatively undiscovered. Sex difference in DNA methylation is found on both X chromosome and autosomes in different tissues (García-Calzón et al., 2018; Singmann et al., 2015).

Data from human blood show sex differences in DNA methylation (El-Maarri et al., 2007, 2011; Ho et al., 2018; Shah et al., 2014; Singmann et al., 2015). Females have lower DNA methylation levels at repetitive elements compared to males (El-Maarri et al., 2007), and the sex-biased methylation is independent of menstrual cycle or age (El-Maarri et al., 2011). Data from human saliva show that females have higher methylation at X-linked and autosomal CpGs (Liu et al., 2010). In human pancreatic islets, the global autosomal methylation. Out of the 470 CpGs, 18 are associated with sex-biased differentially expressed genes (Hall et al., 2014). Data from human livers show sex-biased DNA methylation at both X chromosome and autosomes, with men having higher methylation at autosomal regions and women having higher methylation at X-chromosome regions (García-Calzón et al., 2018).

In principle, the sex-biased DNA methylation may be influenced by the sex phenotype (sex hormones) and/or sex-chromosome complement. The role of the sex-chromosome complement has been established in DNA methylation studies of the blood methylomes of individuals with TS or KF. Data from individuals with TS and KF show global changes in DNA methylation in the blood and leukocytes of these individuals in comparison to individuals with normal karyotypes (Sharma et al., 2015; Skakkebæk et al., 2018; Trolle et al., 2016; Wan et al., 2015; Zhang et al., 2020). Analyzing DNA methylation using the 450K -Illumina Infinium assay in leukocytes of individuals with TS show lower global methylation than karyotypically normal females and males (Trolle et al., 2016). This hypomethylation is seen in different genomic regions, including repetitive elements (Trolle et al., 2016). Global DNA methylation (X chromosome and autosomes) is lower in females with TS compared to females, but higher than in males (Sharma et al., 2015; Zhang et al., 2020). The X chromosome's methylation level in KF is higher than males, while DMRs on autosomes have a similar proportion of lower and higher methylation (Zhang et al., 2020).

1.2.7.1. Sex-biased DNA methylation in mouse liver

Sex-specific DNA methylation differences have been extensively studied in the mouse liver. In livers, male mice have lower DNA methylation compared to females (McCormick et al., 2017; Reizel et al., 2015; Takasugi et al., 2013; Zhuang et al., 2020). Furthermore, data from castrated mice show that male-specific demethylation in the liver is influenced by postnatal testosterone exposure, which suggests an interplay between DNA methylation and testosterone (Reizel et al., 2015). Re-administration of testosterone restored the original pattern of lower methylation in males (Reizel et al., 2015). Although sex-biased differentially methylated regions (sDMRs) detected between female and male adult livers were absent after male castration, a new set of sDMRs emerged independently of testosterone (McCormick et al., 2017). Comparing sDMRs from different tissues showed a minimal number of overlapping regions, which indicates that sex-biased DNA methylation is tissue specific (McCormick et al., 2017).

To further delineate the distinct roles of the sex-chromosome complement and sex phenotype in DNA methylation of the mouse liver, Dr. Naumova's lab, in collaboration with Dr. Taketo and Dr. Bourque's lab, conducted whole-genome bisulfite sequencing (WGBS) and RNA-seq experiments on liver samples from mice with different combinations of sexchromosome complement and sex phenotype to distinguish the effect of gonadal hormones and sex chromosomes on DNA methylation and gene expression (Zhuang et al., 2020).

To generate mice with monosomy X, the patchy fur (*Paf*) mutation carriers were used. The *Paf* mutation causes abnormal segregation of X and Y chromosomes during meiosis I in hemizygous males (Lane & Davisson, 1990). Due to the XY nondisjunction, *Paf* males produce XO females when mated to B6 females (Lane & Davisson, 1990). To generate mice with the same sex-chromosome complement but different sex phenotype, B6.TIR mice that have the Y chromosome of *Mus musculus domesticus* were used (Nagamine et al., 1987). These mice carry an *Sry* gene variant that causes a high rate of sex reversal in XY animals when placed on a B6 genetic background (Coward et al., 1994). This is due to SRY protein inefficiency in upregulating its target *Sox9* gene, which plays an essential role in testicular differentiation (Park et al., 2011).

Liver samples were collected from XO (XO.F) and XX females (XX^{*Paf*}F) from the *Paf* cross and XX females (XX.FT), XY males (XY.MT), and sex-reversed females (XY.FT) from the B6.TIR cross. Four pairwise comparisons were used to identify and generate lists of sDMRs and sex-biased differentially expressed genes (sDEGs) that depended on different factors (Zhuang et al., 2020). SDMRs that depended on sex-chromosome complements (X dosage and Y-chromosome presence) and sDMRs that depended on the sex phenotype were identified (**Figure 1.4**). Almost 80% of sex-phenotype dependent sDMRs had lower methylation in males compared to females (Zhuang et al., 2020). The majority (96%) of sDMRs identified when comparing groups with the same sex-chromosome complement, but different sex phenotypes (XY.FT vs. XY.MT) were autosomal. However, even when comparing groups with different

sex-chromosome complements, many sDMRs resided on autosomes, whether the mice had the same or different sex phenotype (XX.FT vs. XY.MT, XX.FT vs. XY.FT and XX^{*Paf*}F vs. XO.F) (53%, 34%, and 31%, respectively). Similar to sDMRs, our results showed that more sDEGs were found when comparing groups with different sex phenotype than groups with the same sex phenotype, but different sex-chromosome complements. We found that around 24% of autosomal sex-phenotype dependent sDEGs overlapped with genes containing sDMRs. As expected, most of these genes showed an opposite direction to DNA methylation in the sDMRs.

In summary, sex phenotype, X-chromosome dosage, and Y-chromosome presence shape autosomal sex-biased DNA methylation in the mouse liver (Zhuang et al., 2020) (**Figure 1.4**). The sex phenotype is the major player in autosomal sDMRs, and it is associated with sexbiased gene expression. I used the WGBS and RNA-seq data from our published work as a starting point for my study.

Hypotheses and Objectives

Our WGBS shows that sex difference in DNA methylation in mouse liver depends on the sex-chromosome complement and sex phenotype. However, the mechanisms by which the sex-chromosome complement or the sex phenotype influenced DNA methylation remained unclear. In this project, we attempted to answer the following scientific questions: (i) how does the Y chromosome influence DNA methylation? and (ii) how does the sex phenotype influence sex-biased DNA methylation?

To address the first question, we tested the **hypothesis** that Y-chromosome dependent sDMRs were specific for the B6.TIR strain. Our **objective** was to determine if genetic variation in the Y chromosome (TIR vs. B6) influenced DNA methylation and attempt to identify the Y-linked gene(s) responsible for the Y-effect on methylation.

To address the second question, we tested the **hypothesis** that sex hormone signaling through their receptors influenced DNA methylation at autosomal regions in the mouse liver. To test our hypothesis, we set two **objectives**: (a) to establish the developmental timing of sex bias in DNA methylation, and (b) to investigate the roles of AR and ESR1 in establishing sexbiased DNA methylation using knockout mouse models.

Figures:



Figure 1.1. Plasma hormones level during mouse development.

In black, plasma testosterone levels during male mouse development (adapted from (Clarkson & Herbison, 2016)). In orange, estradiol levels during female mouse development. E17: embryonic day 17, P0: day of birth, and P40: postnatal day 40. Created with Biorender. This figure illustrates the pattern of plasma hormones and does not reflect the accurate levels.



Figure 1.2. Structure of androgen and estrogen receptors.

The receptors are divided into six regions (A-F) and correspond to five structural domains. The A and B regions correspond to the N-terminal domain (NTD) that contains activation function 1 (AF-F). The C region corresponds to the DNA-binding domain (DBD). The D region corresponds to the hinge region (H). The E region corresponds to the ligand-binding domain (LBD) that contains activation function 2 (AF-2). The F region corresponds to the C-terminal domain (CTD). Created with Biorender.



Figure 1.3. Hypothalamic-pituitary-gonadal axis.

A. Hypothalamic-pituitary-testicular axis. **B**. Hypothalamic-pituitary-ovarian axis. Dotted arrows represent negative feedback. GnRH: gonadotropin-releasing hormone, FSH: follicle-stimulating hormone, LH: luteinizing hormone, A4: androstenedione. Created with Biorender.



Figure 1.4. Autosomal sDMRs in each comparison and their overlap with XX.FT vs. XY.MT from WGBS.

The numbers are sDMRs overlapped with XX.FT vs. XY.MT and represents sDMRs influenced by sex phenotype (XY.FT vs. XYT.M), X-chromosome dosage ($XX^{Paf}F$ vs. XO.F), and Y-chromosome presence or X-chromosome dosage (XX.FT vs. XY.FT).

Chapter II: Materials and Methods

Ethics statement

All animal work was conducted in accordance with the guidelines set by the Canadian Council on Animal Care (Ottawa, ON, CA) and an approved protocol by the Animal Care Committee of the McGill University Health Center (Montreal, QC, CA).

2.1. Mouse strains and crosses

B6 mice were purchased from the Jackson Laboratory (Bar Harbor, Maine, USA).

B6.C3H/HeSn-*Paf* male carriers of *Paf* mutation (referred to as *Paf* from this point on) were backcrossed to B6 mice for several generations to place the mutation into the B6 genetic background and generate females with monosomy X (XO females) (**Figure 2.1A**). Liver samples from N6 to N8 XO females and their XX^{Paf} female littermates were collected at eight weeks of age for methylation and expression analyses. Female offspring were genotyped using RT-qPCR of *Xist*, which is expressed in XX females (Alton et al., 2008; Kay et al., 1993). The list of genotyping primers is provided in **Table 2.1**.

The B6.TIR mouse was established by placing the Y chromosome from *Mus musculus domesticus* onto B6 genetic background (Eicher et al., 1982). Mating XY^{TIR} male to a B6 female generates XY.FT, XY.MT, XX.FT, and true hermaphrodites (XY.HT) (Taketo-Hosotani et al., 1989) (**Figure 2.1B**). Liver samples from XY.FT, XY.MT, XX.FT, and XY.HT were collected at 8 and 16 weeks of age for methylation and expression analyses. Female offspring were genotyped using PCR amplification of the zinc finger protein 1, Y-linked (*Zfy1*) sequence from ear punches (as described in (Amleh et al., 2000). The list of genotyping primers is provided in **Table 2.1.** Mice from the *Paf* and B6.TIR crosses were provided by Dr. Teruko Taketo (McGill University, QC, Canada).

ARKO mice, these mice carry a global deletion of exon 3 of the androgen receptor gene on a B6 genetic background. Heterozygous ARKO female mice were generated by mating CMV-Cre mice to mice carrying the floxed AR allele (Notini et al., 2005). Heterozygous ARKO female mice were mated to B6 males to produce hemizygous XY ARKO (Notini et al., 2005) (**Figure 2.1C**). DNA from livers of 10-11 week old XY ARKO mice and the wild type (WT) littermates was provided by Dr. Rachel Davey (University of Melbourne, Victoria, Australia).

B6N(Cg)-*Esr1*^{tm4.2Ksk}/J mice (stock# 026176) (referred to as ESR1KO from this point on) were purchased from the Jackson Laboratory (Bar Harbor, Maine, USA). These mice carry

a deletion of exon 3 of the estrogen receptor 1 gene on a C57BL/6N genetic background (Hewitt et al., 2010). Heterozygous ESR1KO male and female mice were mated to produce homozygous and heterozygous ESR1KO, as well as WT mice (**Figure 2.1D**). Genotype was determined by standard PCR (**Table 2.1**). Livers were collected from homozygous and heterozygous ESR1KO mice and their WT littermates at eight weeks of age for methylation and expression analyses.

For the study of the developmental timing of sex-biased methylation and expression, B6 mice were mated, and livers were collected from female and male offspring at E14.5, four weeks, and eight weeks of age.

To generate E14.5 embryos, mice were mated, and the morning of detection of the vaginal plug was considered E0.5. The pregnant females were sacrificed at E14.5, and embryos were collected. Livers were isolated from embryos using a stereomicroscope and genotyped using PCR of *Sry* to determine the genetic sex. The list of genotyping primers is provided in **Table 2.1.**

2.2. DNA extraction

DNA from mouse livers was extracted using a standard proteinase K phenol/chloroform procedure or the QIAamp Fast DNA Tissue Kit (Qiagen, NL). Crude lysates of ear punches using sodium hydroxide lysis were used for genotyping. For more details regarding genotyping, refer to section **2.1**.

2.3. Sodium Bisulfite Treatment and Pyrosequencing

One μ g of DNA per sample was treated with sodium bisulfite using the EpiTect Bisulfite Kit (Qiagen, NL) according to the manufacturer's protocol with modification to the incubation step extending it by a five minutes cycle at 95°C and two hours at 60°C.

PCR was done in 30 µl with 50 ng of bisulfite converted DNA using one standard primer and one HPLC-purified 5' biotinylated primer (IDT). Pyrosequencing was then carried out using the PyroMark Q24 Advanced platform and PyroMark Q24 Advanced CpG Reagents (Qiagen, NL). Results were analyzed by the PyroMark Q24 Advanced software (Qiagen, NL).

2.3.1. Assay and primer design for pyrosequencing methylation analysis

Pyrosequencing assays for sDMRs (50-70 bp) were designed using the PyroMark Assay Design 2.0 Software (Qiagen, NL). Specific criteria were maintained when selecting sDMRs for pyrosequencing methylation assays design: (1) avoiding genomic regions with high density of CpG as they can form stable secondary structures; (2) avoiding sDMRs located within repetitive elements to prevent amplification of non-specific regions; (3) no CpGs sites or SNPs within primers to stabilize their binding and avoid allele bias; (4) pyrosequencing can read around 50-75 bp after the sequencing primer, so the target sequence should not exceed 70 bp. The list of pyrosequencing methylation assay primers is provided in **Table 2.2**.

2.4. Expression analysis by RT-qPCR

Total RNA was isolated using TRIzol Reagent (Thermo Fisher Scientific) and followed by purification using the RNeasy® MinElute® Cleanup Kit (Qiagen, NL). CDNA was synthesized using one μ g of RNA, Oligo dT 12-18 primers, and Moloney Murine Leukemia Virus Reverse Transcriptase (M-MuLV RT) (Thermo Fisher Scientific, MA, US). Quantitative reverse transcription PCR (RT-qPCR) was performed using Power SYBR Green PCR master mix (Thermo Fisher Scientific, MA, US) and EcoTM Real-Time PCR System (Illumina, CA, US). Each cDNA sample was assayed in replicate, and the average Cq value was used to calculate the relative RNA (expression) levels using the delta Cq method (2^{- Δ Cq}). At least three biological replicates were used in each group (genotype/sex/age). Gene expression levels were normalized to the housekeeping gene ribosomal protein L19 (*Rpl19*).

2.4.1. Expression primer design

Primers for expression analysis were designed using Primer3 software (version 4.1.0) (http://primer3.ut.ee/) and checked with Bisearch, UCSC genome browser, and IDT Tusnády, OligoAnalyzer & 2007; Remm al.. 2012) (Arányi et (https://www.idtdna.com/pages/tools/oligoanalyzer). In order to detect DNA contamination, all primer sets were designed into two adjacent exons flanking an intron. The Oligo dT primer used for cDNA synthesis binds to the poly-A tail (3' end) of the messenger RNA (mRNA). Therefore, the RT-qPCR primers were designed closer to the 3' end and covered as many isoforms as possible. The primers should only amplify the targeted genomic region. The annealing temperatures for the primers were optimized using standard PCR. The list of expression primers is provided in Table 2.3.

2.5. Statistical analyses

Statistical significance was calculated using a Student's t-test, one-way ANOVA with multiple correction testing (Tukey's multiple correction test), or two-way ANOVA with multiple correction testing (Sidak's multiple correction test) using GraphPad Prism 8. Data are shown as mean \pm standard deviation.

Tables:

Table 2.1.	List	of	genotyping	primers.
------------	------	----	------------	----------

	-			
Gene	Mouse	Technique	Forward primer	Reverse primer
Gene	mouse	reeninque	r or ward primer	Reverse primer
	cross			
F 1	FORMO	0.11		
Esrl	ESRKO	Standard	ATCCCATGTGCTTGAGTGGT	CCACITCICCIGGGAGICIG
		PCP		
		FCK		
Srv	B6	Standard	GCAGGCTGTAAAATGCCACT	ATGCAGGTGGAAAAGCCTTA
2.9	20	DCD	00110001011111100001101	
		PCR		
Vist	Paf	PT PCP	ΛΟΤΟΟΟΛΟΟΛΟΟΤΑΤΑΟΛΟ	GTTGATCCTCGCGTCATTTA
Λιδι	Tuj	KI-ICK	АСТОССАОСАОССТАТАСАО	UTIOATCETCOOUTCATTIA
Zfy	B6.TIR	Standard	AAGATAAGCTTACATAATCACATGGA	CCTATGAAATCCTTTGCTGCACATGT
		DCD		
		PUK		

Table 2.2.	List of sDMR	s and their	pyroseq	uencing m	nethylation	assay primers.

Gene symbol	Functional annotation	Chr.	Position of the assayed CG	Primer 1 (5'-3')	Primer 2 (5'-3') Biotinylated	Sequencing primer (5'-3')
Aldh3b3	3kb upstream of TSS	19	3,955,095	TTTTGGTGGTTGTAGATAGTGGT	TAATTACCCCCCCCCTACAAT	GTAGATAGTGGTTGGTA
Bcl6	Intergenic	16	24,010,090	AGTAAGTATTTGAAGGTTTGTTAGAGT	ATTCAAAATTAAACCACTCATAAACATAC	GGTTTGTTAGAGTTTTAGTATATT
Caprin1	Exon	2	103,766,583	TTAAGTAAGGGTGAGGAATTT	АААААААСТАТТТТСАТСССАТАААААСАА	TGTATTGTGTGTAAGGTTT
Ch6qA1	Intergenic	6	13,714,975	GTTATGGAGGTTGGTAATAATGTT	АССААТАААААТСАААСААТТСАСААА	GGGGAATATATAGAAAGATATAAAA
Comt	Exon, enhancer	16	18,407,984	AAGGGGAAGGTGTTTTTAGTTGATAATG	TTCTCCAAACCCTCCACCACTTTCATA	GGTGTTTTTAGTTGATAATGT
Cux2	Intron	5	121,999,270	TAGGTATGGAATAGGATTTTATGTGTT	ATAATAAATAACTCTCACCACCTTTACT	ATGTGTTTTTAAAAGGTTAAAGAT
Cyp2b9	Exon	7	26,210,279	GGTAAGTTTTGTTGTTGTTTTAAAGGATATTGA	ATAACACCTAACTCCCTCAC	AAATATTTTTAGTATATTAGATT
Cyp7b1	Intron	3	18,239,446	GGTTATAAGGTTTGTGATATGTTGTTA	АТТСТТААССААСТСТСТАААТАТАСААТ	GGTTTGTGATATGTTGTTATAG
Ergic1	Intron, enhancer	17	26,634,198	AAAGAAGTATTAGGGATAATTTAGGGTAAG	TAACTCAAAATACACCCCTCACC	GGGATAATTTAGGGTAAGAG
Esr1	Intron	10	4,729,743	TTGGGGTTAATTATTTATTTGTGAGT	TCCCAAAAACACATTCCAAAAC	TGAGTTATTGGGTTGG

Fez2	Intron, enhancer	17	78,407,054	AGGGGAGGTTTATTTGGAAAA	CTTCCTAAACCCCTTTCATTCACTAACTT	ATGGGATATATTTAAGTTGTAGA	
Fmo3	Intron	1	162,982,506	GATAAAGGTATATTTGTTTATGGATATGT	AATTACTCTCTAACCAAACAATTAAAC	ATTTTATTTTGTGAGGTTGAA	
Gstp1	500bp upstream gstp1, enhancer	19	4,034,872	GTTTTGGTTGTTTTGGAATTTATTATGT	AAATTTCTCTCCTTAACCTCAATATTCT	ATTTATTATGTAAATTAGGTTGG	
Hsd3b5	Intron	3	98,626,053	TTGTAGATATTGAATAGATATTAGGGAATT	CTTCCCCAACTTACTTCTTAATCATA	ATTGAATAGATATTAGGGAATTTT	
Pgk1	Intron, promoter	X	106,187,981	TTTAGTAATTTTTTTAGGTAAGGGAGAAGT	ТТАААСТССТААСССТААААТТТАСАТСА	GTGAGGTTATAGGTTTTTAAT	
Snrpn*	Exon, promoter	7	60,005,146	TTGGTAGTTGTTTTTTGGTAGGAT	TCCACAAACCCAACTAACCTTC	GTGTAGTTATTGTTTGGGA	
Xist	Exon, promoter	X	103,481,082	GTAATAGTTATGGGGTAGATTTTGGA	СТТААССТСТААТТТААССААСАСТАА	ATTTAGTAGGTTTAGAGAAT	

CG position:

UCSC genome browser - mouse (GRCm38/mm10) assembly

Functional annotation:

Based on genomic region and histone marks enrichment (H3K4me1, H3k27ac for enhancers, and H3k4me3 for promoters).

Information obtained from UCSC genome browser (Bing Ren's laboratory - LIRC histone track).

*Primers from (Whidden et al., 2016).

Gene	Forward primer	Reverse primer
Ar	AGAATCCCACATCCTGCTCA	AAGTCCACGCTCACCATATG
Cyp2b9	TGAGCACTTTCTAGATGCCAAT	GGCAATGCTTTCACCAAGAC
Cyp7b1	GCCCTCTTTCCTCCACTCAT	CCTCCTTTGAAAAACGTGCT
Cux2	CCCACTCGGGTCAAAGTC	GCTGCTCTCCTTCCAACTCA
Ddx3y	AGCAGCCGAAGTAGTGGTAG	ATTCAATTGCCCCACCAGTC
Elovl3	TTCTCTTTCTTCTCAGCAAGGT	GTGGTACCAGTGGACAAAGA
Esr1	CAGACACTTTGATCCACCTGA	CGTTCTTGCATTTCATGTTGTAG
Fmo3	TGATGAGAAAATGGGGGAAA	GCTTTGCACCAATGAAGGAG
Foxa1	ACTGTGAAGATGGAAGGGCA	CCGGAGTTCATGTTGCTGAC
Kdm5d	AGAATCCCAATCTAGAGCGCA	CAGAACCACCTTTTGCCTCC
Rpl19	GATCATCCGCAAGCCTGTGA	GCATCCGAGCATTGGCAGTA
Uty	TGTCAGAACTGTGCACGAAA	TGCAGAAGATAACGAAGGAGC

Table 2.3. List of gene expression primers.

Figures:



Figure 2.1. Mouse crosses

A. The *Paf* cross. **B**. The B6.TIR cross. **C**. ARKO cross. **D**. ESR1KO cross. Circles represent females, squares represent males, and combined circle and square represents hermaphrodites. **A-B.** Filled shapes represent groups used in whole-genome analyses. **C-D**. Filled shapes represent mutant, half-filled represent heterozygotes/hemizygotes, empty shapes represent WT. Red rectangles represent groups used for further analyses (pyrosequencing and RT-qPCR). OV = ovary, T = testis, and S = streak gonad. Chapter III: Results

3.1. SDMR validation and selection of reporter sDMRs for further studies

To better understand the mechanisms responsible for sex-biased DNA methylation levels, we needed to select reporter sDMRs that could be used in future low-throughput studies and further investigations of sex-biased methylation mechanisms. For this purpose, autosomal sDMRs with sex-phenotype dependent methylation located near sDEGs were selected (Zhuang et al., 2020). Eight with lower methylation in males; three associated with sDEGs (*Cyp7b1*, *Gstp1*, and *Hsd3b5*), and five with no sDEGs (*Bcl6*, *Comt*, *Ergic1*, *Esr*, and *Fez2*) (**Figure 3.1A, Figure S1**). Two with lower methylation and higher expression in females (*Aldh3b3* and *Cyp2b9*) (**Figure 3.1B, Figure S1**). Two autosomal sDMRs with Y-chromosome dependent methylation (*Caprin1* and Ch6qA1) were also selected (**Figure 3.2A**). We also tested sDMRs on the X chromosome with methylation levels that depended on X-chromosome dosage (promoters of X-linked genes *Pgk1* and *Xist*) (**Figure 3.1C**) and a DMR located in the promoter of imprinted gene small nuclear ribonucleoprotein N (*Snrpn*) (**Figure 3.1D**).

We performed pyrosequencing methylation analyses using additional liver DNA samples from *Paf* and B6.TIR mice (n= 4-8 samples per each sex/genotype group). We validated the sex-biased methylation at the ten sex-phenotype dependent sDMRs and two Y-chromosome dependent sDMRs (P<0.0001, one-way ANOVA) (**Figure 3.1 and 3.2**). As expected, mice with two X chromosomes had higher and lower methylation levels compared to groups with one X chromosome at *Pgk1* and *Xist* sDMRs, respectively (P<0.0001, one-way ANOVA) (**Figure 3.1C**). All five groups had similar methylation levels at *Snrpn* DMR (P=0.07, one-way ANOVA) (**Figure 3.1D**).

3.2. SDMRs that depend on the presence of the Y-chromosome are specific to the B6.TIR cross

Our WGBS data analyses showed that a subset of 50 sDMRs were influenced by the presence of the Y chromosome rather than sex phenotype or X-chromosome dosage (Zhuang et al., 2020). Most of these sDMRs were located within repetitive elements, and therefore, it was possible to design pyrosequencing assays for only 4 regions. We validated two Y-chromosome dependent autosomal sDMRs, one located in the last exon of *Caprin1* and the other in an intergenic region of chromosome 6qA1 (Ch6qA1) using pyrosequencing assays. We asked whether the Y-chromosome dependent sDMRs were specific for the B6.TIR strain or were present in the WT B6 mice as well. Methylation of the two sDMRs was tested in B6.TIR mice: XX.FT, XY.FT, and XY.MT, *Paf* mice: XX^{Paf}F and XO.F, and B6 mice: WT.F

and WT.M. At both sDMRs, XY.FT and XY.MT had lower methylation than XX.FT, $XX^{Paf}F$, XO.F, and WT.F. In contrast, WT.M showed methylation levels similar to females at both sDMRs (P<0.0001, one-way ANOVA) (**Figure 3.2A**). At Ch6qA1, there was high interindividual variance in $XX^{Paf}F$ and XO.F methylation levels, which could be due to the genetic variation in these mice. The *Paf* cross may have portions of the C3H genome in a largely B6 background that led to increase in inter-individual variation in methylation.

The B6.TIR and B6 mice differ in their Y chromosome, the B6.TIR mice have the Y chromosome of Mus musculus domesticus, while the B6 mice have the Y chromosome of Mus musculus musculus (Tucker et al., 1992). We hypothesized that methylation levels at these two sDMRs are influenced by Y-linked genes expressed in the liver. Since we had the liver RNAseq data for B6.TIR mice, we looked at the expression levels of Y-linked genes and identified genes expressed in the liver of XY.FT and XY.MT (Zhuang et al., 2020). There were four genes expressed in the liver of XY.MT and XY.FT: *Eif2s3y*, involved in the early steps of protein synthesis; Ddx3y, an ATP-dependent RNA helicase; Uty, catalyzes the demethylation of trimethylated lysine 27 of histone 3; and Kdm5d, demethylates lysine 4 of histone 3. Interestingly, Uty and Kdm5d have epigenetic regulatory functions as histone demethylases, and Ddx3y has a role in cellular processes, including RNA degradation (Bellott et al., 2014; Shpargel et al., 2012). Therefore, we hypothesized that the difference we see between the two strains was due to differences of those Y-linked genes that may influence DNA methylation, i.e., Uty, Kdm5d, or Ddx3y. In principle, genetic differences in the Y-linked genes in the two strains could lead to differences in their regulation or protein function, which in turn may affect DNA methylation of autosomal regions in trans. To test if there was a difference in these genes' expression levels, we performed RT-qPCR for Ddx3y, Uty, and Kdm5d in livers of WT.M, XY.MT, and XY.FT. WT.M had a higher relative RNA level of *Ddx3y* and a lower RNA level of Uty compared to XY.MT and XY.FT (P<0.001 and P<0.05, respectively, one-way ANOVA). The relative expression of *Kdm5d* was not significantly different between the three groups (P=0.55, one-way ANOVA) (Figure 3.2B).

Taken together, sDMRs that depend on the Y-chromosome presence are specific to the B6.TIR cross. Two Y-linked genes, Ddx3y and Uty, may contribute to this TIR-specific sexbiased methylation.

3.3. Sex bias in DNA methylation and gene expression varies with age

The production of testosterone starts at mid-gestation in the testes of male mice, and they have three plasma surges in their lifetime. The first peak occurs around E16-17, the second peak is a few hours after birth, and the largest surge is at puberty and continues through adulthood (Pointis et al., 1979, 1980). To investigate how sex bias in DNA methylation arises and elucidate the role of testosterone exposure on DNA methylation, we compared methylation levels of validated sex-phenotype dependent sDMRs in B6 female and male livers at three different developmental stages: fetal at E14.5, prepubescent at four weeks of age, and adult at eight weeks of age, using pyrosequencing methylation assays. If testosterone exposure is sufficient to cause sex bias in DNA methylation, we would expect that sex-biased methylation would be present at all three ages.

DNA methylation at *Cyp7b1*, *Ergic1*, *Fez2*, *Gstp1*, and *Hsd3b5* sDMRs showed no sex bias at both E14.5 and 4 weeks, but showed lower levels of methylation in 8-week old males compared to females (*Cyp7b1* and *Ergic1* P<0.001, *Fez2*, *Gstp1* and *Hsd3b5* P<0.0001, for interaction between sex and age, two-way ANOVA) (**Figure 3.3A**). *Comt* and *Esr1* sDMRs showed significant sex differences at 4 and 8 weeks. They had significantly lower methylation in 4-week and 8-week old males compared to females (P<0.0001, for interaction between sex and age, two-way ANOVA) (**Figure 3.3A**).

At *Fmo3* sDMR, DNA methylation showed no sex bias at both E14.5 and 4 weeks, and showed lower methylation levels in 8-week old females compared to males (P<0.0001, for interaction between sex and age, two-way ANOVA) (**Figure 3.3B**). *Cux2* and *Cyp2b9* sDMRs showed significant sex differences at both 4 and 8 weeks. They had lower methylation levels in 4- and 8-week old females compared to males (P<0.0001, for interaction between sex and age, two-way ANOVA) (**Figure 3.3B**). The *Aldh3b3* sDMR showed significant sex differences at every age we tested (**Figure 3.3B**). We detected a small (3%) but significant difference in E14.5 livers. At 4 and 8 weeks, sex differences in methylation had an opposite direction to E14.5, as females showed significantly lower methylation levels than males (P<0.0001, for interaction between sex and age, two-way ANOVA) (**Figure 3.3B**).

At the *Xist* sDMR, females had lower methylation levels compared to males of all three ages (P<0.0001, for interaction between sex and age, two-way ANOVA) (**Figure 3.3C**). Both females and males had lower methylation at E14.5 compared to 4 and 8 weeks, which was not expected. However, the expected sex difference is still present at E14.5 (**Figure 3.3C**). Finally,

no sex differences in methylation levels were detected at *Snrpn* DMR (P=0.71, for interaction between sex and age, two-way ANOVA) (**Figure 3.3D**).

Next, we wanted to see if the timing of sex-biased expression of genes containing the sDMRs coincides with sex-biased methylation. We performed RT-qPCR for two genes with lower methylation and higher expression in males (male-biased genes, *Cyp7b1* and *Elov13*), and two genes with lower methylation and had higher expression in females (female-biased genes, *Cyp2b9* and *Fmo3*). We determined their expression levels during development in B6 female and male livers at E14.5, four weeks, and eight weeks of age. *Cyp7b1* showed higher expression in 8-, but not 4-week old males (P<0.001, for interaction between sex and age, two-way ANOVA) (**Figure 3.4A**). For *Elov13*, *Cyp2b9*, and *Fmo3* significant sex bias in expression was found at 4- and 8- weeks of age (*Elov13* P<0.01, *Cyp2b9* and *Fmo3* P<0.0001, for interaction between sex and age, two-way ANOVA) (**Figure 3.4** and age, two-way ANOVA) (**Figure 3.4** and 3.4).

Our data show that both sex-biased methylation and expression show different onset timing at different regions, suggesting the involvement of multiple factors in establishing sex bias in DNA methylation and gene expression. In conclusion, at the majority of tested sexphenotype dependent sDMRs, we did not detect sex differences in DNA methylation levels in fetal and prepubescent mouse livers. Our results show that testosterone production by fetal and prepubescent testes is not sufficient to cause sex bias in methylation at certain sDMRs, and other factors must be involved.

3.4. Presence of ovaries and testes in hermaphrodites affects DNA methylation of sDMRs in an age-dependent manner

Our developmental timing data for sex-phenotype dependent sDMRs suggest that testosterone alone is not sufficient to cause sex-biased DNA methylation. We hypothesized that testosterone influenced sex-biased DNA methylation in a dose-dependent manner, or prolonged exposure to testosterone was needed to establish sex-biased methylation.

In our B6.TIR cross, 36% of XY mice developed as females, 46% as males, and 18% as hermaphrodites with one testis and either an ovary or a streak gonad (**Table 3.1**). Hermaphrodites have about 10-20% of males' testosterone levels (Houle & Taketo, 1992).

The hermaphrodites had intersex external genitalia, shorter anogenital distance compared to males, and often showed signs of mammary gland development (**Figure 3.5A**). Hermaphrodites had smaller testes compared to males. Moreover, males had a high variation in testis weight (**Figure 3.5B and C**).

Therefore, to test our hypothesis, we decided to compare methylation levels in B6.TIR mice with the three different sex phenotypes using a panel of six sDMRs, three sDMRs with lower methylation in males *Cyp7b1*, *Gstp1*, and *Hsd3b5* (male-biased sDMRs) and three with lower methylation in females *Aldh3b3*, *Cyp2b9*, and *Fmo3* (female-biased sDMRs).

We investigated methylation levels in the livers of 8- and 16-week old XX.FT, XY.FT, XY.MT, and XY.HT. At eight weeks, hermaphrodites with an ovary and a testis (XY.HT OV+T) had female-like or intermediate methylation levels (**Figure 3.5D and F**). Hermaphrodites with a streak gonad and a testis (XY.HT S+T) show methylation levels similar to males, however, we could not perform statistical tests due to the low sample number (n=2) and the absence of this group in 16 weeks animals (**Figure 3.5D and F**). So, from this point onward, we report the methylation levels in XY.HT OV+T.

At 8 weeks, XY.HT showed significantly higher methylation levels compared to XY.MT and lower methylation levels compared to XY.FT at the *Hsd3b5* sDMR (P<0.0001, one-way ANOVA) (**Figure 3.5D**). At *Cyp7b1* and *Gstp1* sDMRs, XY.HT mice showed significantly higher methylation levels than XY.MT (P<0.0001, one-way ANOVA) (**Figure 3.5D**). At female-biased sDMRs, XY.HT showed significantly higher methylation than XY.FT and lower methylation than XY.MT (P<0.0001, one-way ANOVA) (**Figure 3.5F**).

Interestingly, at 16 weeks, XY.HT had the same methylation levels as XY.MT at all sex-phenotype dependent sDMRs. At the three male-biased sDMRs, XY.HT showed significantly lower methylation compared to XY.FT (P<0.0001, one-way ANOVA) (**Figure 3.5E**). At the three female-biased sDMRs, XY.HT showed significantly higher methylation compared to XY.FT (P<0.0001, one-way ANOVA) (**Figure 3.5G**).

Next, we performed RT-qPCR to test *Cyp7b1*, *Elov13*, *Cyp2b9*, and *Fmo3* expression in 8-week old XX.FT, XY.MT, XY.FT and XY.HT. The relative RNA levels of *Cyp7b1* were significantly higher in XY.MT and XY.HT compared to XY.FT, and higher in XY.MT compared to XY.HT (P<0.0001, one-way ANOVA) (**Figure 3.6A**). *Elov13* expression was higher in XY.MT and XY.HT compared to XY.FT, and there was no significant difference between XY.MT and XY.HT (P<0.0001, one-way ANOVA) (**Figure 3.6A**). *Cyp2b9* and *Fmo3*

had the opposite direction, where XY.FT showed higher relative RNA level compared to XY.MT and XY.HT (P<0.0001, one-way ANOVA) (Figure 3.6B).

In conclusion, hermaphrodites showed methylation levels different from both males and sex-reversed females at 8-weeks and similar methylation levels to males at 16-weeks. However, hermaphrodites had either male-like or intermediate expression levels of sex-biased differentially expressed genes at 8-weeks.

3.5. Dynamic expression of TFs during development in the mouse liver

Testosterone exerts its effects by binding to a ligand-dependent TF, the androgen receptor. This binding mediates testosterone function on its target regions and activates downstream genes (Davey & Grossmann, 2016). Estrogen regulates gene expression by binding to estrogen receptor (Yaşar et al., 2017). Thus, the effect of sex hormones on sexbiased methylation is mediated by their receptors. Our RNA-seq analysis showed that of the estrogen receptor subtypes, only *Esr1* is expressed in the liver (Zhuang et al., 2020). Moreover, motif enrichment analysis on autosomal sDMRs show enrichment of FOXA1 and CUX2 TFs (Grimm et al., 2019; Zhuang et al., 2020). These TFs are known for their regulation of gene expression in the liver (Conforto et al., 2012; Reizel et al., 2020).

To better understand the developmental profiles of TFs expression in the mouse liver, we performed RT-qPCR for Ar, Esr1, Cux2, and Foxa1 in WT mice at three different ages. Ar expression was low at E14.5 and 4 weeks and increased by 5-fold between 4- and 8- weeks mice (P<0.05 for interaction between sex and age, two-way ANOVA) (Figure 3.7A). Esr1 expression was low at E14.5 in both females and males. In females, Esr1 expression increased 150-fold between E14.5 and 4 weeks and 2-fold between 4- and 8- weeks. In males, Esrl expression increased 200-fold between E14.5 and 4 weeks and did not change between 4- and 8- weeks (P<0.01 for interaction between sex and age, two-way ANOVA) (Figure 3.7A). Cux2 expression was low at all three ages in males. Cux2 expression increased 24-fold between E14.5 and 4 weeks and 2.5-fold between 4- and 8- weeks in females (P<0.0001 for interaction between sex and age, two-way ANOVA). In contrast, *Foxa1* expression increased with age in both males and females. Males had a bigger increase from E14.5 to 4 weeks than females resulting in a significant sex difference at 4 weeks (almost 2-fold difference) (Figure 3.7A). This sex difference was lost at 8 weeks (P=0.07 for interaction between sex and age, two-way ANOVA) (Figure 3.7A). Sex difference in Ar and Esr1 expression was observed at 8 weeks, with females showing higher expression levels (2-, and 2.5- fold difference), while sex

difference in *Cux2* expression was observed at 4- and 8- weeks, with higher expression in females (17-, and 141- fold, respectively).

Next, we wanted to test the expression of the 4 TFs in hermaphrodites in comparison to females and males. We performed RT-qPCR for the 4 genes in 8 weeks B6.TIR mice. *Ar*, *Esr1*, and *Cux2* had higher relative RNA levels in XY.FT compared to XY.MT and XY.HT, and no difference was observed between XY.MT and XY.HT (*Ar* and *Cux2* P<0.0001, *Esr1* P<0.01, one-way ANOVA) (**Figure 3.7B**). As expected, there was no significant difference between the groups in *Foxa1* expression (P=0.12, one-way ANOVA) (**Figure 3.7B**).

Our data show dynamic expression of TFs at different ages in the liver, with increased expression at 4 or 8 weeks in one or both sexes.

3.6. Loss of DNA binding of androgen receptor results in feminization of DNA methylation at sDMRs in XY animals

To better understand the role of AR in sex-biased methylation, we tested DNA methylation levels of sDMRs in ARKO mice. XY ARKO mice develop androgen insensitivity, and they have female external genitalia and small intraabdominal testes (Notini et al., 2005).

We analyzed DNA methylation levels in ARKO and WT mice in the same panel of six sDMRs (**Figure 3.8**). At both male-biased and female-biased sDMRs, ARKO mice had female-like methylation levels (**Figure 3.8**). At the male-biased sDMRs, ARKO mice showed significantly higher methylation compared to WT males (P<0.0001, one-way ANOVA) (**Figure 3.8A**). At female-biased sDMRs, ARKO mice showed significantly lower methylation compared to WT males (*Aldh3b3* P<0.001, *Cyp2b9* and *Fmo3* P<0.0001, one-way ANOVA) (**Figure 3.8B**).

3.7. ESR1 depletion changes methylation levels of both females and males at malebiased sDMRs, and only females at female-biased sDMRs

To better understand the role of estrogen receptor in sex-biased DNA methylation, we used ESR1KO mice. We confirmed the reduction of *Esr1* expression in ESR1KO female and male livers by RT-qPCR (**Figure 3.9B**). The expression of *Esr1* is 8% and 28% in adult ESR1KO females and males, respectively, compared to their WT littermates (P<0.01 for interaction between sex and genotype, two-way ANOVA) (**Figure 3.9B**).

We analyzed DNA methylation levels in ESR1KO mice and their WT littermates using our panel of six sDMRs (**Figure 3.10**). Sex-biased methylation was lost or reduced in homozygous ESR1KO mice at all six sDMRs. At male-biased sDMRs, both females and males were affected by ESR1 loss (**Figure 3.10A**). At *Gstp1* and *Hsd3b5* sDMRs, ESR1KO females gained methylation while ESR1KO males lost methylation compared to their WT littermates (P<0.0001 for interaction between sex and genotype, two-way ANOVA) (**Figure 3.10A**). At *Cyp7b1*, ESR1KO males show higher methylation compared to WT males (P<0.0001 for interaction between sex and genotype, two-way ANOVA) (**Figure 3.10A**). At females showed higher methylation levels than WT females and similar to males (P<0.0001 for interaction between sex and genotype, two-way ANOVA) (**Figure 3.10A**). (**Figure 3.10B**). Heterozygous ESR1KO mice show methylation levels similar to the WT mice (**Figure 3.10B**).

To test if ESR1 loss influenced sex-biased gene expression, we checked the expression of two sex-biased differentially expressed genes (*Cyp7b1* and *Cyp2b9*) and three TFs (*Ar*, *Cux2*, and *Foxa1*) in homozygous ESR1KO and WT mice using RT-qPCR. The sex-biased expression of *Cyp7b1* and *Cyp2b9* was lost in ESR1KO mice (P<0.0001 for interaction between sex and genotype, two-way ANOVA) (**Figure 3.9A**). Also, the sex-biased expression of TFs *Ar* and *Cux2* was lost in ESR1KO mice (P<0.05, and P<0.01, respectively for interaction between sex and genotype, two-way ANOVA) (**Figure 3.9B**). The expression of *Foxa1*, which did not show sex bias at 8 weeks, was not affected by ESR1KO (**Figure 3.9B**).

These data suggest that estrogen signaling through ESR1 contributes to establishing or maintaining sex-biased methylation and expression levels in mouse liver. This could be mediated by interacting and influencing other TFs such as *Ar* and *Cux2*.

Tables:

Table 3.1. Distribution of genotypes and sex phenotypes among the offspring of $\mathbf{X}\mathbf{Y}^{\mathrm{Ti}}$	r
males.	

	Total	XX.FT	XY.FT	XY.MT	XY.HT	XY.HT OV+T	XY.HT S+T
Number	105	49	20	26	10	8	2
Percent of total		47%	19%	25%	9%	n/a	n/a
Percent of XY	n/a	n/a	36%	46%	18%		

OV = ovary, T = testis, and S = streak gonad.

Figures:



Figure 3.1. Validation of sDMRs using pyrosequencing methylation assays.

A-B. Autosomal sex-phenotype dependent sDMRs with lower methylation in males (*Bcl6*, *Comt*, *Cyp7b1*, *Ergic1*, *Esr1*, *Fez2*, *Gstp1*, and *Hsd3b5*) (**A**); lower methylation in females (*Aldh3d3* and *Cyp2b9*) (**B**). **C.** X-linked sDMRs (*Pgk1 and Xist*) where methylation levels depend on X-chromosome dosage. **D**. Methylation levels at the imprinted *Snrpn* DMR are similar across all groups. Each point corresponds to one DNA sample. Error bars show standard deviation. Statistically significant results of one-way ANOVA represented by asterisks ****p<0.0001, ns: non-significant.



Figure 3.2. Characterization of sDMRs associated with the presence of the Y chromosome.

A. Methylation levels of Y-chromosome dependent sDMRs in adult mice from the B6.TIR, *Paf*, and B6 crosses. **B**. Relative RNA levels of Y-linked genes (*Ddx3y*, *Uty*, and *Kdm5d*) in livers of XY^{TIR} females and males, and B6 males. Error bars show standard deviation. Statistically significant results of one-way ANOVA results (**A**); or one-way ANOVA followed by multiple testing with Tukey's correction (**B**) represented by asterisks * P<0.05, *** P<0.001, **** P<0.0001, ns: non-significant.



Figure 3.3. Developmental profile of sDMRs in mouse liver.

A-D. Methylation levels in the liver of female and male B6 mice at three developmental stages by pyrosequencing (n= 4-7 per sex and stage). **A**. SDMRs with lower methylation in males (*Comt, Cyp7b1, Ergic1, Esr1, Fez2, Gstp1*, and *Hsd3b5*). **B**. SDMRs with lower methylation in females (*Aldh3b3, Cyp2b9, Cux2,* and *Fmo3*). **C**. Methylation levels depend on X-chromosome dosage at *Xist* sDMR. **D**. Methylation levels at the imprinted *Snrpn* DMR. Error bars show standard deviation. Statistically significant results of two-way ANOVA followed by multiple comparisons and Sidak's correction for multiple testing represented by asterisks * P<0.05, *** P<0.001, **** P<0.0001.



Figure 3.4. Developmental profile of sex-biased differentially expressed genes in mouse liver.

A-B. Relative RNA levels were normalized by *Rpl19* in the liver of B6 female and male mice at three developmental stages, by RT-qPCR (n= 4-7 per sex and stage). **A**. Genes with higher RNA levels in males (*Cyp7b1* and *Elovl3*). **B**. Genes with higher RNA levels in females (*Cyp2b9* and *Fmo3*). Error bars show standard deviation. Statistically significant results of two-way ANOVA followed by multiple comparisons and Sidak's correction for multiple testing represented by asterisks * P<0.5, **** P<0.0001.



Figure 3.5. Characterizing the methylation of selected sDMRs in hermaphrodites.

A-C. Male (XY.MT) and hermaphrodite (XY.HT) phenotypes. (**A**) Different anogenital distance and mammary gland development in males and hermaphrodites (arrowheads point to mammary glands); (**B**) Males show variable testes weight with either two testes of similar

weight (top row) or one testis larger than the other (middle row), hermaphrodites have unilateral small testis and contralateral ovary (XY.HT OV+T) (bottom row) or a streak gonad (XY.HT S+T) (not shown); (C) Testes weight in males and hermaphrodites. **D-E**. DNA methylation levels at autosomal sDMRs with lower methylation in males. Each point corresponds to one DNA sample. (**D**) Livers of 8-week old; (**E**) 16-week old XY^{TIR} animals and XX females. **F-G**. DNA methylation levels at autosomal sDMRs with lower methylation in females. (**F**) Livers of 8-week old; (**G**) 16-week old XY^{TIR} animals and XX females. **C-G**. Error bars show standard deviation. Statistically significant results of one-way ANOVA followed by multiple testing with Tukey's correction represented by asterisks * P<0.05, ** P<0.01, *** P<0.001, **** P<0.001. Comparisons to XY.HT are shown.



Figure 3.6. Expression levels of sDEGs in the liver of 8-week old B6.TIR mice

A-B. Relative RNA levels were normalized by *Rpl19* in the livers of XY^{TIR} animals and XX females (n= 4-8 per group) **A.** *Cyp7b1* and *Elov13*. **B.** *Cyp2b9* and *Fmo3*. Error bars show standard deviation. Statistically significant results of one-way ANOVA followed by multiple testing with Tukey's correction represented by asterisks * P<0.05, ** P<0.01, **** P<0.001. Comparisons to XY.MT are shown.


Figure 3.7. Expression profiles of TFs in the liver of B6 and B6.TIR mice

A-B. Relative RNA levels were normalized by *Rpl19* in the liver of; **A**. B6 mice at three developmental stages (n= 4-7 per sex and stage). Error bars show standard deviation. Statistically significant two-way ANOVA followed by multiple comparisons and Sidak's correction for multiple testing represented by asterisks * P<0.05, ** P<0.01, **** P<0.0001. **B**. 8-week old XY^{TIR} animals and XX females (n= 4-8 per group). Error bars show standard deviation. Statistically significant one-way ANOVA followed by multiple testing with Tukey's correction represented by asterisks ** P<0.01, **** P<0.0001, ns: non-significant.



Figure 3.8. Methylation levels in livers of ARKO and WT littermates at six sDMRs.

A. Male-biased sDMRs. **B**. Female-biased sDMRs. Error bars show standard deviation. Each point corresponds to one DNA sample. Statistically significant results of one-way ANOVA followed by multiple testing with Tukey's correction represented by asterisks ** P<0.01, *** P<0.001, **** P<0.0001.



Figure 3.9. Expression levels of sDEGs and TFs in the liver of ESR1KO and WT littermates

A-B. Relative RNA levels were normalized to *Rpl19* (n= 3-4 per sex and genotype). **A.** *Cyp7b1* and *Cyp2b9*. **B.** *Ar*, *Cux2*, *Esr1*, and *Foxa1*. Error bars show standard deviation. Statistically significant results of two-way ANOVA followed by multiple comparisons and Sidak's correction for multiple testing represented by asterisks ** P<0.01, **** P<0.0001, ns: non-significant.



Figure 3.10. Methylation levels in livers of ESR1KO mice and WT littermates at six sDMRs.

A. Male-biased sDMRs. **B**. Female-biased sDMRs. Error bars show standard deviation. Each point corresponds to one DNA sample. Statistically significant results of two-way ANOVA followed by multiple comparisons and Sidak's correction for multiple testing represented by asterisks ** P<0.01, *** P<0.001, **** P<0.001, ns: non-significant.

Chapter IV: Discussion

Discussion

In this study, we tested the hypothesis that the influence of sex phenotype on sex-biased DNA methylation is mediated by the signaling of sex hormones through their receptors. We established the developmental timing of sex-biased DNA methylation and gene expression at autosomal regions. We also tested the hypothesis that Y-chromosome dependent sDMRs are specific to the B6.TIR strain.

We show that Y-chromosome dependent sDMRs are specific to the B6.TIR cross and Y-linked genes may contribute to this TIR-specific sex-biased methylation. We show that both testosterone and estrogen signaling through their receptors influence methylation at sex-phenotype dependent sDMRs.

4.1. Role of the Y chromosome in sex-biased DNA methylation

We show that the Y chromosome from *Mus musculus domesticus* (B6.TIR) and not from B6 causes lower DNA methylation at certain autosomal regions in mouse liver in XY mice independent of their sex phenotype or X-chromosome dosage (**Figure 3.2A**). This indicates that Y chromosome genes influence DNA methylation at certain autosomal loci. There are two potential mechanisms, genetic differences in the Y-linked genes between B6.TIR and B6 mice could lead to differences in their regulation or protein function.

We tested the possibility that differences in methylation resulted from differences in Ylinked gene expression levels and selected Y-linked genes expressed in the liver based on our previously published RNA-seq data (Zhuang et al., 2020). Four genes were expressed in the liver of XY^{TIR} females and males: *Eif2s3y*, *Ddx3y*, *Uty*, and *Kdm5d*. Of those genes, *Ddx3y*, *Uty*, and *Kdm5d* were of particular interest for their involvement in histone modification and cellular processes. The expression levels of both *Ddx3y* and *Uty* are different in B6 males compared to XY.MT and XY.FT (**Figure 3.2B**). There was no difference in the expression of *Kdm5d* between the two strains, however, we cannot exclude the possibility of differences in protein function. Histone modification and DNA methylation are interdependent and can influence each other (Jia et al., 2007; Ooi et al., 2007). Our results suggest that two Y-linked genes, *Ddx3y* and *Uty*, maybe the contributing factors to B6.TIR-specific methylation levels at autosomes.

Although B6.TIR and B6 autosomal and X-linked genes are from the same genetic background (B6), their interaction with Y-genes, hence their expression, may vary depending

on the Y chromosome's genetic background. So, sex-biased DNA methylation at TIR-specific sDMRs could be an indirect effect of autosomal or X-linked downstream targets of Y-linked genes.

4.2. The developmental timing of sex-biased DNA methylation

At most sDMRs, the sex bias in DNA methylation was associated with loss of methylation in one of the sexes at 8 weeks of age (**Figure 3.3**). These results are consistent with the observation from another group where liver methylation was compared using RRBS in mouse livers and concluded that loss of methylation in males occurs around puberty as a result of testosterone surge (Reizel et al., 2015). However, in our targeted approach, we find that in a couple of sDMRs (*Cyp2b9*, and *Esr1*) one sex had less gain of methylation before puberty at 4 weeks, which may be associated with sex-biased expression of TFs FOXA1 or CUX2, for example (**Figure 3.7A**). Hence, our data show variation in the age of onset of sexbiased DNA methylation and different profiles in establishing sex difference in methylation, suggesting the involvement of several factors.

We observed changes in DNA methylation with age included but not limited to in sDMRs in gene bodies, which made it difficult to predict its association with gene transcription. To test if the timing of sex-biased expression of genes containing sDMRs coincides with sexbiased methylation, we performed gene expression analysis of four genes that harbor sDMRs. We observed some overlap between the timing of sex bias in DNA methylation and gene expression (**Figure 3.3 and 3.4**). The role of DNA methylation in intergenic regions on transcription is complex making the nature of their association hard to predict. Many of our male-biased sDMRs reside in enhancer regions (**Table 2.2**). Interestingly, in the mouse liver, lower methylation at enhancer elements occurs after birth and is required to establish postnatal gene expression patterns (Reizel et al., 2018). A survey of DNA methylation and expression in human tissues reveals a negative correlation between methylation and gene expression (Schultz et al., 2015). The correlation downstream TSS (Schultz et al., 2015).

4.3. Age-dependent change in DNA methylation in hermaphrodites

XY hermaphrodites showed female-like or intermediate methylation levels at 8 weeks (**Figure 3.5**). This could be due to the lower testosterone levels in hermaphrodites compared to males or the presence of ovaries (Houle & Taketo, 1992). As to my knowledge, the possible effect of ovaries on DNA methylation seen in our study has not been reported before. Hermaphrodites establish male-like methylation levels at 16 weeks (**Figure 3.5**). This could be an effect of prolonged testosterone exposure or the deterioration in ovarian function. These findings provide evidence that both testosterone and estrogen signaling contribute to sex-biased DNA methylation. The expression of three out of four sex-biased genes in hermaphrodites was not significantly different from males at 8 weeks (**Figure 3.6**).

4.4. The roles of sex hormone receptors in sex-biased DNA methylation

The effects of sex hormones on sex-biased DNA methylation may depend on the availability of their receptors, androgen and estrogen receptors (Zheng et al., 2018). We demonstrate that sex-phenotype dependent DNA methylation levels are influenced by testosterone signaling through AR and estrogen signaling through ESR1. We also find an interaction between those TFs, as the DNA methylation at the 6 sDMRs is affected by either AR or ESR1 loss (**Figure 3.8 and 3.10**). We also show that depletion of ESR1 decreases the expression of *Ar* in the female liver (**Figure 3.9**).

The effect of AR and ESR1 could be by direct binding to their target region and/or by more complex mechanisms. In the liver, only 26% and 15% of sex-biased differentially expressed genes have ESR1 and AR binding sites, respectively (Zheng et al., 2018). It is possible that AR and ESR1 action outside of the liver is contributing to sex-biased DNA methylation. In our mouse models, the ARKO mice have AR protein that is unable to bind to DNA (Notini et al., 2005). This suggests that the feminization of methylation patterns in the XY ARKO mice is due to the genomic activity of AR. However, the ESR1KO mice have a complete global depletion of ESR1, so the effect of ESR1 on methylation is caused by either the genomic or nongenomic ESR1 activity in both sexes (Hewitt et al., 2010). ESR1 regulates the secretion of gonadal hormones by a negative feedback mechanism on the pituitary and hypothalamus (Messinisi, 2006). Thus, it is possible that ESR1 action on the hypothalamic-pituitary-gonadal axis plays a role in establishing or maintaining sex bias in DNA methylation. It is also possible that AR and ESR1 influence other TFs that regulate DNA methylation.

Our recently published motif analysis shows enrichment of CUX2 and FOXA1 at autosomal sex-phenotype dependent sDMRs (Zhuang et al., 2020). CUX2 is a female-specific repressor of male-biased genes and activator of female-biased genes (Conforto et al., 2012; Sugathan & Waxman, 2013). ESR1 binds to multiple regions at the *Cux2* gene (Zheng et al., 2018). We show that *Cux2* expression is higher in females compared to males at 4 and 8 weeks (**Figure 3.7A**). Moreover, ESR1 depletion reduces the expression of *Cux2* in the adult female liver to a similar level to the male (**Figure 3.9**). Thus, the influence of ESR1 on DNA methylation at sDMRs could be mediated by CUX2. This interaction between ESR1 and CUX2 could explain the loss of both higher methylation at male-biased sDMRs and lower methylation at female-biased sDMRs in ESR1KO female liver.

FOXA1 is a pioneer TF with a pivotal role in liver development that is recruited to enhancer regions and associates with lower methylation (Reizel et al., 2020; Sahu et al., 2011). FOXA1 depletion reverses the lower methylation of its target sites, indicating a role of FOXA1 in changing DNA methylation levels (Zhang et al., 2016). This observation was confirmed by FOXA1 overexpression (Zhang et al., 2016). We show that the expression of *Foxa1* increases with age in both females and males, and sex-biased expression is seen at 4 weeks, but not in the adult liver (**Figure 3.7A**). Our data show that TFs involved in the regulation of sex differences in the liver have dynamic expression profiles, suggesting that sex-biased expression of TFs may be associated with sex-biased DNA methylation seen at different ages.

In this thesis, we selected a panel of 11 sDMRs for the study of developmental profiles, and 6 of these sDMRs for the study of sex hormones receptors, which may or may not capture the genomic profile of sex-biased DNA methylation. However, we selected sDMRs at different genomic regions to try to reflect the wider picture. We selected these sDMRs for their association with sex-biased expression of their nearby genes. Unfortunately, due to the high conservation between different genes from the same family, we validated the results of RNA-seq for three sDMR-proximal genes only. We tested the expression of one additional male-biased gene *Elovl3*, that also harbors an sDMR, but the methylation profile was not tested.

Chapter V: Conclusions and Future Directions

Conclusions

Based on our observations described in this thesis, we came to the following conclusions:

1- SDMRs that depend on the Y-chromosome presence are specific to the B6.TIR strain of mice.

2- Sex-biased DNA methylation and gene expression in mouse liver vary with age.

3- Hermaphrodites have female-like or intermediate methylation levels at sDMRs at 8 weeks, and they develop male-like methylation by 16 weeks. Hermaphrodites have male-like or intermediate expression levels of sex-biased differentially expressed genes at 8 weeks.

4- Signaling of gonadal sex hormones through their receptors contributes to sex-biased methylation in mouse liver. The genomic activity of AR in males contributes to both lower methylation and higher methylation at male-biased and female-biased sDMRs, respectively. ESR1 contributes to sex-biased methylation and expression. Loss of ESR1 induces loss/reduction of sex differences in DNA methylation at male-biased sDMRs by increasing methylation levels in males and decreasing methylation levels in females. At female-biased sDMRs, loss of ESR1 induces loss of sex bias in DNA methylation by increasing methylation in females.

Future Directions

We demonstrate that the signaling of sex hormones through their receptors influences sex-biased DNA methylation in the mouse liver. We used global androgen and estrogen receptor knockout mouse models, thus the effect of these receptors on DNA methylation might be outside the liver. It would be interesting to compare the results from the global knockout models to liver-specific knockouts. In our study, we show that ESR1 influences DNA methylation in both female and male livers. For the AR, we had only the XY KO. Therefore, in future studies, we can examine the effect of AR on sex-biased methylation in the liver of females.

Finally, we have shown that ESR1 loss influences both sex-bias in DNA methylation and gene expression. However, we did not test the expression of sex-biased genes in ARKO. Future work could examine the effect of AR loss on sex-biased gene expression in the mouse liver.

Chapter VI: References

References:

- Abdallah, M. A., Lei, Z. M., Li, X., Greenwold, N., Nakajima, S. T., Jauniaux, E., & Rao, C. V. (2004). Human Fetal Nongonadal Tissues Contain Human Chorionic Gonadotropin/ Luteinizing Hormone Receptors. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 89(2), 952–956. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2003-030917
- Abel, M. H., Baker, P. J., Charlton, H. M., Monteiro, A., Verhoeven, G., De Gendt, K., Guillou, F., & O'Shaughnessy, P. J. (2008). Spermatogenesis and sertoli cell activity in mice lacking sertoli cell receptors for follicle-stimulating hormone and androgen. *Endocrinology*, 149(7), 3279–3285. https://doi.org/10.1210/en.2008-0086
- Ahima, R. S., Dushay, J., Flier, S. N., Prabakaran, D., & Flier, J. S. (1997). Leptin accelerates the onset of puberty in normal female mice. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 99(3), 391–395. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI119172
- Alomar, M. J. (2014). Factors affecting the development of adverse drug reactions (Review article). In *Saudi Pharmaceutical Journal* (Vol. 22, Issue 2, pp. 83–94). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsps.2013.02.003
- Alton, M., Lau, M. P., Villemure, M., & Taketo, T. (2008). The behavior of the X- and Ychromosomes in the oocyte during meiotic prophase in the B6.YTIR sex-reversed mouse ovary. *Reproduction*, 135(2), 241–252. https://doi.org/10.1530/REP-07-0383
- Amar, A. P., & Weiss, M. H. (2003). Pituitary anatomy and physiology. In *Neurosurgery Clinics of North America* (Vol. 14, Issue 1, pp. 11–23). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1042-3680(02)00017-7
- Amleh, A., Smith, L., Chen, H. Y., & Taketo, T. (2000). Both nuclear and cytoplasmic components are defective in oocytes of the B6.Y(TIR) sex-reversed female mouse. *Developmental Biology*, 219(2), 277–286. https://doi.org/10.1006/dbio.1999.9600
- Anderson, G. D. (2005). Sex and Racial Differences in Pharmacological Response: Where Is the Evidence? Pharmacogenetics, Pharmacokinetics, and Pharmacodynamics. In *JOURNAL OF WOMEN'S HEALTH* (Vol. 14, Issue 1). www.liebertpub.com
- Anderson, G. D. (2008). Gender Differences in Pharmacological Response. In International Review of Neurobiology (Vol. 83, pp. 1–10). Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0074-7742(08)00001-9

- Andersson, A.-M., Toppari, J., Haavisto, A.-M., Petersen, J. H., Simell, T., Simell, O., & Skakkebæk, N. E. (1998). Longitudinal Reproductive Hormone Profiles in Infants: Peak of Inhibin B Levels in Infant Boys Exceeds Levels in Adult Men1. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 83(2), 675–681. https://doi.org/10.1210/jcem.83.2.4603
- Andersson, S., Bishop, R. W., & Russell, D. W. (1989). Expression cloning and regulation of steroid 5α-reductase, an enzyme essential for male sexual differentiation. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 264(27), 16249–16255. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0021-9258(18)71614-1
- Antequera, F., & Bird, A. (1993). Number of CpG islands and genes in human and mouse. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 90(24), 11995–11999. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.90.24.11995
- Aran, D., Sabato, S., & Hellman, A. (2013). DNA methylation of distal regulatory sites characterizes dysregulation of cancer genes. *Genome Biology*, 14(3). https://doi.org/10.1186/gb-2013-14-3-r21
- Arányi, T., & Tusnády, G. E. (2007). BiSearch: ePCR tool for native or bisulfite-treated genomic template. *Methods in Molecular Biology (Clifton, N.J.)*, 402, 385–402. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-59745-528-2_20
- Baker, M. E. (2002). Albumin, steroid hormones and the origin of vertebrates. *Journal of Endocrinology*, 175(1), 121–127. https://doi.org/10.1677/joe.0.1750121
- Balaton, B. P., Cotton, A. M., & Brown, C. J. (2015). Derivation of consensus inactivation status for X-linked genes from genome-wide studies. *Biology of Sex Differences*, 6(1), 35. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13293-015-0053-7
- Barres, R., Kirchner, H., Rasmussen, M., Yan, J., Kantor, F. R., Krook, A., Näslund, E., & Zierath, J. R. (2013). Weight Loss after Gastric Bypass Surgery in Human Obesity Remodels Promoter Methylation. *Cell Reports*, *3*(4), 1020–1027. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2013.03.018
- Barrès, R., Osler, M. E., Yan, J., Rune, A., Fritz, T., Caidahl, K., Krook, A., & Zierath, J. R. (2009). Non-CpG Methylation of the PGC-1α Promoter through DNMT3B Controls Mitochondrial Density. *Cell Metabolism*, 10(3), 189–198.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2009.07.011

- Beard, C., Li, E., & Jaenisch, R. (1995). Loss of methylation activates Xist in somatic but not in embryonic cells. *Genes and Development*, 9(19), 2325–2334. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.9.19.2325
- Beato, M. (1989). Gene regulation by steroid hormones. In *Cell* (Vol. 56, Issue 3, pp. 335–344). Cell. https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(89)90237-7
- Beato, M. (1993). Gene Regulation by Steroid Hormones. In *Gene Expression* (pp. 43–75). Birkhäuser Boston. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4684-6811-3_3
- Beeson, P. B. (1994). Age and sex associations of 40 autoimmune diseases. *The American Journal of Medicine*, *96*(5), 457–462. https://doi.org/10.1016/0002-9343(94)90173-2
- Bell, M. R. (2018). Comparing postnatal development of gonadal hormones and associated social behaviors in rats, mice, and humans. *Endocrinology*, 159(7), 2596–2613. https://doi.org/10.1210/en.2018-00220
- Bellott, D. W., Hughes, J. F., Skaletsky, H., Brown, L. G., Pyntikova, T., Cho, T. J., Koutseva, N., Zaghlul, S., Graves, T., Rock, S., Kremitzki, C., Fulton, R. S., Dugan, S., Ding, Y., Morton, D., Khan, Z., Lewis, L., Buhay, C., Wang, Q., ... Page, D. C. (2014). Mammalian y chromosomes retain widely expressed dosage-sensitive regulators. *Nature*, 508(7497), 494–499. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature13206
- Berger, S. L., Kouzarides, T., Shiekhattar, R., & Shilatifard, A. (2009). An operational definition of epigenetics. *Genes and Development*, 23(7), 781–783. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.1787609
- Berletch, J., Ma, W., Yang, F., Shendure, J., Noble, W. S., Disteche, C. M., & Deng, X. (2015). Escape from X Inactivation Varies in Mouse Tissues. *PLoS Genetics*, 11(3). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1005079
- Berletch, J., Yang, F., & Disteche, C. (2010). Escape from X inactivation in mice and humans. In *Genome Biology* (Vol. 11, Issue 6, pp. 1–7). BioMed Central. https://doi.org/10.1186/gb-2010-11-6-213
- Bestor, T. H. (1992). Activation of mammalian DNA methyltransferase by cleavage of a Zn binding regulatory domain. *EMBO Journal*, 11(7), 2611–2617. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.1460-2075.1992.tb05326.x

- Bigos, K. L., Pollock, B. G., Coley, K. C., Miller, D. D., Marder, S. R., Aravagiri, M., Kirshner, M. A., Schneider, L. S., & Bies, R. R. (2008). Sex, race, and smoking impact olanzapine exposure. *Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 48(2), 157–165. https://doi.org/10.1177/0091270007310385
- Bird, A., Taggart, M., Frommer, M., Miller, O. J., & Macleod, D. (1985). A fraction of the mouse genome that is derived from islands of nonmethylated, CpG-rich DNA. *Cell*, 40(1), 91–99. https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(85)90312-5
- Blewitt, M. E., Gendrel, A. V., Pang, Z., Sparrow, D. B., Whitelaw, N., Craig, J. M.,
 Apedaile, A., Hilton, D. J., Dunwoodie, S. L., Brockdorff, N., Kay, G. F., & Whitelaw,
 E. (2008). SmcHD1, containing a structural-maintenance-of-chromosomes hinge
 domain, has a critical role in X inactivation. *Nature Genetics*, 40(5), 663–669.
 https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.142
- Boudíková, B., Szumlanski, C., Maidak, B., & Weinshilboum, R. (1990). Human liver catechol-O-methyltransferase pharmacogenetics. *Clinical Pharmacology and Therapeutics*, 48(4), 381–389. https://doi.org/10.1038/clpt.1990.166
- Bourc'his, D., Xu, G. L., Lin, C. S., Bollman, B., & Bestor, T. H. (2001). Dnmt3L and the establishment of maternal genomic imprints. *Science*, 294(5551), 2536–2539. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1065848
- Breedlove, S. M., Jacobson, C. D., Gorski, R. A., & Arnold, A. P. (1982). Masculinization of the female rat spinal cord following a single neonatal injection of testosterone propionate but not estradiol benzoate. *Brain Research*, 237(1), 173–181. https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(82)90565-0
- Brinkmann, A. O. (2001). Molecular basis of androgen insensitivity. *Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology*, 179(1–2), 105–109. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0303-7207(01)00466-X
- Brinkmann, A. O. (2011). Molecular mechanisms of androgen action A historical perspective. In *Methods in Molecular Biology* (Vol. 776, pp. 3–24). Humana Press. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-61779-243-4_1
- Brockdorff, N., Ashworth, A., Kay, G. F., Cooper, P., Smith, S., McCabe, V. M., Norris, D.
 P., Penny, G. D., Patel, D., & Rastan, S. (1991). Conservation of position and exclusive expression of mouse Xist from the inactive X chromosome. *Nature*, 351(6324), 329–

331. https://doi.org/10.1038/351329a0

- Brown, C. J., Ballabio, A., Rupert, J. L., Lafreniere, R. G., Grompe, M., Tonlorenzi, R., & Willard, H. F. (1991). A gene from the region of the human X inactivation centre is expressed exclusively from the inactive X chromosome. *Nature*, *349*(6304), 38–44. https://doi.org/10.1038/349038a0
- Browning, J. D., Szczepaniak, L. S., Dobbins, R., Nuremberg, P., Horton, J. D., Cohen, J. C., Grundy, S. M., & Hobbs, H. H. (2004). Prevalence of hepatic steatosis in an urban population in the United States: Impact of ethnicity. *Hepatology*, 40(6), 1387–1395. https://doi.org/10.1002/hep.20466
- Bruch, H. R., Wolf, L., Budde, R., Romalo, G., & Schweikert, H. U. (1992).
 Androstenedione metabolism in cultured human osteoblast-like cells. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 75(1), 101–105.
 https://doi.org/10.1210/jcem.75.1.1618995
- Bruno, S., Maisonneuve, P., Castellana, P., Rotmensz, N., Rossi, S., Maggioni, M., Persico, M., Colombo, A., Monasterolo, F., Casadei-Giunchi, D., Desiderio, F., Straffolini, T., Sacchini, V., Decensi, A., & Veronesi, U. (2005). Incidence and risk factors for non-alcoholic steatohepatitis: Prospective study of 5408 women enrolled in Italian tamoxifen chemoprevention trial. *British Medical Journal*, *330*(7497), 932–935. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.38391.663287.E0
- Brunton, L., Parker, K., Blumenthal, D., & Buxton, I. (2008). Goodman and Gilman's Manual of Pharmacological Therapeutics. McGraw-Hill Professional Publishing. https://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/mcgill/reader.action?docID=4656899&ppg=60
- Bulun, S. E., Takayama, K., Suzuki, T., Sasano, H., Yilmaz, B., & Sebastian, S. (2004).
 Organization of the Human Aromatase P450 (CYP19) Gene. In *Seminars in Reproductive Medicine* (Vol. 22, Issue 1, pp. 5–9). Semin Reprod Med. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2004-823022
- Campanero, M. R., Armstrong, M. I., & Flemington, E. K. (2000). CpG methylation as a mechanism for the regulation of E2F activity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 97(12), 6481–6486. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.100340697

- Carey, M. P., Deterd, C. H., De Koning, J., Helmerhorst, F., & De Kloet, E. R. (1995). The influence of ovarian steroids on hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal regulation in the female rat. *Journal of Endocrinology*, 144(2), 311–321. https://doi.org/10.1677/joe.0.1440311
- Carlson, L. L., Page, A. W., & Bestor, T. H. (1992). Properties and localization of DNA methyltransferase in preimplantation mouse embryos: Implications for genomic imprinting. *Genes and Development*, 6(12 B), 2536–2541. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.6.12b.2536
- Caspary, T., Cleary, M. A., Baker, C. C., Guan, X.-J., & Tilghman, S. M. (1998). Multiple Mechanisms Regulate Imprinting of the Mouse Distal Chromosome 7 Gene Cluster. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 18(6), 3466–3474. https://doi.org/10.1128/mcb.18.6.3466
- Chassot, A. A., Ranc, F., Gregoire, E. P., Roepers-Gajadien, H. L., Taketo, M. M., Camerino, G., de Rooij, D. G., Schedl, A., & Chaboissier, M. C. (2008). Activation of β-catenin signaling by Rspo1 controls differentiation of the mammalian ovary. *Human Molecular Genetics*, *17*(9), 1264–1277. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddn016
- Chen, M. L., Lee, S. C., Ng, M. J., Schuirmann, D. J., Lesko, L. J., & Williams, R. L. (2000). Pharmacokinetic analysis of bioequivalence trials: Implications for sex-related issues in clinical pharmacology and biopharmaceutics. *Clinical Pharmacology and Therapeutics*, 68(5), 510–521. https://doi.org/10.1067/mcp.2000.111184
- Chen, T., Ueda, Y., Dodge, J. E., Wang, Z., & Li, E. (2003). Establishment and Maintenance of Genomic Methylation Patterns in Mouse Embryonic Stem Cells by Dnmt3a and Dnmt3b. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 23(16), 5594–5605. https://doi.org/10.1128/mcb.23.16.5594-5605.2003
- Cherrington, A. D. (1999). Control of glucose uptake and release by the liver in vivo. *Diabetes*, 48(5), 1198–1214. https://doi.org/10.2337/diabetes.48.5.1198
- Chitnis, S., Monteiro, J., Glass, D., Apatoff, B., Salmon, J., Concannon, P., & Gregersen, P.
 K. (2000). The role of X-chromosome inactivation in female predisposition to autoimmunity. *Arthritis Research*, 2(5), 399–406. https://doi.org/10.1186/ar118
- Cirio, M. C., Martel, J., Mann, M., Toppings, M., Bartolomei, M., Trasler, J., & Chaillet, J.R. (2008). DNA methyltransferase 10 functions during preimplantation development to

preclude a profound level of epigenetic variation. *Developmental Biology*, 324(1), 139–150. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2008.09.015

- Clarkson, J., & Herbison, A. E. (2016). Hypothalamic control of the male neonatal testosterone surge. In *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* (Vol. 371, Issue 1688). Royal Society of London. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2015.0115
- Coffigny, H., Bourgeois, C., Ricoul, M., Bernardino, J., Vilain, A., Niveleau, A., Malfoy, B., & Dutrillaux, B. (1999). Alterations of DNA methylation patterns in germ cells and Sertoli cells from developing mouse testis. *Cytogenetics and Cell Genetics*, 87(3–4), 175–181. https://doi.org/10.1159/000015460
- Conforto, T. L., Zhang, Y., Sherman, J., & Waxman, D. J. (2012). Impact of CUX2 on the Female Mouse Liver Transcriptome: Activation of Female-Biased Genes and Repression of Male-Biased Genes. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 32(22), 4611–4627. https://doi.org/10.1128/mcb.00886-12
- Cooper, D. N., & Gerber-Huber, S. (1985). DNA methylation and CpG suppression. *Cell Differentiation*, *17*(3), 199–205. https://doi.org/10.1016/0045-6039(85)90488-9
- Corbier, P., Edwards, D. A., & Roffi, J. (1992). The neonatal testosterone surge: A comparative study. Archives of Physiology and Biochemistry, 100(2), 127–131. https://doi.org/10.3109/13813459209035274
- Cotreau, M. M., Von Moltke, L. L., & Greenblatt, D. J. (2005). The influence of age and sex on the clearance of cytochrome P450 3A substrates. In *Clinical Pharmacokinetics* (Vol. 44, Issue 1, pp. 33–60). Clin Pharmacokinet. https://doi.org/10.2165/00003088-200544010-00002
- Court, M. H. (2010). Interindividual variability in hepatic drug glucuronidation: studies into the role of age, sex, enzyme inducers, and genetic polymorphism using the human liver bank as a model system. *Drug Metabolism Reviews*, 42(1). https://doi.org/10.3109/03602530903209288
- Court, M. H., Duan, S. X., Guillemette, C., Journault, K., Krishnaswamy, S., Von Moltke, L.
 L., & Greenblatt, D. J. (2002). Stereoselective conjugation of oxazepam by human UDPglucuronosyltransferases (UGTS): S-oxazepam is glucuronidated by UGT2B15, while

R-oxazepam is glucuronidated by UGT2B7 and UGT1A9. *Drug Metabolism and Disposition*, *30*(11), 1257–1265. https://doi.org/10.1124/dmd.30.11.1257

- Court, M. H., Hao, Q., Krishnaswamy, S., Bekaii-Saab, T., Al-Rohaimi, A., Von Moltke, L. L., & Greenblatt, D. J. (2004). UDP-glucuronosyltransferase (UGT) 2B15
 pharmacogenetics: UGT2B15 D85Y genotype and gender are major determinants of oxazepam glucuronidation by human liver. *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, *310*(2), 656–665. https://doi.org/10.1124/jpet.104.067660
- Couse, J., Yates, M., Walker, V., & Korach, K. (2003). Characterization of the Hypothalamic-Pituitary-Gonadal Axis in Estrogen Receptor (ER) Null Mice Reveals Hypergonadism and Endocrine Sex Reversal in Females Lacking ERα But Not ERβ. *Molecular Endocrinology*, *17*(6), 1039–1053. https://doi.org/10.1210/me.2002-0398
- Coward, P., Nagai, K., Chen, D., Thomas, H. D., Nagamine, C. M., & Lau, Y. F. C. (1994). Polymorphism of a CAG trinucleotide repeat within Sry correlates with B6.YDom sex reversal. *Nature Genetics*, 6(3), 245–250. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng0394-245
- Csankovszki, G., Nagy, A., & Jaenisch, R. (2001). Synergism of Xist RNA, DNA methylation, and histone hypoacetylation in maintaining X chromosome inactivation. *Journal of Cell Biology*, 153(4), 773–783. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.153.4.773
- Cummings, A. J., King, M. L., & Martin, B. K. (1967). A KINETIC STUDY OF DRUG ELIMINATION: THE EXCRETION OF PARACETAMOL AND ITS METABOLITES IN MANMETABOLITES IN MAN. *British Journal of Pharmacology* and Chemotherapy, 29(2), 150–157. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1476-5381.1967.tb01948.x
- Dahlet, T., Argüeso Lleida, A., Al Adhami, H., Dumas, M., Bender, A., Ngondo, R. P., Tanguy, M., Vallet, J., Auclair, G., Bardet, A. F., & Weber, M. (2020). Genome-wide analysis in the mouse embryo reveals the importance of DNA methylation for transcription integrity. *Nature Communications*, 11(1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-16919-w
- Daly, A. K., Armstrong, M., Monkman, S. C., Idle, M. E., & Idle, J. R. (1991). Genetic and metabolic criteria for the assignment of debrisoquine 4-hydroxylation (Cytochrome P4502D6) phenotypes. *Pharmacogenetics*, 1(1), 33–41. https://doi.org/10.1097/00008571-199110000-00006

- Davegårdh, C., Hall Wedin, E., Broholm, C., Henriksen, T. I., Pedersen, M., Pedersen, B. K., Scheele, C., & Ling, C. (2019). Sex influences DNA methylation and gene expression in human skeletal muscle myoblasts and myotubes. *Stem Cell Research & Therapy*, *10*(1), 26. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-018-1118-4
- Davey, R. A., & Grossmann, M. (2016). Androgen Receptor Structure, Function and Biology: From Bench to Bedside. *The Clinical Biochemist. Reviews*, 37(1), 3–15. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27057074
- Davis, T. L., Yang, G. J., McCarrey, J. R., & Bartolomei, M. S. (2000). The H19 methylation imprint is erased and re-established differentially on the parental alleles during male germ cell development. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 9(19), 2885–2894. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/9.19.2885
- Dawlaty, M. M., Breiling, A., Le, T., Raddatz, G., Barrasa, M. I., Cheng, A. W., Gao, Q., Powell, B. E., Li, Z., Xu, M., Faull, K. F., Lyko, F., & Jaenisch, R. (2013). Combined Deficiency of Tet1 and Tet2 Causes Epigenetic Abnormalities but Is Compatible with Postnatal Development. *Developmental Cell*, 24(3), 310–323. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2012.12.015
- Dawling, S., Roodi, N., Mernaugh, R. L., Wang, X., & Parl, F. F. (2001). Catechol-O-Methyltransferase (COMT)-mediated Metabolism of Catechol Estrogens: Comparison of Wild-Type and Variant COMT Isoforms 1.
- De Gendt, K., Swinnen, J. V., Saunders, P. T. K., Schoonjans, L., Dewerchin, M., Devos, A., Tan, K., Atanassova, N., Claessens, F., Lécureuil, C., Heyns, W., Carmeliet, P., Guillou, F., Sharpe, R. M., & Verhoeven, G. (2004). A Sertoli cell-selective knockout of the androgen receptor causes spermatogenic arrest in meiosis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 101(5), 1327–1332. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0308114100
- De Vos, P., Claessens, F., Winderickx, J., Van Dijck, P., Celis, L., Peeters, B., Rombauts, W., Heyns, W., & Verhoeven, G. (1991). Interaction of androgen response elements with the DNA-binding domain of the rat androgen receptor expressed in Escherichia coli. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 266(6), 3439–3443. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/1995608/

de Vries, S. T., Denig, P., Ekhart, C., Burgers, J. S., Kleefstra, N., Mol, P. G. M., & van

Puijenbroek, E. P. (2019). Sex differences in adverse drug reactions reported to the National Pharmacovigilance Centre in the Netherlands: An explorative observational study. *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 85(7), 1507–1515. https://doi.org/10.1111/bcp.13923

- Deaton, A. M., & Bird, A. (2011). CpG islands and the regulation of transcription. *Genes and Development*, 25(10), 1010–1022. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.2037511
- Deegan, D. F., Karbalaei, R., Madzo, J., Kulathinal, R. J., & Engel, N. (2019). The developmental origins of sex-biased expression in cardiac development. *Biology of Sex Differences*, 10(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13293-019-0259-1
- Delić, D., Gailus, N., Vohr, H. W., Dkhil, M., Al-Quraishy, S., & Wunderlich, F. (2010).
 Testosterone-induced permanent changes of hepatic gene expression in female mice sustained during Plasmodium chabaudi malaria infection. *Journal of Molecular Endocrinology*, 45(6), 379–390. https://doi.org/10.1677/JME-10-0026
- Döhler, K. D., Coquelin, A., Davis, F., Hines, M., Shryne, J. E., & Gorski, R. A. (1984). Preand postnatal influence of testosterone propionate and diethylstilbestrol on differentiation of the sexually dimorphic nucleus of the preoptic area in male and female rats. *Brain Research*, 302(2), 291–295. https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(84)90242-7
- Doskočil, J., & Šorm, F. (1962). Distribution of 5-methylcytosine in pyrimidine sequences of deoxyribonucleic acids. BBA - Biochimica et Biophysica Acta, 55(6), 953–959. https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-3002(62)90909-5
- Dupont, S., Krust, A., Gansmuller, A., Dierich, A., Chambon, P., & Mark, M. (2000). Effect of single and compound knockouts of estrogen receptors alpha (ERalpha) and beta (ERbeta) on mouse reproductive phenotypes. *Development*, 127(19), 4277 LP – 4291. http://dev.biologists.org/content/127/19/4277.abstract
- Dutta, S., Mark-Kappeler, C. J., Hoyer, P. B., & Pepling, M. E. (2014). The steroid hormone environment during primordial follicle formation in perinatal mouse ovaries. *Biology of Reproduction*, 91(3). https://doi.org/10.1095/biolreprod.114.119214
- Edwards, J. R., O'Donnell, A. H., Rollins, R. A., Peckham, H. E., Lee, C., Milekic, M. H., Chanrion, B., Fu, Y., Su, T., Hibshoosh, H., Gingrich, J. A., Haghighi, F., Nutter, R., & Bestor, T. H. (2010). Chromatin and sequence features that define the fine and gross

structure of genomic methylation patterns. *Genome Research*, 20(7), 972–980. https://doi.org/10.1101/gr.101535.109

- Edwards, J. R., Yarychkivska, O., Boulard, M., & Bestor, T. H. (2017). DNA methylation and DNA methyltransferases. In *Epigenetics and Chromatin* (Vol. 10, Issue 1). BioMed Central Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13072-017-0130-8
- Ehrlich, M., Gama-Sosa, M. A., Huang, L. H., Midgett, R. M., Kuo, K. C., Mccune, R. A., & Gehrke, C. (1982). Amount and distribution of 5-methylcytosine in human DNA from different types of tissues or cells. *Nucleic Acids Research*, *10*(8), 2709–2721. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/10.8.2709
- Eicher, E. M., Washburn, L. L., Whitney, J. B., & Morrow, K. E. (1982). Mus poschiavinus Y chromosome in the C57BL/6J murine genome causes sex reversal. *Science*, 217(4559), 535–537. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.7089579
- Ekberg, K., Landau, B. R., Wajngot, A., Chandramouli, V., Efendic, S., Brunengraber, H., & Wahren, J. (1999). Contributions by kidney and liver to glucose production in the postabsorptive state and after 60 h of fasting. *Diabetes*, 48(2), 292–298. https://doi.org/10.2337/diabetes.48.2.292
- Ekhart, C., van Hunsel, F., Scholl, J., de Vries, S., & van Puijenbroek, E. (2018). Sex Differences in Reported Adverse Drug Reactions of Selective Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitors. *Drug Safety*, 41(7), 677–683. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40264-018-0646-2
- El-Maarri, O., Becker, T., Junen, J., Manzoor, S. S., Diaz-Lacava, A., Schwaab, R., Wienker, T., & Oldenburg, J. (2007). Gender specific differences in levels of DNA methylation at selected loci from human total blood: A tendency toward higher methylation levels in males. *Human Genetics*, 122(5), 505–514. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00439-007-0430-3
- El-Maarri, O., Walier, M., Behne, F., van Üüm, J., Singer, H., Diaz-Lacava, A., Nüsgen, N., Niemann, B., Watzka, M., Reinsberg, J., van der Ven, H., Wienker, T., Stoffel-Wagner, B., Schwaab, R., & Oldenburg, J. (2011). Methylation at global LINE-1 repeats in human blood are affected by gender but not by age or natural hormone cycles. *PLoS ONE*, *6*(1). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0016252
- Enmark, E., Pelto-Huikko, M., Grandien, K., Lagercrantz, S., Lagercrantz, J., Fried, G., Nordenskjöld, M., & Gustafsson, J. Å. (1997). Human estrogen receptor β-gene

structure, chromosomal localization, and expression pattern. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 82(12), 4258–4265. https://doi.org/10.1210/jcem.82.12.4470

- Eyster, K. M., Mark, C. J., Gayle, R., & Martin, D. S. (2007). The effects of estrogen and testosterone on gene expression in the rat mesenteric arteries. *Vascular Pharmacology*, 47(4), 238–247. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vph.2007.06.007
- Fagerberg, L., Hallstrom, B. M., Oksvold, P., Kampf, C., Djureinovic, D., Odeberg, J.,
 Habuka, M., Tahmasebpoor, S., Danielsson, A., Edlund, K., Asplund, A., Sjostedt, E.,
 Lundberg, E., Szigyarto, C. A. K., Skogs, M., Ottosson Takanen, J., Berling, H., Tegel,
 H., Mulder, J., ... Uhlen, M. (2014). Analysis of the human tissue-specific expression by
 genome-wide integration of transcriptomics and antibody-based proteomics. *Molecular and Cellular Proteomics*, *13*(2), 397–406. https://doi.org/10.1074/mcp.M113.035600
- Fatemi, M., Hermann, A., Gowher, H., & Jeltsch, A. (2002). Dnmt3a and Dnmt1 functionally cooperate during de novo methylation of DNA. *European Journal of Biochemistry*, 269(20), 4981–4984. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1432-1033.2002.03198.x
- Fattinger, K., Roos, M., Vergères, P., Holenstein, C., Kind, B., Masche, U., Stocker, D. N., Braunschweig, S., Kullak-Ublick, G. A., Galeazzi, R. L., Follath, F., Gasser, T., & Meier, P. J. (2000). Epidemiology of drug exposure and adverse drug reactions in two Swiss departments of internal medicine. *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 49(2), 158–167. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2125.2000.00132.x
- Florentino, G. S. de A., Cotrim, H. P., Vilar, C. P., Florentino, A. V. de A., Guimarães, G. M. A., & Barreto, V. S. T. (2013). Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in menopausal women. *Arq Gastroenterol*, 50(3), 180–185. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0004-28032013000200032
- Foradori, C. D., Weiser, M. J., & Handa, R. J. (2008). Non-genomic actions of androgens. In *Frontiers in Neuroendocrinology* (Vol. 29, Issue 2, pp. 169–181). Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yfrne.2007.10.005
- Ford, C. E., Jones, K. W., Polani, P. E., De Almeida, J. C., & Briggs, J. H. (1959). A SEX-CHROMOSOME ANOMALY IN A CASE OF GONADAL DYSGENESIS (TURNER'S SYNDROME). *The Lancet*, 273(7075), 711–713. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(59)91893-8

- Forest, M., De peretti, E., & Bertrand, J. (1976). Hpothalamic-pituitary-gonadal Relationships in Man From Birth to Puberty. In *Clinical Endocrinology* (Vol. 5, Issue 5, pp. 551–569). Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2265.1976.tb01985.x
- Forest, M. G., Sizonenko, P. C., Cathiard, A. M., & Bertrand, J. (1974). Hypophyso gonadal function in humans during the first year of life. I. Evidence for testicular activity in early infancy. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 53(3), 819–828. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI107621
- Franconi, F., Brunelleschi, S., Steardo, L., & Cuomo, V. (2007). Gender differences in drug responses. In *Pharmacological Research* (Vol. 55, Issue 2, pp. 81–95). Pharmacol Res. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phrs.2006.11.001
- Gahurova, L., Tomizawa, S. ichi, Smallwood, S. A., Stewart-Morgan, K. R., Saadeh, H., Kim, J., Andrews, S. R., Chen, T., & Kelsey, G. (2017). Transcription and chromatin determinants of de novo DNA methylation timing in oocytes. *Epigenetics and Chromatin*, 10(1), 25. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13072-017-0133-5
- García-Calzón, S., Perfilyev, A., de Mello, V. D., Pihlajamäki, J., & Ling, C. (2018). Sex differences in the methylome and transcriptome of the human liver and circulating HDLcholesterol levels. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 103(12), 4395– 4408. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2018-00423
- Gardiner-Garden, M., & Frommer, M. (1987). CpG Islands in vertebrate genomes. *Journal of Molecular Biology*, 196(2), 261–282. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-2836(87)90689-9
- Gardiner, J., & Swain, A. (2015). Sex determination and differentiation. In T. Plant & A. Zeleznik (Eds.), *Knobil and Neill's Physiology of Reproduction* (4th ed., Vol. 1, pp. 267–292). Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-012515400-0/50011-7
- Gatti, D. M., Zhao, N., Chesler, E. J., Bradford, B. U., Shabalin, A. A., Yordanova, R., Lu, L., & Rusyn, I. (2010). Sex-specific gene expression in the BXD mouse liver. *Physiological Genomics*, 42(3), 456–468.
 https://doi.org/10.1152/physiolgenomics.00110.2009
- Gennari, L., Nuti, R., & Bilezikian, J. P. (2004). Aromatase activity and bone homeostasis in men. In *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism* (Vol. 89, Issue 12, pp.

5898–5907). J Clin Endocrinol Metab. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2004-1717

- Gill, A., Jamnongjit, M., & Hammes, S. R. (2004). Androgens Promote Maturation and Signaling in Mouse Oocytes Independent of Transcription: A Release of Inhibition Model for Mammalian Oocyte Meiosis. *Molecular Endocrinology*, 18(1), 97–104. https://doi.org/10.1210/me.2003-0326
- Giuili, G., Shen, W. H., & Ingraham, H. A. (1997). The nuclear receptor SF-1 mediates sexually dimorphic expression of Mullerian Inhibiting Substance, in vivo. *Development*, 124(9), 1799 LP – 1807. http://dev.biologists.org/content/124/9/1799.abstract
- Goll, M. G., Kirpekar, F., Maggert, K. A., Yoder, J. A., Hsieh, C. L., Zhang, X., Golic, K. G., Jacobsen, S. E., & Bestor, T. H. (2006). Methylation of tRNAAsp by the DNA methyltransferase homolog Dnmt2. *Science*, *311*(5759), 395–398. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1120976
- Goodfellow, P. N., & Lovell-Badge, R. (1993). SRY and sex determination in mammals. In Annual Review of Genetics (Vol. 27, pp. 71–92). Annu Rev Genet. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ge.27.120193.000443
- Goodman, H. M. (2009). Hormonal Control of Reproduction in the Female. In *Basic Medical Endocrinology* (pp. 257–275). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-373975-9.00013-6
- Gowher, H., Stockdale, C. J., Goyal, R., Ferreira, H., Owen-Hughes, T., & Jeltsch, A. (2005).
 De novo methylation of nucleosomal DNA by the mammalian Dnmt1 and Dnmt3A
 DNA methyltransferases. *Biochemistry*, 44(29), 9899–9904.
 https://doi.org/10.1021/bi047634t
- Greenblatt, D. J., Divoll, M., Harmatz, J. S., & Shader, R. I. (1980). Oxazepam kinetics: effects of age and sex. *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, 215(1).
- Greenblatt, D., & Von Moltke, L. (2008). Gender has a small but statistically significant effect on clearance of CYP3A substrate drugs. *Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 48(11), 1350–1355. https://doi.org/10.1177/0091270008323754
- Grimm, S. A., Shimbo, T., Takaku, M., Thomas, J. W., Auerbach, S., Bennett, B. D., Bucher, J. R., Burkholder, A. B., Day, F., Du, Y., Duncan, C. G., French, J. E., Foley, J. F., Li,

J., Merrick, B. A., Tice, R. R., Wang, T., Xu, X., Barnabas, B. B., ... Wade, P. A. (2019). DNA methylation in mice is influenced by genetics as well as sex and life experience. *Nature Communications*, *10*(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-08067-z

- Grino, P. B., Griffin, J. E., & Wilson, J. D. (1990). Testosterone at high concentrations interacts with the human androgen receptor similarly to dihydrotestosterone. *Endocrinology*, 126(2), 1165–1172. https://doi.org/10.1210/endo-126-2-1165
- Gu, T. P., Guo, F., Yang, H., Wu, H. P., Xu, G. F., Liu, W., Xie, Z. G., Shi, L., He, X., Jin, S. G., Iqbal, K., Shi, Y. G., Deng, Z., Szabó, P. E., Pfeifer, G. P., Li, J., & Xu, G. L. (2011). The role of Tet3 DNA dioxygenase in epigenetic reprogramming by oocytes. *Nature*, 477(7366), 606–612. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature10443
- Gubbay, J., Collignon, J., Koopman, P., Capel, B., Economou, A., Münsterberg, A., Vivian, N., Goodfellow, P., & Lovell-Badge, R. (1990). A gene mapping to the sex-determining region of the mouse Y chromosome is a member of a novel family of embryonically expressed genes. *Nature*, 346(6281), 245–250. https://doi.org/10.1038/346245a0
- Guibert, S., Forné, T., & Weber, M. (2012). Global profiling of DNA methylation erasure in mouse primordial germ cells. *Genome Research*, 22(4), 633–641. https://doi.org/10.1101/gr.130997.111
- Guldberg, H. C., & Marsden, C. A. (1975). Catechol-O-Methyl Transferase: Pharmacological Aspects and Physiological Role. *Pharmacological Reviews*, 27(2).
- Gunsalus, G. L., Musto, N. A., & Bardin, C. W. (1978). Immunoassay of androgen binding protein in blood: A new approach for study of the seminiferous tubule. *Science*, 200(4337), 65–66. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.635573
- Guo, H., Zhu, P., Yan, L., Li, R., Hu, B., Lian, Y., Yan, J., Ren, X., Lin, S., Li, J., Jin, X.,
 Shi, X., Liu, P., Wang, X., Wang, W., Wei, Y., Li, X., Guo, F., Wu, X., ... Qiao, J.
 (2014). The DNA methylation landscape of human early embryos. *Nature*, *511*(7511),
 606–610. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature13544
- Hacker, A., Capel, B., Goodfellow, P., & Lovell-Badge, R. (1995). Expression of Sry, the mouse sex determining gene. *Development*, 121(6), 1603 LP – 1614. http://dev.biologists.org/content/121/6/1603.abstract

Hackett, J. A., Reddington, J. P., Nestor, C. E., Dunican, D. S., Branco, M. R., Reichmann, J.,

Reik, W., Surani, M. A., Adams, I. R., & Meehan, R. R. (2012). Promoter DNA methylation couples genome-defence mechanisms to epigenetic reprogramming in the mouse germline. *Development (Cambridge)*, *139*(19), 3623–3632. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.081661

- Hajkova, P., Ancelin, K., Waldmann, T., Lacoste, N., Lange, U. C., Cesari, F., Lee, C., Almouzni, G., Schneider, R., & Surani, M. A. (2008). Chromatin dynamics during epigenetic reprogramming in the mouse germ line. *Nature*, 452(7189), 877–881. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature06714
- Hajkova, P., Erhardt, S., Lane, N., Haaf, T., El-Maarri, O., Reik, W., Walter, J., & Surani, M.
 A. (2002). Epigenetic reprogramming in mouse primordial germ cells. *Mechanisms of Development*, *117*(1–2), 15–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0925-4773(02)00181-8
- Hall, E., Volkov, P., Dayeh, T., Esguerra, J. L. o. S., Salö, S., Eliasson, L., Rönn, T., Bacos, K., & Ling, C. (2014). Sex differences in the genome-wide DNA methylation pattern and impact on gene expression, microRNA levels and insulin secretion in human pancreatic islets. *Genome Biology*, *15*(12), 522. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13059-014-0522-z
- Hall, J. (2010). Reproductive and Hormonal Functions of the Male (and Function of the Pineal Gland)- ClinicalKey. In *Guyton and Hall Textbook of Medical Physiology* (12th ed., pp. 979–983). Elsevier Inc. https://www-clinicalkeycom.proxy3.library.mcgill.ca/#!/content/3-s2.0-B9780323597128000813?scrollTo=%23hl0000322
- Hamilton, K. J., Arao, Y., & Korach, K. S. (2014). Estrogen hormone physiology:
 Reproductive findings from estrogen receptor mutant mice. In *Reproductive Biology* (Vol. 14, Issue 1, pp. 3–8). Elsevier B.V. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.repbio.2013.12.002
- Harley, V. R., Jackson, D. I., Hextall, P. J., Hawkins, J. R., Berkovitz, G. D., Sockanathan,
 S., Lovell-Badge, R., & Goodfellow, P. N. (1992). DNA binding activity of recombinant
 SRY from normal males and XY females. *Science*, 255(5043), 453–456.
 https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1734522
- Harris, H. A. (2007). Estrogen receptor-β: Recent lessons from in vivo studies. In *Molecular Endocrinology* (Vol. 21, Issue 1, pp. 1–13). Mol Endocrinol. https://doi.org/10.1210/me.2005-0459

- Hata, K., Okano, M., Lei, H., & Li, E. (2002). Dnmt3L cooperates with the Dnmt3 family of de novo DNA methyltransferases to establish maternal imprints in mice. *Development*, *129*(8), 1983 LP – 1993. http://dev.biologists.org/content/129/8/1983.abstract
- He, Y. F., Li, B. Z., Li, Z., Liu, P., Wang, Y., Tang, Q., Ding, J., Jia, Y., Chen, Z., Li, N., Sun, Y., Li, X., Dai, Q., Song, C. X., Zhang, K., He, C., & Xu, G. L. (2011). Tetmediated formation of 5-carboxylcytosine and its excision by TDG in mammalian DNA. *Science*, 333(6047), 1303–1307. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1210944
- Heine, P. A., Taylor, J. A., Iwamoto, G. A., Lubahn, D. B., & Cooke, P. S. (2000). Increased adipose tissue in male and female estrogen receptor-α knockout mice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 97(23), 12729– 12734. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.97.23.12729
- Hellman, A., & Chess, A. (2007). Gene body-specific methylation on the active X chromosome. *Science*, *315*(5815), 1141–1143. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1136352
- Henley, D. V., Lindzey, J., & Korach, K. S. (2005). Steroid hormones. In *Endocrinology: Basic and Clinical Principles: Second Edition* (pp. 49–65). Humana Press. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-59259-829-8_4
- Hermann, A., Schmitt, S., & Jeltsch, A. (2003). The human Dnmt2 has residual DNA-(Cytosine-C5) methyltransferase activity. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 278(34), 31717–31721. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M305448200
- Hernández-Muñoz, I., Lund, A. H., Van Der Stoop, P., Boutsma, E., Muijrers, I., Verhoeven, E., Nusinow, D. A., Panning, B., Marahrens, Y., & Van Lohuizen, M. (2005). Stable X chromosome inactivation involves the PRC1 Polycomb complex and requires histone MACROH2A1 and the CULLIN3/SPOP ubiquitin E3 ligase. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 102(21), 7635–7640. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0408918102
- Hess, R. A., Bunick, D., Lee, K. H., Bahr, J., Taylor, J. A., Korach, K. S., & Lubahn, D. B. (1997). A role for oestrogens in the male reproductive system. *Nature*, 390(6659), 509– 512. https://doi.org/10.1038/37352
- Hewitt, S. C., Kissling, G. E., Fieselman, K. E., Jayes, F. L., Gerrish, K. E., & Korach, K. S. (2010). Biological and biochemical consequences of global deletion of exon 3 from the

ERa gene. *The FASEB Journal*, 24(12), 4660–4667. https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.10-163428

- Hewitt, S. C., Winuthayanon, W., & Korach, K. S. (2016). What's new in estrogen receptor action in the female reproductive tract. In *Journal of Molecular Endocrinology* (Vol. 56, Issue 2, pp. R55–R71). BioScientifica Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1530/JME-15-0254
- Hirasawa, R., Chiba, H., Kaneda, M., Tajima, S., Li, E., Jaenisch, R., & Sasaki, H. (2008).
 Maternal and zygotic Dnmt1 are necessary and sufficient for the maintenance of DNA methylation imprints during preimplantation development. *Genes and Development*, 22(12), 1607–1616. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.1667008
- Hiura, H., Obata, Y., Komiyama, J., Shirai, M., & Kono, T. (2006). Oocyte growthdependent progression of maternal imprinting in mice. *Genes to Cells*, 11(4), 353–361. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2443.2006.00943.x
- Ho, B., Greenlaw, K., Al Tuwaijri, A., Moussette, S., Martínez, F., Giorgio, E., Brusco, A., Ferrero, G. B., Linhares, N. D., Valadares, E. R., Svartman, M., Kalscheuer, V. M., Rodríguez Criado, G., Laprise, C., Greenwood, C. M. T., & Naumova, A. K. (2018). X chromosome dosage and presence of SRY shape sex-specific differences in DNA methylation at an autosomal region in human cells. *Biology of Sex Differences*, 9(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13293-018-0169-7
- Holliday, R., & Pugh, J. E. (1975). DNA modification mechanisms and gene activity during development. *Science*, 187(4173), 226–232. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.187.4173.226
- Hotchkiss, R. D. (1948). The quantitative separation of purines, pyrimidines, and nucleosides by paper chromatography. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 175(1), 315–332. https://europepmc.org/article/med/18873306
- Houle, A. M., & Taketo, T. (1992). True hermaphrodites: an experimental model in the mouse. *The Journal of Urology*, 148(2 Pt 2), 672–676. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0022-5347(17)36689-2
- Howlett, S. K., & Reik, W. (1991). Methylation levels of maternal and paternal genomes during preimplantation development. *Development*, *113*(1).

Huang, J., Zhang, L., Deng, H., Chang, L., Liu, Q., & Liu, P. (2015). Global transcriptome

analysis of peripheral blood identifies the most significantly down-regulated genes associated with metabolism regulation in Klinefelter syndrome. *Molecular Reproduction and Development*, 82(1), 17–25. https://doi.org/10.1002/mrd.22438

- Iguchi-Ariga, S. M., & Schaffner, W. (1989). CpG methylation of the cAMP-responsive enhancer/promoter sequence TGACGTCA abolishes specific factor binding as well as transcriptional activation. *Genes & Development*, 3(5), 612–619. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.3.5.612
- Illingworth, R. S., Gruenewald-Schneider, U., Webb, S., Kerr, A. R. W., James, K. D., Turner, D. J., Smith, C., Harrison, D. J., Andrews, R., & Bird, A. P. (2010). Orphan CpG Islands Identify numerous conserved promoters in the mammalian genome. *PLoS Genetics*, 6(9). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1001134
- Iqbal, K., Jin, S. G., Pfeifer, G. P., & Szabó, P. E. (2011). Reprogramming of the paternal genome upon fertilization involves genome-wide oxidation of 5-methylcytosine. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 108(9), 3642–3647. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1014033108
- Irizarry, R. A., Ladd-Acosta, C., Wen, B., Wu, Z., Montano, C., Onyango, P., Cui, H., Gabo, K., Rongione, M., Webster, M., Ji, H., Potash, J. B., Sabunciyan, S., & Feinberg, A. P. (2009). The human colon cancer methylome shows similar hypo- and hypermethylation at conserved tissue-specific CpG island shores. *Nature Genetics*, 41(2), 178–186. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.298
- Jancova, P., Anzenbacher, P., & Anzenbacherova, E. (2010). *PHASE II DRUG METABOLIZING ENZYMES* (Vol. 154, Issue 2).
- Jänne, M., Deol, H. K., Power, S. G. A., Yee, S. P., & Hammond, G. L. (1998). Human sex hormone-binding globulin gene expression in transgenic mice. *Molecular Endocrinology*, 12(1), 123–136. https://doi.org/10.1210/mend.12.1.0050
- Jansen, R., Batista, S., Brooks, A. I., Tischfield, J. A., Willemsen, G., Van Grootheest, G., Hottenga, J. J., Milaneschi, Y., Mbarek, H., Madar, V., Peyrot, W., Vink, J. M., Verweij, C. L., de Geus, E. J. C., Smit, J. H., Wright, F. A., Sullivan, P. F., Boomsma, D. I., & Penninx, B. W. J. H. (2014). Sex differences in the human peripheral blood transcriptome. *BMC Genomics*, *15*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2164-15-33

- Jansson, J. O., Edén, S., & Isaksson, O. (1985). Sexual dimorphism in the control of growth hormone secretion. *Endocrine Reviews*, 6(2), 128–150. https://doi.org/10.1210/edrv-6-2-128
- Jarukamjorn, K., Sakuma, T., & Nemoto, N. (2002). Sexual dimorphic expression of mouse hepatic CYP2B: Alterations during development or after hypophysectomy. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, 63(11), 2037–2041. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-2952(02)00989-9
- Jeays-Ward, K., Hoyle, C., Brennan, J., Dandonneau, M., Alldus, G., Capel, B., & Swain, A. (2003). Endothelial and steroidogenic cell migration are regulated by WNT4 in the developing mammalian gonad. *Development*, 130(16), 3663–3670. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.00591
- Jeske, Y. W. A., Bowles, J., Greenfield, A., & Koopman, P. (1995). Expression of a linear Sry transcript in the mouse genital ridge. *Nature Genetics*, 10(4), 480–482. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng0895-480
- Jia, D., Jurkowska, R. Z., Zhang, X., Jeltsch, A., & Cheng, X. (2007). Structure of Dnmt3a bound to Dnmt3L suggests a model for de novo DNA methylation. *Nature*, 449(7159), 248–251. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature06146
- Jones, M., Thorburn, A., Britt, K., Hewitt, K., Wreford, N., Proietto, J., Oz, O., Leury, B., Robertson, K., Yao, S., & Simpson, E. (2000). Aromatase-deficient (ArKO) mice have a phenotype of increased adiposity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 97(23), 12735–12740. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.97.23.12735
- Jones, P. (2012). Functions of DNA methylation: Islands, start sites, gene bodies and beyond. In *Nature Reviews Genetics* (Vol. 13, Issue 7, pp. 484–492). Nat Rev Genet. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg3230
- Josse, J., Kaiser, A. D., & Kornberg, A. (1961). Enzymatic Synthesis of Deoxyribonucleic Acid VIII. FREQUENCIES OF NEAREST NEIGHBOR BASE SEQUENCES IN DEOXYRIBONUCLEIC ACID. In *THE JOURNAL OF BIOLOQICA~*, *CHEMISTRY* (Vol. 236, Issue 3). http://www.jbc.org/
- Juchau, M., & Chen, H. (1998). Developmental Enzymology. In Handbook of Developmental Neurotoxicology (pp. 321–337). Academic press. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-

012648860-9.50023-6

- Kafri, T., Ariel, M., Brandeis, M., Shemer, R., Urven, L., McCarrey, J., Cedar, H., & Razin, A. (1992). Developmental pattern of gene-specific DNA methylation in the mouse embryo and germ line. *Genes and Development*, 6(5), 705–714. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.6.5.705
- Kalin, M. F., & Zumoff, B. (1990). Sex hormones and coronary disease: a review of the clinical studies. In *Steroids* (Vol. 55, Issue 8, pp. 330–352). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/0039-128X(90)90058-J
- Kaneda, M., Okano, M., Hata, K., Sado, T., Tsujimoto, H., Li, E., & Sasaki, H. (2004). Essential role for de novo DNA methyltransferase Dnmt3a in paternal and maternal imprinting. *Nature*, 429(6994), 900–903. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature02633
- Kang, H. J., Kawasawa, Y. I., Cheng, F., Zhu, Y., Xu, X., Li, M., Sousa, A. M. M., Pletikos, M., Meyer, K. A., Sedmak, G., Guennel, T., Shin, Y., Johnson, M. B., Krsnik, Ž., Mayer, S., Fertuzinhos, S., Umlauf, S., Lisgo, S. N., Vortmeyer, A., ... Šestan, N. (2011). Spatio-temporal transcriptome of the human brain. *Nature*, 478(7370), 483–489. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature10523
- Kay, G. F., Penny, G. D., Patel, D., Ashworth, A., Brockdorff, N., & Rastan, S. (1993).
 Expression of Xist during mouse development suggests a role in the initiation of X chromosome inactivation. *Cell*, 72(2), 171–182. https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(93)90658-D
- Kennedy, M. J. (2008). Hormonal Regulation of Hepatic Drug Metabolizing Enzyme Activity During Adolescence. *Clinical Pharmacology and Therapeutics*, 84(6), 662– 673. https://doi.org/10.1038/clpt.2008.202
- Kim, Y., Kobayashi, A., Sekido, R., DiNapoli, L., Brennan, J., Chaboissier, M.-C., Poulat, F., Behringer, R. R., Lovell-Badge, R., & Capel, B. (2006). Fgf9 and Wnt4 Act as Antagonistic Signals to Regulate Mammalian Sex Determination. *PLoS Biology*, 4(6), e187. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.0040187
- Kishikawa, S., Murata, T., Ugai, H., Yamazaki, T., & Yokoyama, K. K. (2003). Control elements of Dnmt1 gene are regulated in cell-cycle dependent manner. *Nucleic Acids Research. Supplement* (2001), 3, 307–308. https://doi.org/10.1093/nass/3.1.307

- Klein-Hitpaß, L., Schorpp, M., Wagner, U., & Ryffel, G. U. (1986). An estrogen-responsive element derived from the 5' flanking region of the Xenopus vitellogenin A2 gene functions in transfected human cells. *Cell*, 46(7), 1053–1061. https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(86)90705-1
- Klein, S. (2000). The effects of hormones on sex differences in infection: From genes to behavior. In *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews* (Vol. 24, Issue 6, pp. 627–638). Elsevier Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0149-7634(00)00027-0
- Klein, S. L., & Flanagan, K. L. (2016). Sex differences in immune responses. In *Nature Reviews Immunology* (Vol. 16, Issue 10, pp. 626–638). Nature Publishing Group. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri.2016.90
- Klinge, C. M. (2000). Estrogen receptor interaction with co-activators and co-repressors. In *Steroids* (Vol. 65, Issue 5, pp. 227–251). Steroids. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0039-128X(99)00107-5
- Klover, P. J., & Mooney, R. A. (2004). Hepatocytes: Critical for glucose homeostasis. In *International Journal of Biochemistry and Cell Biology* (Vol. 36, Issue 5, pp. 753–758). Elsevier Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocel.2003.10.002
- Knochenhauer, E., Boots, L., Downing Potter, H., & Azziz, R. (1998). Differential binding of and testosterone to SHBG: Relation to circulating estradiol levels. *Journal of Reproductive Medicine for the Obstetrician and Gynecologist*, *43*(8), 665–670. https://europepmc.org/article/med/9749416
- Koike, S., Sakai, M., & Muramatsu, M. (1987). Molecular cloning and charcterization of rat estrogen receptor cDNA. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 15(6), 2499–2513. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/15.6.2499
- Kono, T., Obata, Y., Yoshimzu, T., Nakahara, T., & Carroll, J. (1996). Epigenetic modifications during oocyte growth correlates with extended parthenogenetic development in the mouse. *Nature Genetics*, *13*(1), 91–94. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng0596-91
- Koopman, P., Gubbay, J., Vivian, N., Goodfellow, P., & Lovell-Badge, R. (1991). Male development of chromosomally female mice transgenic for Sry. *Nature*, 351(6322), 117–121. https://doi.org/10.1038/351117a0

- Koopman, P., Münsterberg, A., Capel, B., Vivian, N., & Lovell-Badge, R. (1990). Expression of a candidate sex-determining gene during mouse testis differentiation. *Nature*, 348(6300), 450–452. https://doi.org/10.1038/348450a0
- Kuiper, G. G. J. M., Enmark, E., Pelto-Huikko, M., Nilsson, S., & Gustafsson, J. Å. (1996).
 Cloning of a novel estrogen receptor expressed in rat prostate and ovary. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 93(12), 5925–5930.
 https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.93.12.5925
- Kuiri-Hänninen, T., Sankilampi, U., & Dunkel, L. (2014). Activation of the Hypothalamic-Pituitary-Gonadal Axis in Infancy: Minipuberty. *Hormone Research in Paediatrics*, 82(2), 73–80. https://doi.org/10.1159/000362414
- Kumar, R., & Thompson, E. B. (1999). The structure of the nuclear hormone receptors. In *Steroids* (Vol. 64, Issue 5, pp. 310–319). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0039-128X(99)00014-8
- Kushnir, M. M., Blamires, T., Rockwood, A. L., Roberts, W. L., Yue, B., Erdogan, E., Bunker, A. M., & Meikle, A. W. (2010). Liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry assay for androstenedione, dehydroepiandrosterone, and testosterone with pediatric and adult reference intervals. *Clinical Chemistry*, 56(7), 1138–1147. https://doi.org/10.1373/clinchem.2010.143222
- Labrie, F., Luu-The, V., Lin, S. X., Labrie, C., Simard, J., Breton, R., & Bélanger, A. (1997).
 The key role of 17β-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenases in sex steroid biology. *Steroids*, 62(1), 148–158. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0039-128X(96)00174-2
- Lanciotti, L., Cofini, M., Leonardi, A., Penta, L., & Esposito, S. (2018). Up-to-date review about minipuberty and overview on hypothalamic-pituitary-gonadal axis activation in fetal and neonatal life. In *Frontiers in Endocrinology* (Vol. 9, Issue JUL). Frontiers Media S.A. https://doi.org/10.3389/fendo.2018.00410
- Lane, P. W., & Davisson, M. T. (1990). Patchy fur (Paf), a semidominant x-linked gene associated with a high level of x-y nondisjunction in male mice. *Journal of Heredity*, *81*(1), 43–50. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.jhered.a110923
- Larsen, F., Gundersen, G., Lopez, R., & Prydz, H. (1992). CpG islands as gene markers in the human genome. *Genomics*, *13*(4), 1095–1107. https://doi.org/10.1016/0888-
7543(92)90024-M

- Laurent, M. R., Hammond, G. L., Blokland, M., Jardí, F., Antonio, L., Dubois, V., Khalil, R., Sterk, S. S., Gielen, E., Decallonne, B., Carmeliet, G., Kaufman, J. M., Fiers, T., Huhtaniemi, I. T., Vanderschueren, D., & Claessens, F. (2016). Sex hormone-binding globulin regulation of androgen bioactivity in vivo: Validation of the free hormone hypothesis. *Scientific Reports*, 6(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep35539
- Lazo, M., & Clark, J. M. (2008). The epidemiology of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: A global perspective. In *Seminars in Liver Disease* (Vol. 28, Issue 4, pp. 339–350). Semin Liver Dis. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0028-1091978
- Lees-Murdock, D. J., De Felici, M., & Walsh, C. P. (2003). Methylation dynamics of repetitive DNA elements in the mouse germ cell lineage. *Genomics*, 82(2), 230–237. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0888-7543(03)00105-8
- Li, E., Beard, C., & Jaenisch, R. (1993). Role for DNA methylation in genomic imprinting. *Nature*, *366*(6453), 362–365. https://doi.org/10.1038/366362a0
- Li, E., Bestor, T. H., & Jaenisch, R. (1992). Targeted mutation of the DNA methyltransferase gene results in embryonic lethality. *Cell*, 69(6), 915–926. https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(92)90611-F
- Li, E., & Zhang, Y. (2014). DNA methylation in mammals. Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology, 6(5). https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a019133
- Liang, G., Chan, M. F., Tomigahara, Y., Tsai, Y. C., Gonzales, F. A., Li, E., Laird, P. W., & Jones, P. A. (2002). Cooperativity between DNA Methyltransferases in the Maintenance Methylation of Repetitive Elements. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 22(2), 480–491. https://doi.org/10.1128/mcb.22.2.480-491.2002
- Lipsett, M. B., Wilson, H., Kirschner, M. A., Korenman, S. G., Fishman, L. M., Sarfaty, G. A., & Bardin, C. W. (1966). Studies on Leydig cell physiology and pathology: secretion and metabolism of testosterone. In *Recent progress in hormone research* (Vol. 22, pp. 245–281). Recent Prog Horm Res. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-1-4831-9825-5.50009-9
- Lister, R., Mukamel, E. A., Nery, J. R., Urich, M., Puddifoot, C. A., Johnson, N. D., Lucero, J., Huang, Y., Dwork, A. J., Schultz, M. D., Yu, M., Tonti-Filippini, J., Heyn, H., Hu, S., Wu, J. C., Rao, A., Esteller, M., He, C., Haghighi, F. G., ... Ecker, J. R. (2013).

Global epigenomic reconfiguration during mammalian brain development. *Science*, *341*(6146). https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1237905

- Lister, R., Pelizzola, M., Dowen, R. H., Hawkins, R. D., Hon, G., Tonti-Filippini, J., Nery, J. R., Lee, L., Ye, Z., Ngo, Q. M., Edsall, L., Antosiewicz-Bourget, J., Stewart, R., Ruotti, V., Millar, A. H., Thomson, J. A., Ren, B., & Ecker, J. R. (2009). Human DNA methylomes at base resolution show widespread epigenomic differences. *Nature*, 462(7271), 315–322. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature08514
- Lister, R., Pelizzola, M., Kida, Y. S., Hawkins, R. D., Nery, J. R., Hon, G., Antosiewicz-Bourget, J., Ogmalley, R., Castanon, R., Klugman, S., Downes, M., Yu, R., Stewart, R., Ren, B., Thomson, J. A., Evans, R. M., & Ecker, J. R. (2011). Hotspots of aberrant epigenomic reprogramming in human induced pluripotent stem cells. *Nature*, 471(7336), 68–73. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature09798
- Liu, C. F., Bingham, N., Parker, K., & Yao, H. (2009). Sex-specific roles of β-catenin in mouse gonadal development. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 18(3), 405–417. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddn362
- Liu, J., Morgan, M., Hutchison, K., & Calhoun, V. D. (2010). A study of the influence of sex on genome wide methylation. *PLoS ONE*, 5(4). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0010028
- Lobaccaro, J. M., Lumbroso, S., Poujol, N., Georget, V., Brinkmann, A. O., Malpuech, G., & Sultan, C. (1995). Complete androgen insensitivity syndrome due to a new frameshift deletion in exon 4 of the androgen receptor gene: functional analysis of the mutant receptor. *Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology*, *111*(1), 21–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/0303-7207(95)03542-F
- Loffler, K. A., Zarkower, D., & Koopman, P. (2003). Etiology of ovarian failure in blepharophimosis ptosis epicanthus inversus syndrome: FOXL2 is a conserved, earlyacting gene in vertebrate ovarian development. *Endocrinology*, 144(7), 3237–3243. https://doi.org/10.1210/en.2002-0095
- Lowe, R., Gemma, C., Rakyan, V. K., & Holland, M. L. (2015). Sexually dimorphic gene expression emerges with embryonic genome activation and is dynamic throughout development. *BMC Genomics*, 16(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12864-015-1506-4

- Lowenthal, D. T., Oie, S., Van Stone, J. C., Briggs, W. A., & Levy, G. (1976).
 Pharmacokinetics of acetaminophen elimination by anephric patients. *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, 196(3).
- Lubahn, D. B., Moyer, J. S., Golding, T. S., Couse, J. F., Korach, K. S., & Smithies, O. (1993). Alteration of reproductive function but not prenatal sexual development after insertional disruption of the mouse estrogen receptor gene. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 90(23), 11162–11166. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.90.23.11162
- Lucifero, D., Mann, M., Bartolomei, M., & Trasler, J. (2004). Gene-specific timing and epigenetic memory in oocyte imprinting. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 13(8), 839–849. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddh104
- Lucifero, D., Mertineit, C., Clarke, H. J., Bestor, T. H., & Trasler, J. M. (2002). Methylation dynamics of imprinted genes in mouse germ cells. *Genomics*, 79(4), 530–538. https://doi.org/10.1006/geno.2002.6732
- Lyon, M. F. (1961). Gene action in the X-chromosome of the mouse (mus musculus L.). *Nature*, *190*(4773), 372–373. https://doi.org/10.1038/190372a0
- Ma, H., Morey, R., O'Neil, R. C., He, Y., Daughtry, B., Schultz, M. D., Hariharan, M., Nery, J. R., Castanon, R., Sabatini, K., Thiagarajan, R. D., Tachibana, M., Kang, E., Tippner-Hedges, R., Ahmed, R., Gutierrez, N. M., Van Dyken, C., Polat, A., Sugawara, A., ... Mitalipov, S. (2014). Abnormalities in human pluripotent cells due to reprogramming mechanisms. *Nature*, *511*(7508), 177–183. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature13551
- Maatouk, D. M., Dinapoli, L., Alvers, A., Parker, K. L., Taketo, M. M., & Capel, B. (2008).
 Stabilization of β-catenin in XY gonads causes male-to-female sex-reversal. *Human Molecular Genetics*, *17*(19), 2949–2955. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddn193
- Mackenzie, P. I., Walter Bock, K., Burchell, B., Guillemette, C., Ikushiro, S., Iyanagi, T., Miners, J. O., Owens, I. S., & Nebert, D. W. (2005). Nomenclature update for the mammalian UDP glycosyltransferase (UGT) gene superfamily. *Pharmacogenetics and Genomics*, 15(10), 677–685. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.fpc.0000173483.13689.56
- MacLean, H. E., Warne, G. L., & Zajac, J. D. (1997). Localization of functional domains in the androgen receptor. In *Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology* (Vol.

62, Issue 4, pp. 233–242). J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0960-0760(97)00049-6

- Mahendroo, M. S., Cala, K. M., Hess, D. L., & Russell, D. W. (2001). Unexpected virilization in male mice lacking steroid 5α-reductase enzymes. *Endocrinology*, 142(11), 4652–4662. https://doi.org/10.1210/endo.142.11.8510
- Manotas, M. C., Calderón, J. C., López-Kleine, L., Suárez-Obando, F., Moreno, O. M., & Rojas, A. (2020). Identification of common differentially expressed genes in Turner (45,X) and Klinefelter (47,XXY) syndromes using bioinformatics analysis. *Molecular Genetics and Genomic Medicine*, 8(11). https://doi.org/10.1002/mgg3.1503
- Mayer, W., Niveleau, A., Walter, J., Fundele, R., & Haaf, T. (2000). Demethylation of the zygotic paternal genome. *Nature*, 403(6769), 501–502. https://doi.org/10.1038/35000656
- Mayne, B., Bianco-Miotto, T., Buckberry, S., Breen, J., Clifton, V., Shoubridge, C., & Roberts, C. (2016). Large scale gene expression meta-analysis reveals tissue-specific, sex-biased gene expression in humans. *Frontiers in Genetics*, 7(OCT). https://doi.org/10.3389/fgene.2016.00183
- McBride, S. M., Flynn, F. W., & Ren, J. (2005). Cardiovascular alteration and treatment of hypertension: Do men and women differ? In *Endocrine* (Vol. 28, Issue 2, pp. 199–207). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1385/ENDO:28:2:199
- McCormick, C., Linkroum, W., Sallinen, B., & Miller, N. (2002). Peripheral and central sex steroids have differential effects on the HPA axis of male and female rats. *Stress*, 5(4), 235–247. https://doi.org/10.1080/1025389021000061165
- McCormick, C., & Teillon, S. (2001). Menstrual cycle variation in spatial ability: Relation to salivary cortisol levels. *Hormones and Behavior*, 39(1), 29–38. https://doi.org/10.1006/hbeh.2000.1636
- McCormick, H., Young, P., Hur, S., Booher, K., Chung, H., Cropley, J., Giannoulatou, E., & Suter, C. (2017). Isogenic mice exhibit sexually-dimorphic DNA methylation patterns across multiple tissues. *BMC Genomics*, 18(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12864-017-4350-x
- McKeon, C., Ohkubo, H., Pastan, I., & Crombrugghe, B. de. (1982). Unusual methylation

pattern of the α2(I) collagen gene. *Cell*, 29(1), 203–210. https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(82)90104-0

- McPhaul, M. J., Marcelli, M., Tilley, W. D., Griffin, J. E., & Wilson, J. D. (1991). Androgen resistance caused by mutations in the androgen receptor gene. *The FASEB Journal*, 5(14), 2910–2915. https://doi.org/10.1096/fasebj.5.14.1752359
- McPhaul, M. J., Marcelli, M., Zoppi, S., Griffin, J. E., & Wilson, J. D. (1993). Genetic basis of endocrine disease. 4. The spectrum of mutations in the androgen receptor gene that causes androgen resistance. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 76(1), 17–23. https://doi.org/10.1210/jcem.76.1.8421085
- Melé, M., Ferreira, P. G., Reverter, F., DeLuca, D. S., Monlong, J., Sammeth, M., Young, T. R., Goldmann, J. M., Pervouchine, D. D., Sullivan, T. J., Johnson, R., Segrè, A. V., Djebali, S., Niarchou, A., Wright, F. A., Lappalainen, T., Calvo, M., Getz, G., Dermitzakis, E. T., ... Guigó, R. (2015). The human transcriptome across tissues and individuals. *Science*, *348*(6235), 660–665. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaa0355
- Menasce, L. P., White, G. R. M., Harrison, C. J., & Boyle, J. M. (1993). Localization of the estrogen receptor locus (esr) to chromosome 6q25.1 by fish and a simple post-fish banding technique. *Genomics*, 17(1), 263–265. https://doi.org/10.1006/geno.1993.1320
- Mertineit, C., Yoder, J. A., Taketo, T., Laird, D. W., Trasler, J. M., & Bestor, T. H. (1998).
 Sex-specific exons control DNA methyltransferase in mammalian germ cells.
 Development, 125(5), 889 LP 897. http://dev.biologists.org/content/125/5/889.abstract
- Messinisi, I. E. (2006). Ovarian feedback, mechanism of action and possible clinical implications. *Human Reproduction Update*, 12(5), 557–571. https://doi.org/10.1093/humupd/dml020
- Min, B., Park, J. S., Jeong, Y. S., Jeon, K., & Kang, Y. K. (2020). Dnmt1 binds and represses genomic retroelements via DNA methylation in mouse early embryos. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 48(15), 8431–8444. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkaa584
- Miners, J., Attwood, J., & Birkett, D. (1983). Influence of sex and oral contraceptive steroids on paracetamol metabolism. *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 16(5), 503–509. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2125.1983.tb02207.x
- Miners, J. O., Smith, P. A., Sorich, M. J., McKinnon, R. A., & Mackenzie, P. I. (2004).

Predicting Human Drug Glucuronidation Parameters: Application of In Vitro and In Silico Modeling Approaches. In *Annual Review of Pharmacology and Toxicology* (Vol. 44, pp. 1–25). Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.pharmtox.44.101802.121546

- Mohandas, T., Sparkes, R. S., & Shapiro, L. J. (1981). Reactivation of an inactive human X chromosome: Evidence for X inactivation by DNA methylation. *Science*, 211(4480), 393–396. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.6164095
- Monk, M., Boubelik, M., & Lehnert, S. (1987). Temporal and regional changes in DNA methylation in the embryonic, extraembryonic and germ cell lineages during mouse embryo development. In *Development* (Vol. 99).
- Moon, Y. J., Wang, X., & Morris, M. E. (2006). Dietary flavonoids: Effects on xenobiotic and carcinogen metabolism. In *Toxicology in Vitro* (Vol. 20, Issue 2, pp. 187–210). Elsevier Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tiv.2005.06.048
- Morison, I. M., Ramsay, J. P., & Spencer, H. G. (2005). A census of mammalian imprinting. In *Trends in Genetics* (Vol. 21, Issue 8, pp. 457–465). Trends Genet. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tig.2005.06.008
- Morohashi, K., Baba, T., & Tanaka, M. (2013). Steroid hormones and the development of reproductive organs. In *Sexual Development* (Vol. 7, Issues 1–3, pp. 61–79). S. Karger AG. https://doi.org/10.1159/000342272
- Muenchhoff, M., & Goulder, P. J. R. (2014). Sex differences in pediatric infectious diseases. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 209(SUPPL. 3). https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/jiu232
- Munger, S. C., Natarajan, A., Looger, L. L., Ohler, U., & Capel, B. (2013). Fine Time Course Expression Analysis Identifies Cascades of Activation and Repression and Maps a Putative Regulator of Mammalian Sex Determination. *PLoS Genetics*, 9(7), e1003630. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1003630
- Murray, M. (2007). Role of signalling systems in the effects of dietary factors on the expression of mammalian CYPs. In *Expert Opinion on Drug Metabolism and Toxicology* (Vol. 3, Issue 2, pp. 185–196). Expert Opin Drug Metab Toxicol. https://doi.org/10.1517/17425255.3.2.185

Naftolin, F., Ryan, K. J., & Davies, I. J. (1975). The formation of estrogens by central

neuroendocrine tissues. *Recent Progress in Hormone Research*, Vol.31, 295–319. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-571131-9.50012-8

- Nagamine, C. M., Taketo, T., & Koo, G. C. (1987). Studies on the genetics of tda-1 XY sex reversal in the mouse. *Differentiation; Research in Biological Diversity*, 33(3), 223–231. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1432-0436.1987.tb01561.x
- Nakagawa, K., & Kajiwara, A. (2015). Female sex as a risk factor for adverse drug reactions. Nihon Rinsho. Japanese Journal of Clinical Medicine, 73(4), 581–585. https://pubmedncbi-nlm-nih-gov.proxy3.library.mcgill.ca/25936145/
- Naqvi, S., Godfrey, A. K., Hughes, J. F., Goodheart, M. L., Mitchell, R. N., & Page, D. C. (2019). Conservation, acquisition, and functional impact of sex-biased gene expression in mammals. *Science*, 365(6450). https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaw7317
- Nebert, D. W., & Russell, D. W. (2002). Clinical importance of the cytochromes P450. In *Lancet* (Vol. 360, Issue 9340, pp. 1155–1162). Elsevier Limited. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(02)11203-7
- Nelson, P., Clegg, N., Arnold, H., Ferguson, C., Bonham, M., White, J., Hood, L., & Lin, B. (2002). The program of androgen-responsive genes in neoplastic prostate epithelium. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 99(18), 11890–11895. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.182376299
- Nelson, S., & Gordon, P. (1983). Mammalian Drug Metabolism. *Journal of Natural Products*, 46(1), 71–78. https://doi.org/10.1021/np50025a005
- Nilsson, M. E., Vandenput, L., Tivesten, Å., Norlén, A. K., Lagerquist, M. K., Windahl, S. H., Börjesson, A. E., Farman, H. H., Poutanen, M., Benrick, A., Maliqueo, M., Stener-Victorin, E., Ryberg, H., & Ohlsson, C. (2015). Measurement of a comprehensive sex steroid profile in rodent serum by high-sensitive gas chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. *Endocrinology*, *156*(7), 2492–2502. https://doi.org/10.1210/en.2014-1890
- Notini, A. J., Davey, R. A., McManus, J. F., Bate, K. L., & Zajac, J. D. (2005). Genomic actions of the androgen receptor are required for normal male sexual differentiation in a mouse model. *Journal of Molecular Endocrinology*, 35(3), 547–555. https://doi.org/10.1677/jme.1.01884

O'Shaughnessy, P. J., Monteiro, A., & Abel, M. (2012). Testicular development in mice

lacking receptors for follicle stimulating hormone and androgen. *PLoS ONE*, 7(4). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0035136

- Oduwole, O. O., Peltoketo, H., & Huhtaniemi, I. T. (2018). Role of follicle-stimulating hormone in spermatogenesis. In *Frontiers in Endocrinology* (Vol. 9, p. 763). Frontiers Media S.A. https://doi.org/10.3389/fendo.2018.00763
- Okano, M., Xie, S., & Li, E. (1998). Cloning and characterization of a family of novel mammalian DNA (cytosine-5) methyltransferases [1]. In *Nature Genetics* (Vol. 19, Issue 3, pp. 219–220). Nat Genet. https://doi.org/10.1038/890
- Okano, Masaki, Bell, D. W., Haber, D. A., & Li, E. (1999). DNA methyltransferases Dnmt3a and Dnmt3b are essential for de novo methylation and mammalian development. *Cell*, *99*(3), 247–257. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81656-6
- Okano, Masaki, Xie, S., & Li, E. (1998). Dnmt2 is not required for de novo and maintenance methylation of viral DNA in embryonic stem cells. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 26(11), 2536–2540. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/26.11.2536
- Ooi, S. K. T., Qiu, C., Bernstein, E., Li, K., Jia, D., Yang, Z., Erdjument-Bromage, H., Tempst, P., Lin, S. P., Allis, C. D., Cheng, X., & Bestor, T. H. (2007). DNMT3L connects unmethylated lysine 4 of histone H3 to de novo methylation of DNA. *Nature*, 448(7154), 714–717. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature05987
- Öz, O. K., Zerwekh, J. E., Fisher, C., Graves, K., Nanu, L., Millsaps, R., & Simpson, E. R. (2000). Bone has a sexually dimorphic response to aromatase deficiency. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research*, *15*(3), 507–514. https://doi.org/10.1359/jbmr.2000.15.3.507
- Paech, K., Webb, P., Kuiper, G. G. J. M., Nilsson, S., Gustafsson, J. Å., Kushner, P. J., & Scanlan, T. S. (1997). Differential ligand activation of estrogen receptors ERα and ERrβ at AP1 sites. *Science*, 277(5331), 1508–1510. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.277.5331.1508
- Palmer, S. J., & Burgoyne, P. S. (1991a). The Mus musculus domesticus Tdy allele acts later than the Mus musculus musculus Tdy allele: a basis for XY sex-reversal in C57BL/6-YPOS mice. *Development*, 113(2).

Palmer, S. J., & Burgoyne, P. S. (1991b). In situ analysis of fetal, prepuberal and adult XX-

XY chimaeric mouse testes: Sertoli cells are predominantly, but not exclusively, XY. *Development*, *112*(1), 265 LP – 268. http://dev.biologists.org/content/112/1/265.abstract

- Pannetier, M., Tilly, G., Kocer, A., Hudrisier, M., Renault, L., Chesnais, N., Costa, J., Le Provost, F., Vaiman, D., Vilotte, J. L., & Pailhoux, E. (2006). Goat SRY induces testis development in XX transgenic mice. *FEBS Letters*, 580(15), 3715–3720. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.febslet.2006.05.060
- Panning, B., & Jaenisch, R. (1996). DNA hypomethylation can activate Xist expression and silence X-linked genes. *Genes and Development*, 10(16), 1991–2002. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.10.16.1991
- Paris, J. J., Franco, C., Sodano, R., Freidenberg, B., Gordis, E., Anderson, D. A., Forsyth, J. P., Wulfert, E., & Frye, C. A. (2010). Sex differences in salivary cortisol in response to acute stressors among healthy participants, in recreational or pathological gamblers, and in those with posttraumatic stress disorder NIH Public Access. *Horm Behav*, 57(1), 35–45. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yhbeh.2009.06.003
- Park, S., Zeidan, K., Shin, J. S., & Taketo, T. (2011). SRY upregulation of SOX9 is inefficient and delayed, allowing ovarian differentiation, in the B6.Y TIR gonad. *Differentiation*, 82(1), 18–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diff.2011.04.007
- Peat, J. R., Dean, W., Clark, S. J., Krueger, F., Smallwood, S. A., Ficz, G., Kim, J. K., Marioni, J. C., Hore, T. A., & Reik, W. (2014). Genome-wide Bisulfite Sequencing in Zygotes Identifies Demethylation Targets and Maps the Contribution of TET3 Oxidation. *Cell Reports*, 9(6), 1990–2000. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2014.11.034
- Peeters, S., Korecki, A., Simpson, E., & Brown, C. (2018). Human cis-acting elements regulating escape from X-chromosome inactivation function in mouse. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 27(7), 1252–1262. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddy039
- Penny, G. D., Kay, G. F., Sheardown, S. A., Rastan, S., & Brockdorff, N. (1996). Requirement for Xist in X chromosome inactivation. *Nature*, 379(6561), 131–137. https://doi.org/10.1038/379131a0
- Pentikäinen, V., Erkkilä, K., Suomalainen, L., Parvinen, M., & Dunkel, L. (2000). Estradiol Acts as a Germ Cell Survival Factor in the Human Testis in Vitro 1. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 85(5), 2057–2067.

https://doi.org/10.1210/jcem.85.5.6600

- Pepling, M. E., Sundman, E. A., Patterson, N. L., Gephardt, G. W., Medico, L., & Wilson, K. I. (2010). Differences in oocyte development and estradiol sensitivity among mouse strains. *Reproduction*, *139*(2), 349–357. https://doi.org/10.1530/REP-09-0392
- Pirmohamed, M., Williams, D., Madden, S., Templeton, E., & Park, B. K. (1995). Metabolism and bioactivation of clozapine by human liver in vitro. *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, 272(3).
- Pointis, G., Latreille, M. T., & Cedard, L. (1980). Gonado-pituitary relationships in the fetal mouse at various times during sexual differentiation. *Journal of Endocrinology*, 86(3), 483–488. https://doi.org/10.1677/joe.0.0860483
- Pointis, G., Latreille, M. T., Mignot, T. M., Janssens, Y., & Cedard, L. (1979). Regulation of testosterone synthesis in the fetal mouse testis. *Journal of Steroid Biochemistry*, 11(5–6), 1609–1612. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-4731(79)90357-1
- Polyzos, S. A., Kountouras, J., Tsatsoulis, A., Zafeiriadou, E., Katsiki, E., Patsiaoura, K., Zavos, C., Anastasiadou, V. V., & Slavakis, A. (2013). Sex steroids and sex hormonebinding globulin in postmenopausal women with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Hormones*, 12(3), 405–416. https://doi.org/10.1007/bf03401306
- Qin, Y., & Bishop, C. E. (2005). Sox9 is sufficient for functional testis development producing fertile male mice in the absence of Sry. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 14(9), 1221–1229. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddi133
- Ramaswamy, S., & Weinbauer, G. (2014). Endocrine control of spermatogenesis: Role of FSH and LH/ testosterone. *Spermatogenesis*, 4(2), e996025. https://doi.org/10.1080/21565562.2014.996025
- Rasmussen, K. D., & Helin, K. (2016). Role of TET enzymes in DNA methylation, development, and cancer. In *Genes and Development* (Vol. 30, Issue 7, pp. 733–750). Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.276568.115
- Ratnam, S., Mertineit, C., Ding, F., Howell, C. Y., Clarke, H. J., Bestor, T. H., Chaillet, J. R., & Trasler, J. M. (2002). Dynamics of Dnmt1 methyltransferase expression and intracellular localization during oogenesis and preimplantation development. *Developmental Biology*, 245(2), 304–314. https://doi.org/10.1006/dbio.2002.0628

- Reik, W. (2007). Stability and flexibility of epigenetic gene regulation in mammalian development. In *Nature* (Vol. 447, Issue 7143, pp. 425–432). Nature Publishing Group. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature05918
- Reizel, Y., Morgan, A., Gao, L., Lan, Y., Manduchi, E., Waite, E. L., Wang, A. W., Wells, A., & Kaestner, K. H. (2020). Collapse of the hepatic gene regulatory network in the absence of FoxA factors. *Genes and Development*, 34(16), 1039–1050. https://doi.org/10.1101/GAD.337691.120
- Reizel, Y., Sabag, O., Skversky, Y., Spiro, A., Steinberg, B., Bernstein, D., Wang, A.,
 Kieckhaefer, J., Li, C., Pikarsky, E., Levin-Klein, R., Goren, A., Rajewsky, K.,
 Kaestner, K. H., & Cedar, H. (2018). Postnatal DNA demethylation and its role in tissue maturation. *Nature Communications*, 9(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-04456-6
- Reizel, Y., Spiro, A., Sabag, O., Skversky, Y., Hecht, M., Keshet, I., Berman, B. P., & Cedar, H. (2015). Gender-specific postnatal demethylation and establishment of epigenetic memory. *Genes and Development*, 29(9), 923–933. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.259309.115
- Remer, T., Boye, K. R., Hartmann, M. F., & Wudy, S. A. (2005). Urinary markers of adrenarche: Reference values in healthy subjects, aged 3-18 years. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 90(4), 2015–2021. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2004-1571
- Remm, M., Rozen, S. G., Untergasser, A., Cutcutache, I., Koressaar, T., Ye, J., & Faircloth,
 B. (2012). Primer3—new capabilities and interfaces. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 40(15),
 e115.
- Rennie, P. S., Bruchovsky, N., Leco, K. J., Sheppard, P. C., McQueen, S. A., Cheng, H., Snoek, R., Hamel, A., Bock, M. E., MacDonald, B. S., Nickel, B. E., Chang, C., Liao, S., Cattini, P. A., & Matusik, R. J. (1993). Characterization of two cis-acting DNA elements involved in the androgen regulation of the probasin gene. *Molecular Endocrinology*, 7(1), 23–36. https://doi.org/10.1210/mend.7.1.8446105
- Riggs, A. D. (1975). X inactivation, differentiation, and DNA methylation. *Cytogenetic and Genome Research*, *14*(1), 9–25. https://doi.org/10.1159/000130315
- Robertson, K. M., O'Donnell, L., Jones, M. E. E., Meachem, S. J., Wah Chin Boon, Fisher,C. R., Graves, K. H., McLachlan, R. I., & Simpson, E. R. (1999). Impairment of

spermatogenesis in mice lacking a functional aromatase (cyp 19) gene. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 96(14), 7986–7991. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.96.14.7986

- Rommerts, F. F. G., De Jong, F. H., Brinkmann, A. O., & Van De Molen, H. J. (1982). Development and cellular localization of rat testicular aromatase activity. *Journal of Reproduction and Fertility*, 65(2), 281–288. https://doi.org/10.1530/jrf.0.0650281
- Rosner, W., Hryb, D. J., Saeed Khan, M., Nakhla, A. M., & Romas, N. A. (1991). Sex hormone-binding globulin: Anatomy and physiology of a new regulatory system. *Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, 40(4–6), 813–820. https://doi.org/10.1016/0960-0760(91)90307-Q
- Rougier, N., Bourc'his, D., Molina Gomes, D., Niveleau, A., Plachot, M., Pàldi, A., & Viegas-Péquignot, E. (1998). Chromosome methylation patterns during mammalian preimplantation development. *Genes and Development*, *12*(14), 2108–2113. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.12.14.2108
- Roy, A. K., Lavrovsky, Y., Song, C. S., Chen, S., Jung, M. H., Velu, N. K., Bi, B. Y., & Chatterjee, B. (1998). Regulation of Androgen Action. *Vitamins and Hormones*, 55(C). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0083-6729(08)60938-3
- Sado, T., Fenner, M., Tan, S. S., Tam, P., Shioda, T., & Li, E. (2000). X inactivation in the mouse embryo deficient for Dnmt1: Distinct effect of hypomethylation on imprinted and random X inactivation. *Developmental Biology*, 225(2), 294–303. https://doi.org/10.1006/dbio.2000.9823
- Sahu, B., Laakso, M., Ovaska, K., Mirtti, T., Lundin, J., Rannikko, A., Sankila, A., Turunen, J. P., Lundin, M., Konsti, J., Vesterinen, T., Nordling, S., Kallioniemi, O., Hautaniemi, S., & Jännne, O. A. (2011). Dual role of FoxA1 in androgen receptor binding to chromatin, androgen signalling and prostate cancer. *EMBO Journal*, *30*(19), 3962–3976. https://doi.org/10.1038/emboj.2011.328
- Saluz, H. P., Jiricny, J., & Jost, J. P. (1986). Genomic sequencing reveals a positive correlation between the kinetics of strand-specific DNA demethylation of the overlapping estradiol/glucocorticoid-receptor binding sites and the rate of avian vitellogenin mRNA synthesis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 83(19), 7167–7171. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.83.19.7167

- Santos, F., Hendrich, B., Reik, W., & Dean, W. (2002). Dynamic reprogramming of DNA methylation in the early mouse embryo. *Developmental Biology*, 241(1), 172–182. https://doi.org/10.1006/dbio.2001.0501
- Sasano, H., MURAKAMI, H., SHIZAWA, S., SATOMI, S., NAGURA, H., & HARADA, N. (1999). Aromatase and Sex Steroid Receptors in Human Vena Cava. *Endocrine Journal*, 46(2), 233–242. https://doi.org/10.1507/endocrj.46.233
- Sasidhar, M. V., Itoh, N., Gold, S. M., Lawson, G. W., & Voskuhl, R. R. (2012). The XX sex chromosome complement in mice is associated with increased spontaneous lupus compared with XY. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, 71(8), 1418–1422. https://doi.org/10.1136/annrheumdis-2011-201246
- Sato, T., Matsumoto, T., Kawano, H., Watanabe, T., Uematsu, Y., Sekine, K., Fukuda, T.,
 Aihara, K. I., Krust, A., Yamada, T., Nakamichi, Y., Yamamoto, Y., Nakamura, T.,
 Yoshimura, K., Yoshizawa, T., Metzger, D., Chambon, P., & Kato, S. (2004). Brain
 masculinization requires androgen receptor function. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 101(6), 1673–1678.
 https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0305303101
- Saxonov, S., Berg, P., & Brutlag, D. L. (2006). A genome-wide analysis of CpG dinucleotides in the human genome distinguishes two distinct classes of promoters. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 103(5), 1412–1417. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0510310103
- Scandlyn, M. J., Stuart, E. C., & Rosengren, R. J. (2008). Sex-specific differences in CYP450 isoforms in humans. In *Expert Opinion on Drug Metabolism and Toxicology* (Vol. 4, Issue 4, pp. 413–424). Expert Opin Drug Metab Toxicol. https://doi.org/10.1517/17425255.4.4.413
- Schaefer, M., Pollex, T., Hanna, K., Tuorto, F., Meusburger, M., Helm, M., & Lyko, F. (2010). RNA methylation by Dnmt2 protects transfer RNAs against stress-induced cleavage. *Genes and Development*, 24(15), 1590–1595. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.586710
- Scholz, A., Truss, M., & Beato, M. (1998). Hormone-induced recruitment of Sp1 mediates estrogen activation of the rabbit uteroglobin gene in endometrial epithelium. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 273(8), 4360–4366. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.273.8.4360

- Schultz, M. D., He, Y., Whitaker, J. W., Hariharan, M., Mukamel, E. A., Leung, D.,
 Rajagopal, N., Nery, J. R., Urich, M. A., Chen, H., Lin, S., Lin, Y., Jung, I., Schmitt, A.
 D., Selvaraj, S., Ren, B., Sejnowski, T. J., Wang, W., & Ecker, J. R. (2015). Human
 body epigenome maps reveal noncanonical DNA methylation variation. *Nature*, 523(7559), 212–216. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature14465
- Scofield, R. H., Bruner, G. R., Namjou, B., Kimberly, R. P., Ramsey-Goldman, R., Petri, M., Reveille, J. D., Alarcón, G. S., Vilá, L. M., Reid, J., Harris, B., Li, S., Kelly, J. A., & Harley, J. B. (2008). Klinefelter's syndrome (47,XXY) in male systemic lupus erythematosus patients: Support for the notion of a gene-dose effect from the X chromosome. *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, 58(8), 2511–2517. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.23701
- Seisenberger, S., Andrews, S., Krueger, F., Arand, J., Walter, J., Santos, F., Popp, C., Thienpont, B., Dean, W., & Reik, W. (2012). The Dynamics of Genome-wide DNA Methylation Reprogramming in Mouse Primordial Germ Cells. *Molecular Cell*, 48(6), 849–862. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2012.11.001
- Seki, Y., Hayashi, K., Itoh, K., Mizugaki, M., Saitou, M., & Matsui, Y. (2005). Extensive and orderly reprogramming of genome-wide chromatin modifications associated with specification and early development of germ cells in mice. *Developmental Biology*, 278(2), 440–458. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2004.11.025
- Sekido, R., Bar, I., Narváez, V., Penny, G., & Lovell-Badge, R. (2004). SOX9 is up-regulated by the transient expression of SRY specifically in Sertoli cell precursors. *Developmental Biology*, 274(2), 271–279. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2004.07.011
- Sekido, R., & Lovell-Badge, R. (2008). Sex determination involves synergistic action of SRY and SF1 on a specific Sox9 enhancer. *Nature*, 453(7197), 930–934. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature06944
- Sekl, Y., Yamaji, M., Yabuta, Y., Sano, M., Shigeta, M., Matsui, Y., Saga, Y., Tachibana, M., Shinkai, Y., & Saitou, M. (2007). Cellular dynamics associated with the genome-wide epigenetic reprogramming in migrating primordial germ cells in mice. *Development*, 134(14), 2627–2638. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.005611
- Shah, S., McRae, A. F., Marioni, R. E., Harris, S. E., Gibson, J., Henders, A. K., Redmond, P., Cox, S. R., Pattie, A., Corley, J., Murphy, L., Martin, N. G., Montgomery, G. W.,

Starr, J. M., Wray, N. R., Deary, I. J., & Visscher, P. M. (2014). Genetic and environmental exposures constrain epigenetic drift over the human life course. *Genome Research*, 24(11), 1725–1733. https://doi.org/10.1101/gr.176933.114

- Shang, Y., Myers, M., & Brown, M. (2002). Formation of the androgen receptor transcription complex. *Molecular Cell*, 9(3), 601–610. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1097-2765(02)00471-9
- Sharma, A., Jamil, M. A., Nuesgen, N., Schreiner, F., Priebe, L., Hoffmann, P., Herns, S., Nöthen, M. M., Fröhlich, H., Oldenburg, J., Woelfle, J., & El-Maarri, O. (2015). DNA methylation signature in peripheral blood reveals distinct characteristics of human X chromosome numerical aberrations. *Clinical Epigenetics*, 7(1), 76. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13148-015-0112-2
- Sharpe, R. M. (1998). The roles of oestrogen in the male. In *Trends in Endocrinology and Metabolism* (Vol. 9, Issue 9, pp. 371–377). Trends Endocrinol Metab. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1043-2760(98)00089-7
- Shors, T. J., Lewczyk, C., Pacynski, M., Mathew, P. R., & Pickett, J. (1998). Stages of estrous mediate the stress-induced impairment of associative learning in the female rat. *NeuroReport*, 9(3), 419–423. https://doi.org/10.1097/00001756-199802160-00012
- Shpargel, K. B., Sengoku, T., Yokoyama, S., & Magnuson, T. (2012). UTX and UTY Demonstrate Histone Demethylase-Independent Function in Mouse Embryonic Development. *PLoS Genetics*, 8(9). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1002964
- Simerly, R. B., Swanson, L. W., Handa, R. J., & Gorski, R. A. (1985). Influence of perinatal androgen on the sexually dimorphic distribution of tyrosine hydroxylaseimmunoreactive cells and fibers in the anteroventral periventricular nucleus of the rat. *Neuroendocrinology*, 40(6), 501–510. https://doi.org/10.1159/000124122
- Simpson, E. R. (2004). Aromatase: Biologic Relevance of Tissue-Specific Expression. In Seminars in Reproductive Medicine (Vol. 22, Issue 1, pp. 11–23). Semin Reprod Med. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2004-823023
- Sinclair, A. H., Berta, P., Palmer, M. S., Hawkins, J. R., Griffiths, B. L., Smith, M. J., Foster, J. W., Frischauf, A. M., Lovell-Badge, R., & Goodfellow, P. N. (1990). A gene from the human sex-determining region encodes a protein with homology to a conserved DNA-

binding motif. Nature, 346(6281), 240-244. https://doi.org/10.1038/346240a0

- Singmann, P., Shem-Tov, D., Wahl, S., Grallert, H., Fiorito, G., Shin, S. Y., Schramm, K., Wolf, P., Kunze, S., Baran, Y., Guarrera, S., Vineis, P., Krogh, V., Panico, S., Tumino, R., Kretschmer, A., Gieger, C., Peters, A., Prokisch, H., ... Halperin, E. (2015).
 Characterization of whole-genome autosomal differences of DNA methylation between men and women. *Epigenetics and Chromatin*, 8(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13072-015-0035-3
- Skakkebæk, A., Nielsen, M. M., Trolle, C., Vang, S., Hornshøj, H., Hedegaard, J., Wallentin, M., Bojesen, A., Hertz, J. M., Fedder, J., Østergaard, J. R., Pedersen, J. S., & Gravholt, C. H. (2018). DNA hypermethylation and differential gene expression associated with Klinefelter syndrome. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-31780-0
- Smallwood, S. A., Tomizawa, S. I., Krueger, F., Ruf, N., Carli, N., Segonds-Pichon, A., Sato, S., Hata, K., Andrews, S. R., & Kelsey, G. (2011). Dynamic CpG island methylation landscape in oocytes and preimplantation embryos. *Nature Genetics*, 43(8), 811–814. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.864
- Smith, C., Shoemaker, C., Roeszler, K., Queen, J., Crews, D., & Sinclair, A. (2008). Cloning and expression of R-Spondin1 in different vertebrates suggests a conserved role in ovarian development. *BMC Developmental Biology*, 8. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-213X-8-72
- Smith, E., Frank, G., Specker, B., Cohen, R., Williams, T., Lubahn, D., Boyd, J., Takahashi, H., & Korach, K. (1994). Estrogen resistance caused by a mutation in the estrogenreceptor gene in a man. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 331(16), 1056–1061. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM199410203311604
- Smith, Z., Chan, M., Mikkelsen, T., Gu, H., Gnirke, A., Regev, A., & Meissner, A. (2012). A unique regulatory phase of DNA methylation in the early mammalian embryo. *Nature*, 484(7394), 339–344. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature10960
- Södergard, R., Bäckström, T., Shanbhag, V., & Carstensen, H. (1982). Calculation of free and bound fractions of testosterone and estradiol-17β to human plasma proteins at body temperature. *Journal of Steroid Biochemistry*, *16*(6), 801–810. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-4731(82)90038-3

- Soldin, O. P., Chung, S. H., & Mattison, D. R. (2011). Sex differences in drug disposition. In Journal of Biomedicine and Biotechnology (Vol. 2011). J Biomed Biotechnol. https://doi.org/10.1155/2011/187103
- Souyris, M., Cenac, C., Azar, P., Daviaud, D., Canivet, A., Grunenwald, S., Pienkowski, C., Chaumeil, J., Mejía, J. E., & Guéry, J. C. (2018). TLR7 escapes X chromosome inactivation in immune cells. *Science Immunology*, *3*(19). https://doi.org/10.1126/sciimmunol.aap8855
- Spencer, J. A., Watson, J. M., Lubahn, D. B., Joseph, D. R., French, F. S., Wilson, E. M., & Graves, J. A. M. (1991). The androgen receptor gene is located on a highly conserved region of the X chromosomes of marsupial and monotreme as well as eutherian mammals. *Journal of Heredity*, 82(2), 134–139. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.jhered.a111047
- Spoletini, I., Vitale, C., Malorni, W., & Rosano, G. M. C. (2012). Sex differences in drug effects: Interaction with sex hormones in adult life. *Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology*, 214(214), 91–105. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-30726-3_5
- Stadler, M. B., Murr, R., Burger, L., Ivanek, R., Lienert, F., Schöler, A., Wirbelauer, C., Oakeley, E. J., Gaidatzis, D., Tiwari, V. K., & Schübeler, D. (2011). DNA-binding factors shape the mouse methylome at distal regulatory regions. *Nature*, 480(7378), 490–495. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature10716
- Stein, R., Sciaky-Gallili, N., Razin, A., & Cedar, H. (1983). Pattern of methylation of two genes coding for housekeeping functions. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 80(9 I), 2422–2426. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.80.9.2422
- Stévant, I., Kühne, F., Greenfield, A., Chaboissier, M. C., Dermitzakis, E. T., & Nef, S. (2018). Single-cell transcriptomics of the mouse gonadal soma reveals the establishment of sexual dimorphism in distinct cell lineages. In *bioRxiv* (p. 410407). bioRxiv. https://doi.org/10.1101/410407
- Stévant, I., Neirijnck, Y., Borel, C., Escoffier, J., Smith, L. B., Antonarakis, S. E., Dermitzakis, E. T., & Nef, S. (2018). Deciphering Cell Lineage Specification during Male Sex Determination with Single-Cell RNA Sequencing. *Cell Reports*, 22(6), 1589– 1599. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2018.01.043

- Stocco, C. (2008). Aromatase expression in the ovary: Hormonal and molecular regulation. In *Steroids* (Vol. 73, Issue 5, pp. 473–487). Steroids. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.steroids.2008.01.017
- Suetake, I., Shinozaki, F., Miyagawa, J., Takeshima, H., & Tajima, S. (2004). DNMT3L stimulates the DNA methylation activity of Dnmt3a and Dnmt3b through a direct interaction. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 279(26), 27816–27823. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M400181200
- Sugathan, A., & Waxman, D. J. (2013). Genome-Wide Analysis of Chromatin States Reveals Distinct Mechanisms of Sex-Dependent Gene Regulation in Male and Female Mouse Liver. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 33(18), 3594–3610. https://doi.org/10.1128/mcb.00280-13
- Sullivan, P., Petrusz, P., Szpirer, C., & Joseph, D. (1991). Alternative processing of androgen-binding protein RNA transcripts in fetal rat liver. Identification of a transcript formed by trans splicing. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 266(1), 143–154. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0021-9258(18)52414-5
- Swain, A., & Lovell-Badge, R. (1999). Mammalian sex determination: A molecular drama. In *Genes and Development* (Vol. 13, Issue 7, pp. 755–767). Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.13.7.755
- Szyf, M. (2007). The dynamic epigenome and its implications in toxicology. In *Toxicological Sciences* (Vol. 100, Issue 1, pp. 7–23). Toxicol Sci. https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfm177
- Tachibana, M., Amato, P., Sparman, M., Gutierrez, N. M., Tippner-Hedges, R., Ma, H.,
 Kang, E., Fulati, A., Lee, H. S., Sritanaudomchai, H., Masterson, K., Larson, J., Eaton,
 D., Sadler-Fredd, K., Battaglia, D., Lee, D., Wu, D., Jensen, J., Patton, P., ... Mitalipov,
 S. (2013). Human embryonic stem cells derived by somatic cell nuclear transfer. *Cell*, *153*(6), 1228–1238. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2013.05.006
- Tahiliani, M., Koh, K. P., Shen, Y., Pastor, W. A., Bandukwala, H., Brudno, Y., Agarwal, S., Iyer, L. M., Liu, D. R., Aravind, L., & Rao, A. (2009). Conversion of 5-methylcytosine to 5-hydroxymethylcytosine in mammalian DNA by MLL partner TET1. *Science*, 324(5929), 930–935. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1170116

- Takasugi, M., Hayakawa, K., Arai, D., & Shiota, K. (2013). Age- and sex-dependent DNA hypomethylation controlled by growth hormone in mouse liver. *Mechanisms of Ageing* and Development, 134(7–8), 331–337. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mad.2013.05.003
- Taketo-Hosotani, T., Nishioka, Y., Nagamine, C. M., Villalpando, I., & Merchant-Larios, H. (1989). Development and fertility of ovaries in the B6.Y(DOM) sex-reversed female mouse. *Development*, 107(1), 95–105.
- Testa, B., & Krämer, S. D. (2006). The biochemistry of drug metabolism An introduction Part 1. Principles and overview. In *Chemistry and Biodiversity* (Vol. 3, Issue 10, pp. 1053–1101). Chem Biodivers. https://doi.org/10.1002/cbdv.200690111
- Tomizawa, S. I., Kobayashi, H., Watanabe, T., Andrews, S., Hata, K., Kelsey, G., & Sasaki, H. (2011). Dynamic stage-specific changes in imprinted differentially methylated regions during early mammalian development and prevalence of non-CpG methylation in oocytes. *Development*, 138(5), 811–820. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.061416
- Tomizuka, K., Horikoshi, K., Kitada, R., Sugawara, Y., Iba, Y., Kojima, A., Yoshitome, A., Yamawaki, K., Amagai, M., Inoue, A., Oshima, T., & Kakitani, M. (2008). R-spondin1 plays an essential role in ovarian development through positively regulating Wnt-4 signaling. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 17(9), 1278–1291. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddn036
- Trabzuni, D., Ramasamy, A., Imran, S., Walker, R., Smith, C., Weale, M. E., Hardy, J., & Ryten, M. (2013). Widespread sex differences in gene expression and splicing in the adult human brain. *Nature Communications*, 4. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms3771
- Trasler, J. M., Trasler, D. G., Bestor, T. H., Li, E., & Ghibu, F. (1996). DNA methyltransferase in normal and Dnmt(n)/Dnmt(n) mouse embryos. *Developmental Dynamics*, 206(3), 239–247. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-0177(199607)206:3<239::AID-AJA2>3.0.CO;2-J
- Trolle, C., Nielsen, M. M., Skakkebæk, A., Lamy, P., Vang, S., Hedegaard, J., Nordentoft, I., Ørntoft, T. F., Pedersen, J. S., & Gravholt, C. H. (2016). Widespread DNA hypomethylation and differential gene expression in Turner syndrome. *Scientific Reports*, 6. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep34220

Tsukada, Y. I., Akiyama, T., & Nakayama, K. I. (2015). Maternal TET3 is dispensable for

embryonic development but is required for neonatal growth. *Scientific Reports*, 5. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep15876

- Tucker, P. K., Lee, B. K., Lundrigan, B. L., & Eicher, E. M. (1992). Geographic origin of the Y Chromosomes in "old" inbred strains of mice. *Mammalian Genome*, 3(5), 254–261. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00292153
- Tullis, K. M., Krebs, C. J., Leung, J. Y. M., & Robins, D. M. (2003). The regulator of sexlimitation gene, Rsl, enforces male-specific liver gene expression by negative regulation. *Endocrinology*, 144(5), 1854–1860. https://doi.org/10.1210/en.2002-0190
- Ueda, T., Abe, K., Miura, A., Yuzuriha, M., Zubair, M., Noguchi, M., Niwa, K., Kawase, Y., Kono, T., Matsuda, Y., Fujimoto, H., Shibata, H., Hayashizaki, Y., & Sasaki, H. (2000). The paternal methylation imprint of the mouse H19 locus is acquired in the gonocyte stage during foetal testis development. *Genes to Cells*, *5*(8), 649–659. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2443.2000.00351.x
- Vainio, S., Heikkilä, M., Kispert, A., Chin, N., & McMahon, A. P. (1999). Female development in mammals is regulated by Wnt-4 signalling. *Nature*, 397(6718), 405– 409. https://doi.org/10.1038/17068
- Van Nas, A., Guhathakurta, D., Wang, S. S., Yehya, N., Horvath, S., Zhang, B., Ingram-Drake, L., Chaudhuri, G., Schadt, E. E., Drake, T. A., Arnold, A. P., & Lusis, A. J. (2009). Elucidating the role of gonadal hormones in sexually dimorphic gene coexpression networks. *Endocrinology*, 150(3), 1235–1249. https://doi.org/10.1210/en.2008-0563
- van Royen, M. E., van Cappellen, W. A., de Vos, C., Houtsmuller, A. B., & Trapman, J. (2012). Stepwise androgen receptor dimerization. *Journal of Cell Science*, 125(8), 1970– 1979. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.096792
- van Weerden, W., Bierings, H., Van Steenbrugge, G., De Jong, F., & Schröder, F. (1992).
 Adrenal glands of mouse and rat do not synthesize androgens. *Life Sciences*, 50(12), 857–861. https://doi.org/10.1016/0024-3205(92)90204-3
- Varley, K. E., Gertz, J., Bowling, K. M., Parker, S. L., Reddy, T. E., Pauli-Behn, F., Cross, M. K., Williams, B. A., Stamatoyannopoulos, J. A., Crawford, G. E., Absher, D. M., Wold, B. J., & Myers, R. M. (2013). Dynamic DNA methylation across diverse human

cell lines and tissues. *Genome Research*, 23(3), 555–567. https://doi.org/10.1101/gr.147942.112

- Vawter, M. P., Evans, S., Choudary, P., Tomita, H., Meador-Woodruff, J., Molnar, M., Li, J., Lopez, J. F., Myers, R., Cox, D., Watson, S. J., Akil, H., Jones, E. G., & Bunney, W. E. (2004). Gender-Specific Gene Expression in Post-Mortem Human Brain: Localization to Sex Chromosomes. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 29(2), 373–384. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.npp.1300337
- Verhaak, P. F. M., Kerssens, J. J., Dekker, J., Sorbi, M. J., & Bensing, J. M. (1998). Prevalence of chronic benign pain disorder among adults: A review of the literature. In *Pain* (Vol. 77, Issue 3, pp. 231–239). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-3959(98)00117-1
- Vidal, V. P. I., Chaboissier, M. C., De Rooij, D. G., & Schedl, A. (2001). Sox9 induces testis development in XX transgenic mice. *Nature Genetics*, 28(3), 216–217. https://doi.org/10.1038/90046
- Wahl, E. F., Lahdes-Vasama, T. T., & Churchill, B. M. (2003). Estimation of glomerular filtration rate and bladder capacity: The effect of maturation, ageing, gender and size. *BJU International*, 91(3), 255–262. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1464-410X.2003.04053.x
- Walkenstein, S. S., Wiser, R., Gudmundsen, C. H., Kimmel, H. B., & Corradino, R. A. (1964). Absorption, metabolism, and excretion of oxazepam and its succinate half-ester. *Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 53(10), 1181–1186. https://doi.org/10.1002/jps.2600531010
- Walsh, C. P., Chaillet, J. R., & Bestor, T. H. (1998). Transcription of IAP endogenous retroviruses is constrained by cytosine methylation [4]. In *Nature Genetics* (Vol. 20, Issue 2, pp. 116–117). Nat Genet. https://doi.org/10.1038/2413
- Wan, E. S., Qiu, W., Morrow, J., Beaty, T. H., Hetmanski, J., Make, B. J., Lomas, D. A., Silverman, E. K., & Demeo, D. L. (2015). Genome-wide site-specific differential methylation in the blood of individuals with Klinefelter syndrome. *Molecular Reproduction and Development*, 82(5), 377–386. https://doi.org/10.1002/mrd.22483
- Wang, J., Xia, Y., Li, L., Gong, D., Yao, Y., Luo, H., Lu, H., Yi, N., Wu, H., Zhang, X., Tao,Q., & Gao, F. (2013). Double restriction-enzyme digestion improves the coverage and

accuracy of genome-wide CpG methylation profiling by reduced representation bisulfite sequencing. *BMC Genomics*, *14*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2164-14-11

- Wang, Q., Carroll, J. S., & Brown, M. (2005). Spatial and temporal recruitment of androgen receptor and its coactivators involves chromosomal looping and polymerase tracking. *Molecular Cell*, 19(5), 631–642. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2005.07.018
- Watt, F., & Molloy, P. L. (1988). Cytosine methylation prevents binding to DNA of a HeLa cell transcription factor required for optimal expression of the adenovirus major late promoter. *Genes & Development*, 2(9), 1136–1143. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.2.9.1136
- Waxman, D. J. (1988). Interactions of hepatic cytochromes P-450 with steroid hormones. Regioselectivity and stereospecificity of steroid metabolism and hormonal regulation of rat P-450 enzyme expression. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, *37*(1), 71–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-2952(88)90756-3
- Waxman, D. J., & Celenza, J. L. (2003). Sexual dimorphism of hepatic gene expression: Novel biological role of KRAB zinc finger repressors revealed. In *Genes and Development* (Vol. 17, Issue 21, pp. 2607–2613). Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.1154603
- Waxman, D. J., & Holloway, M. G. (2009). Sex differences in the expression of hepatic drug metabolizing enzymes. In *Molecular Pharmacology* (Vol. 76, Issue 2, pp. 215–228).
 Mol Pharmacol. https://doi.org/10.1124/mol.109.056705
- Waxman, D. J., & O'Connor, C. (2006). Growth hormone regulation of sex-dependent liver gene expression. *Molecular Endocrinology*, 20(11), 2613–2629. https://doi.org/10.1210/me.2006-0007
- Webb, P., Lopez, G. N., Uht, R. M., & Kushner, P. J. (1995). Tamoxifen activation of the estrogen receptor/AP-1 pathway: Potential origin for the cell-specific estrogen-like effects of antiestrogens. *Molecular Endocrinology*, 9(4), 443–456. https://doi.org/10.1210/mend.9.4.7659088
- Weber, M., Hellmann, I., Stadler, M. B., Ramos, L., Pääbo, S., Rebhan, M., & Schübeler, D. (2007). Distribution, silencing potential and evolutionary impact of promoter DNA methylation in the human genome. *Nature Genetics*, *39*(4), 457–466. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng1990

- Weickert, C. S., Elashoff, M., Richards, A. B., Sinclair, D., Bahn, S., Paabo, S., Khaitovich, P., & Webster, M. J. (2009). Transcriptome analysis of male-female differences in prefrontal cortical development. In *Molecular Psychiatry* (Vol. 14, Issue 6, pp. 558–561). Mol Psychiatry. https://doi.org/10.1038/mp.2009.5
- Weinmann, A. S., Yan, P. S., Oberley, M. J., Huang, T. H. M., & Farnham, P. J. (2002). Isolating human transcription factor targets by coupling chromatin immunoprecipitation and CpG island microarray analysis. *Genes and Development*, 16(2), 235–244. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.943102
- Weniger, J. P. (1993). Estrogen production by fetal rat gonads. *Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, 44(4–6), 459–462. https://doi.org/10.1016/0960-0760(93)90250-Z
- Werner, R. J., Schultz, B. M., Huhn, J. M., Jelinek, J., Madzo, J., & Engel, N. (2017). Sex chromosomes drive gene expression and regulatory dimorphisms in mouse embryonic stem cells. *Biology of Sex Differences*, 8(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13293-017-0150-x
- Whidden, L., Martel, J., Rahimi, S., Chaillet, R., Chan, D., & Trasler, J. M. (2016).
 Compromised oocyte quality and assisted reproduction contribute to sex-specific effects on offspring outcomes and epigenetic patterning. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 25(21).
 https://doi.org/10.1093/HMG/DDW293
- Whitacre, C. C., Reingold, S. C., O'Looney, P. A., Blankenhorn, E., Brinley, F., Collier, E., Duquette, P., Fox, H., Giesser, B., Gilmore, W., Lahita, R., Lee Nelson, J., Reiss, C., Riskind, P., & Voskuhl, R. (1999). Biomedicine: A gender gap in autoimmunity. In *Science* (Vol. 283, Issue 5406, pp. 1277–1278). Science. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.283.5406.1277
- Wiench, M., John, S., Baek, S., Johnson, T. A., Sung, M. H., Escobar, T., Simmons, C. A., Pearce, K. H., Biddie, S. C., Sabo, P. J., Thurman, R. E., Stamatoyannopoulos, J. A., & Hager, G. L. (2011). DNA methylation status predicts cell type-specific enhancer activity. *EMBO Journal*, 30(15), 3028–3039. https://doi.org/10.1038/emboj.2011.210
- Wigler, M., Levy, D., & Perucho, M. (1981). The somatic replication of DNA methylation. *Cell*, 24(1), 33–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(81)90498-0
- Wijchers, P. J., Yandim, C., Panousopoulou, E., Ahmad, M., Harker, N., Saveliev, A.,

Burgoyne, P. S., & Festenstein, R. (2010). Sexual dimorphism in mammalian autosomal gene regulation is determined not only by sry but by sex chromosome complement as well. *Developmental Cell*, *19*(3), 477–484. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2010.08.005

- Wolbold, R., Klein, K., Burk, O., Nüssler, A. K., Neuhaus, P., Eichelbaum, M., Schwab, M., & Zanger, U. M. (2003). Sex is a major determinant of CYP3A4 expression in human liver. *Hepatology*, *38*(4), 978–988. https://doi.org/10.1053/jhep.2003.50393
- Wolfe, F., Ross, K., Anderson, J., & Russell, I. J. (1995). Aspects of fibromyalgia in the general population: Sex, pain threshold, and fibromyalgia symptoms. *Journal of Rheumatology*, 22(1), 151–156. https://europepmc.org/article/med/7699662
- Worda, C., Sator, M. O., Schneeberger, C., Jantschev, T., Ferlitsch, K., & Huber, J. C. (2003). Influence of the catechol-O-methyltransferase (COMT) codon 158 polymorphism on estrogen levels in women. *Human Reproduction*, 18(2), 262–266. https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/deg059
- Wossidlo, M., Nakamura, T., Lepikhov, K., Marques, C. J., Zakhartchenko, V., Boiani, M., Arand, J., Nakano, T., Reik, W., & Walter, J. (2011). 5-Hydroxymethylcytosine in the mammalian zygote is linked with epigenetic reprogramming. *Nature Communications*, 2(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms1240
- Wu, J. C., & Santi, D. V. (1985). On the mechanism and inhibition of DNA cytosine methyltransferases. *Progress in Clinical and Biological Research*, 198, 119–129. https://europepmc.org/article/med/4070306
- Wu, J. C., & Santi, D. V. (1987). Kinetic and catalytic mechanism of HhaI methyltransferase. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 262(10), 4778–4786. https://pubmed-ncbi-nlm-nihgov.proxy3.library.mcgill.ca/3558369/
- Yang, L., & Li, Y. (2012). Sex Differences in the Expression of Drug-Metabolizing and Transporter Genes in Human Liver. *Journal of Drug Metabolism & Toxicology*, 3(3). https://doi.org/10.4172/2157-7609.1000119
- Yang, X., Schadt, E. E., Wang, S., Wang, H., Arnold, A. P., Ingram-Drake, L., Drake, T. A., & Lusis, A. J. (2006). Tissue-specific expression and regulation of sexually dimorphic genes in mice. *Genome Research*, *16*(8), 995–1004. https://doi.org/10.1101/gr.5217506

Yao, H. H. C., Matzuk, M. M., Jorgez, C. J., Menke, D. B., Page, D. C., Swain, A., & Capel,

B. (2004). Follistatin operates downstream of Wnt4 in mammalian ovary organogenesis. *Developmental Dynamics*, *230*(2), 210–215. https://doi.org/10.1002/dvdy.20042

- Yaşar, P., Ayaz, G., User, S. D., Güpür, G., & Muyan, M. (2017). Molecular mechanism of estrogen–estrogen receptor signaling. In *Reproductive Medicine and Biology* (Vol. 16, Issue 1, pp. 4–20). John Wiley and Sons Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1002/rmb2.12006
- Yeh, S., Tsai, M. Y., Xu, Q., Mu, X. M., Lardy, H., Huang, K. E., Lin, H., Yeh, S. Der, Altuwaijri, S., Zhou, X., Xing, L., Boyce, B. F., Hung, M. C., Zhang, S., Gan, L., & Chang, C. (2002). Generation and characterization of androgen receptor knockout (ARKO) mice: An in vivo model for the study of androgen functions in selective tissues. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 99(21), 13498–13503. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.212474399
- Yu, Y., Chen, J., Li, D., Wang, L., Wang, W., & Liu, H. (2016). Systematic Analysis of Adverse Event Reports for Sex Differences in Adverse Drug Events. *Scientific Reports*, 6. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep24955
- Yue, F., Cheng, Y., Breschi, A., Vierstra, J., Wu, W., Ryba, T., Sandstrom, R., Ma, Z., Davis, C., Pope, B. D., Shen, Y., Pervouchine, D. D., Djebali, S., Thurman, R. E., Kaul, R., Rynes, E., Kirilusha, A., Marinov, G. K., Williams, B. A., ... Ren, B. (2014). A comparative encyclopedia of DNA elements in the mouse genome. *Nature*, *515*(7527), 355–364. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature13992
- Zammit, V. A. (2002). Insulin stimulation of hepatic triacylglycerol secretion in the insulinreplete state: Implications for the etiology of peripheral insulin resistance. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 967, 52–65. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.2002.tb04263.x
- Zanger, U. M., & Schwab, M. (2013). Cytochrome P450 enzymes in drug metabolism: Regulation of gene expression, enzyme activities, and impact of genetic variation. In *Pharmacology and Therapeutics* (Vol. 138, Issue 1, pp. 103–141). Pharmacol Ther. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pharmthera.2012.12.007
- Zemach, A., McDaniel, I. E., Silva, P., & Zilberman, D. (2010). Genome-wide evolutionary analysis of eukaryotic DNA methylation. *Science*, 328(5980), 916–919. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1186366

- Zhang, X., Hong, D., Ma, S., Ward, T., Ho, M., Pattni, R., Duren, Z., Stankov, A., Shrestha, S. B., Hallmayer, J., Wong, W. H., Reiss, A. L., & Urban, A. E. (2020). Integrated functional genomic analyses of Klinefelter and Turner syndromes reveal global network effects of altered X chromosome dosage. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *117*(9), 4864–4873. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1910003117
- Zhang, Y., Klein, K., Sugathan, A., Nassery, N., Dombkowski, A., Zanger, U. M., & Waxman, D. J. (2011). Transcriptional profiling of human liver identifies sex-biased genes associated with polygenic dyslipidemia and coronary artery disease. *PLoS ONE*, 6(8). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0023506
- Zheng, D., Wang, X., Antonson, P., Gustafsson, J. Å., & Li, Z. (2018). Genomics of sex hormone receptor signaling in hepatic sexual dimorphism. *Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology*, 471, 33–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mce.2017.05.025
- Zhu, J., He, F., Hu, S., & Yu, J. (2008). On the nature of human housekeeping genes. In *Trends in Genetics* (Vol. 24, Issue 10, pp. 481–484). Trends Genet. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tig.2008.08.004
- Zhu, T., Brown, A. P., & Ji, H. (2020). The Emerging Role of Ten-Eleven Translocation 1 in Epigenetic Responses to Environmental Exposures. In *Epigenetics Insights* (Vol. 13).
 SAGE Publications Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1177/2516865720910155
- Zhuang, Q. K. W., Galvez, J. H., Xiao, Q., AlOgayil, N., Hyacinthe, J., Taketo, T., Bourque, G., & Naumova, A. K. (2020). Sex Chromosomes and Sex Phenotype Contribute to Biased DNA Methylation in Mouse Liver. *Cells*, 9(6). https://doi.org/10.3390/cells9061436
- Ziller, M. J., Müller, F., Liao, J., Zhang, Y., Gu, H., Bock, C., Boyle, P., Epstein, C. B., Bernstein, B. E., Lengauer, T., Gnirke, A., & Meissner, A. (2011). Genomic distribution and Inter-Sample variation of Non-CpG methylation across human cell types. *PLoS Genetics*, 7(12). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1002389
- Zimmerman, M. A., Budish, R. A., Kashyap, S., & Lindsey, S. H. (2016). GPER Novel membrane oestrogen receptor. In *Clinical Science* (Vol. 130, Issue 12, pp. 1005–1016). Portland Press Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1042/CS20160114

- Zimmermann, S., Steding, G., Emmen, J. M. A., Brinkmann, A. O., Nayernia, K., Holstein, A. F., Engel, W., & Adham, I. M. (1999). Targeted disruption of the Insl3 gene causes bilateral cryptorchidism. *Molecular Endocrinology*, *13*(5), 681–691. https://doi.org/10.1210/mend.13.5.0272
- Zitzmann, M., Bongers, R., Werler, S., Bogdanova, N., Wistuba, J., Kliesch, S., Gromoll, J., & Tüttelmann, F. (2015). Gene expression patterns in relation to the clinical phenotype in Klinefelter syndrome. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, *100*(3), E518–E523. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2014-2780
- Zopf, Y., Rabe, C., Neubert, A., Gaßmann, K. G., Rascher, W., Hahn, E. G., Brune, K., & Dormann, H. (2008). Women encounter ADRs more often than do men. *European Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 64(10), 999–1004. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00228-008-0494-6

Appendix



Figure S1. SDMRs associated with sDEGs.

All tracks are shown in the context of the UCSC genome browser (mm10). The 'Pyrosequencing sDMR' track shows the sDMR used for pyrosequencing methylation analysis. The 'XX.F vs XY.M' and 'XY.F vs XY.M' tracks show the locations of sDMRs based on WGBS data from (Zhuang 2020). **A.** Male-biased sDMRs. **B.** Female-biased sDMRs.



November 19, 2020

Animal Certificate

This is to certify that **Dr. Anna K. Naoumova, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, (RI MUHC) Glen site,** currently holds an approved **Animal Use Protocol** # 2001-4037 with McGill University and its Affiliated Hospital's Research Institutes for the following project:

Animal Use Protocol Title: Sexual dimorphism in the mammalian epigenome

Start date: November 1, 2020

Expiration date: October 31, 2021

McGill University and Affiliated Hospitals Research Institutes recognize the importance of animal research in our efforts to further our knowledge of natural processes, diseases and conservation. Research, educational and testing projects are conducted with full commitment to the wellbeing of the animal subjects. In order to limit animal use to meritorious research or educational projects, the institution relies on stringent peer review processes, along with assessment of ethical issues by the Animal Care Committee. McGill University recognizes that the use of animals in research, teaching and testing carries significant responsibilities. The institution will continue to develop and maintain guidelines and regulations, following the high standards established by the Canadian Council on Animal Care. It is committed to conducting the highest-quality research and to providing animals with the best care.

Canstral lavae

Cynthia Lavoie Animal Ethics and Compliance Administrator Animal Compliance Office Office of Vice-Principal (Research and Innovation) Suite 325, James Administration Building, McGill University 845 Sherbrooke Street West, Montreal, Quebec, Canada H3A 0G4 animal.approvals@mcgill.ca

McGill University Environmental Health and Safety

Room 426, McTavish 3610 Montreal, Quebec H3A 1Y2

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT

Najla Alogayil

Department of Human Genetics SUCCESSFULLY COMPLETED CORE TRAINING IN Introduction to Biosafety

ON 07-Mar-19

Joseph Vincelli

Joseph Vincelli EHS Operations Manager Valid Until Sunday, March 06, 2022

Wayne Wood Director, EHS



This is to certify

Najla Alogayil

Has completed the following workshop courses at the Research Institute of the McGill University Health Center (RI-MUHC):

Mouse Module 1 On August 13, 2019

Techniques successfully completed: Handling/Restraint Isoflurane/CO2 euthanasia Cardiac Puncture (blood collection) under anesthesia Cervical Dislocation under anesthesia Decapitation under anesthesia Pneumothorax Mouse Neonate Decapitation without Anesthesia

> Melanie Houston RI-MUHC Training Coordinator